NEUROBIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS LINKING STRESS AND NICOTINE TO

INCREASED ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION

Alyse M. Thomas

A DISSERTATION

in

Neuroscience

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2017

Supervisor of Dissertation

John Dani, Ph.D.

Professor of Neuroscience

Graduate Group Chairperson

Joshua I. Gold, Ph.D.

Professor of Neuroscience

Dissertation Committee:

R. Christopher Pierce, Ph.D., Professor of Neuroscience in Psychiatry (Chair)

Julie Blendy, Ph.D., Professor of Pharmacology

Marc Fuccillo, Ph.D., Assistant Professor of Neuroscience

Caryn Lerman, Ph.D., Professor of Psychiatry

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

"No one can whistle a symphony. It takes an orchestra to play it."

- H.E. Luccock

I am humbled to acknowledge the support I received from my mentor, colleagues, family and friends throughout graduate school. My mentor Dr. John Dani stands out for his overwhelmingly positive influence on my personal and professional development. As a role model and friend, he guided me through numerous challenging situations. Perhaps his greatest strength, Dr. Dani leads by example. He motivates hard work in others through his own enthusiasm for scientific research. He taught me to strive for greatness, enjoy the process, and celebrate small successes along the way. Looking forward, I intend to emulate these traits as a successful team leader.

Two colleagues in the lab, Dr. William Doyon and Dr. Alexey Ostroumov, fulfilled the roles of mentors as well as collaborators. Scientific research benefits from close collaboration, and I consider our team effort to be a great achievement. Dr. Doyon recruited me to the Dani lab and taught me firsthand how to conduct surgery, microdialysis and operant self-administration experiments. More importantly, he instilled patience with the pace of science. As described by Robert Pirsig in *Zen and the Art of Motorcycle Maintenance,* Dr. Doyon embodies the concept of "right mind producing right actions," and this approach yields extremely high-quality data. In a similar vein, Dr. Ostroumov carries himself with unmatched focus and vigor. His ability to carry out and explain complex electrophysiological experiments has transformed my understanding of the brain. Throughout our collaboration, Dr. Doyon and Ostroumov have been drivers of productivity

and intellectual engagement. Our work complements each other, bringing merit to our respective discoveries. Reflecting our successful dynamic in the lab, the three of us readily swap the role of teacher, student, critic and motivator as needed. I am grateful for the opportunity to conduct research alongside such impressive individuals.

Other lab members, colleagues, and friends have provided additional support to my efforts. Splitting my time in graduate school between two different universities, I consequently have twice as many people to thank. I sincerely appreciate the critical feedback I received from past and present thesis committee members. Their insights encouraged my transition to a more independent scientist. In addition, the graduate programs at both institutions were extremely receptive to student needs, providing excellent extracurricular opportunities for individual development. From the beginning, I formed close bonds with my classmates and together we overcame the hurdles of coursework, qualifying exams, experimental failures, committee meetings, manuscript rejections, and thesis writing. My fellow graduate students inspire hope of a bright future.

Outside of work, my closest friends and family laid a foundation for success. At many points in graduate school, their reassurance was necessary to combat self-doubt. They are a constant reminder that nothing must be endured alone. On the contrary, decoding consciousness, cross-country driving, dancing, and political activism all benefit immensely from the company of close friends. While it is fun to whistle alone, it is far more compelling when the collective symphony makes itself heard. Thank you to everyone who participated.

ABSTRACT

NEUROBIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS LINKING STRESS AND NICOTINE TO INCREASED ALCOHOL CONSUMPTION

Alyse M. Thomas

John Dani, Ph.D.

Alcohol use is a leading cause of preventable disease, disability and death worldwide. Among other factors, exposure to stress or nicotine promotes drinking in humans, yet the neurobiological mechanisms mediating these interactions are unknown. Decades of research indicate that alcohol, stress hormones and nicotine act within the mesolimbic dopamine system to promote behavioral reinforcement. Based off this literature, the central hypothesis guiding my dissertation was that exposure to stress or nicotine promoted drinking via adaptations within ventral tegmental area (VTA).

The findings presented in the second chapter of my thesis describe a novel adaptation within the mesolimbic dopamine system contributing to increased alcohol self-administration. Exposure to stress blunted subsequent dopamine responses to alcohol and increased alcohol consumption via VTA stress hormone receptors. These adaptations arose from excitatory GABA transmission onto VTA GABA neurons. Further investigation revealed that excitatory shifts in GABA transmission were associated with the downregulation of the chloride transporter KCC2. Pharmacological enhancement of KCC2 function within the VTA prevented stress-induced drinking, identifying a novel mechanism of stress-induced alcohol consumption.

The results in the third and fourth chapters reveal that similar adaptations within the VTA may also contribute to the co-use of nicotine and alcohol. As was observed after stress,

exposure to acute nicotine blunted dopamine responses to alcohol and increased alcohol self-administration. Blocking glucocorticoid receptors during nicotine normalized the dopamine signaling and drinking to control levels, indicating that nicotine recruits stress hormone receptors to influence subsequent responses to alcohol.

The fourth chapter examines the effects of adolescent nicotine exposure on adult responses to alcohol, since early-life tobacco use confers a major risk for subsequent alcohol abuse. Animals treated with nicotine during adolescence show attenuated dopamine signaling and increased self-administration throughout adulthood. Pharmacological enhancement of KCC2 in adulthood prevented the elevated alcohol intake, highlighting a potential therapeutic role of this drug to reduce alcohol consumption long after the initial nicotine exposure. Taken together, this body of work suggests that exposure to stress or nicotine boosts drinking via anionic plasticity mechanisms within the VTA and implicates KCC2 activation as a potential therapeutic target in the treatment of excessive alcohol consumption.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	ii
ABSTRACT	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
CHAPTER 1	1
The Prevalence and Burden of Alcohol Consumption	1
Stress and Alcohol Consumption	3
Tobacco and Alcohol Consumption	5
Modeling Alcohol Consumption in Rodents	7
Neurobiological Effects of Stress, Nicotine, and Alcohol	12
The Mesolimibic Dopamine System: A Locus for Interactions	15
Summary	23
Figures.	25
CHAPTER 2	26
Author Contributions	27
Abstract	28
Introduction	29
Experimental Procedures	31
Results	41
Discussion	48
Figures	52
CHAPTER 3	64
Author Contributions	65
Abstract	66
Introduction	67
Experimental Procedures	69
Results	73
Discussion	77
Figures	79

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 4	82
Author Contributions	83
Abstract	84
Introduction	85
Experimental Procedures	88
Results	92
Discussion	97
Figures	100
CHAPTER 5	105
Overview	105
KCC2 as a Novel Regulator of Mesolimbic Activity	107
Vulnerability to Nicotine during Adolescence Error! Bookmark r	not defined.
Ethanol Reinforcement and the Mesolimbic Dopamine System	109
Glucocorticoid receptor influence over KCC2	112
Concluding Remarks	114
APPENDIX	116
Accumbal Cannulation and Catheterization Surgery Protocol	116
Microdialysis Probe Protocol	119
Microdialysis Protocol	123
Mobile Phase Recipe	124
BIBLIOGRAPHY	125

LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1 – Stress and Alcohol Consumption: A General Introduction

1.1 Simplified schematic of the mesocorticolimbic reward circuitry

Chapter 2 – Stress Increases Ethanol Self-Administration via a Shift toward

Excitatory GABA Signaling in the Ventral Tegmental Area

- 2.1 Stress increases ethanol self-administration
- 2.2 Stress increases ethanol self-administration via glucocorticoid receptor activation
- 2.3 VTA microinfusion sites
- 2.4 Stress attenuates ethanol-induced accumbal DA release in vivo.
- 2.5 Microdialysis probe locations in the nucleus accumbens.
- 2.6 Stress and corticosterone increase GABA release onto DA neurons ex vivo.
- 2.7 Stress promotes GABA-mediated excitation of GABA neurons ex vivo.
- 2.8 Stress requires excitatory GABA shifts to attenuate ethanol-induced DA release and

increase ethanol self-administration in vivo

- 2.9 Microinfusions of acetazolamide into the VTA.
- 2.10 KCC2 expression is downregulated after stress and restricted to non-DA neurons.
- 2.11 KCC2 activation in the VTA prevents stress-induced alcohol consumption.
- 2.12 CLP290 microinfusion sites

Chapter 3 – Nicotine Decreases Ethanol-induced Dopamine Signaling and

Increases Self-administration via Stress Hormones

3.1 Nicotine pretreatment attenuates ethanol-induced DA release and increases ethanol self-administration

3.2 Administration of nicotine increases plasma corticosterone levels

3.3 Nicotine requires glucocorticoid signaling to alter ethanol-induced DA release and ethanol self-administration

Chapter 4 – Adolescent Nicotine Decreases Ethanol-induced Dopamine Signaling and Increases Self-administration in Adulthood via KCC2

- 4.1 Adolescent nicotine increases ethanol self-administration
- 4.2 Adult nicotine does not influence subsequent ethanol self-administration
- 4.3 Adolescent nicotine attenuates dopamine responses to ethanol in vivo
- 4.4 Adolescent nicotine alters GABA transmission and anion homeostasis ex vivo
- 4.5 Enhancing chloride extrusion in the VTA prevents elevated intake after adolescent nicotine exposure

CHAPTER 1

STRESS, NICOTINE AND ALCOHOL USE: A GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Alyse M. Thomas

"Not all addictions are rooted in abuse or trauma, but I do believe they can all be traced to painful experience. A hurt is at the center of all addictive behaviors. It is present in the gambler, the Internet addict, the compulsive shopper and the workaholic. The wound may not be as deep and the ache not as excruciating, and it may even be entirely hidden—but it is there. As we'll see, the effects of early stress or adverse experiences directly shape both the psychology and the neurobiology of addiction in the brain."

-Dr. Gabor Maté, In the Realm of Hungry Ghosts (2010)

The Prevalence and Burden of Alcohol Consumption

Alcohol consumption is common across many cultures worldwide, with 38 percent of the global adult population consuming an alcoholic beverage in the past year (WHO, 2014). Drinking is nearly twice as prevalent in the United States, with 71 percent of adults consuming alcohol in the past year (SAMHSA, 2015). Several societal factors contribute to the prevalence of alcohol use in the United States, including economic prosperity, widespread drug availability and general social acceptance (WHO, 2014). From annual celebrations to weekly sporting events, drinking defines many aspects of American culture. For example, 93 percent of popular American movies and 71 percent of regular TV programming portrayed alcohol consumption (Roberts, 1999; Christensen, 2000).

Recent studies examining social media reveal that 85 percent of Facebook profiles make reference to alcohol (Egan & Moreno, 2011). Of 11 million drinking-related tweets recorded during a single month, 79 percent portray alcohol use in a positive light (Cavazos-Rehg *et al.*, 2015).

Despite its popularity, many people misuse alcohol and experience negative consequences. Among individuals aged 15-49, alcohol misuse is the leading cause of premature disability and death, taking the lives of 3.3 million people around the globe (WHO, 2014). Drinking excessively is a common form of alcohol misuse. Nearly a quarter of American adults report binge drinking within the last month, defined as having 4-5 drinks within a two-hour period (SAMHSA, 2015). This level of intoxication is associated with compromised decision-making and impaired motor function, posing risk self and others. It follows that binge-drinking accounts for 75 percent of costs (186 billion dollars) related to alcohol misuse, including loss of productivity, motor vehicle accidents, criminal justice, and health care (Sacks *et al.*, 2015).

In addition to binge consumption, alcohol misuse can refer to excessive intake over longer timescales. Approximately 7 percent of the adult population reported heavy drinking over the past month, defined as 8-15 drinks per week (SAMHSA, 2015). The combination of binge and heavy drinking (i.e. risky drinking) predisposes an individual to alcohol-related harm and disease (NIAAA, 2010). While alcohol is entirely attributable for conditions like fetal alcohol syndrome, it is also a known risk factor for hundreds of other conditions such as liver cirrhosis, cardiovascular disease, sleep disorders, depression, cancer, and epilepsy (NIAAA, 2010; WHO, 2014). Worldwide, approximately 139 million disability-adjusted life years are lost in the form premature death or living with an alcohol-associated disease (WHO 2014).

Another major risk associated with excessive alcohol consumption is the development of alcohol use disorders (AUDs), which are characterized by the compulsive desire to consume alcohol despite negative consequences (NIAAA, 2010). Addicted individuals enter a persistent cycle of drug use, leading to the progressive development of drug tolerance, withdrawal, and dependence (Koob & Le Moal, 1997). Alcohol addiction ultimately imparts a diminished quality of life, including interpersonal strain, poor health, and a loss of productivity in the workplace (Donovan *et al.*, 2005). Reflecting the persistency of this struggle, AUDs encompass 25 percent of the alcohol-attributable disease burden compared to only 4 percent of alcohol-attributable deaths (WHO, 2014; Grant *et al.*, 2015). Importantly, one-third of Americans develop an AUD during their lifetime, revealing a major national public health concern (Grant *et al.*, 2015). The widespread prevalence and burden of excessive alcohol consumption has prompted broad research efforts towards identifying effective prevention and treatment strategies.

Stress and Alcohol Consumption

In an effort to mitigate the burden of alcohol on society, it is necessary to first identify the risk factors associated with alcohol misuse. Decades of research reveal complex interactions between environmental conditions and individual predisposition, with no single known cause of alcoholism. However, many prominent theories of addiction argue that exposure to stress can trigger pathological alcohol use (Conger, 1956; Cappell & Herman, 1972; Critchlow, 1986; Koob & Le Moal, 1997; Sinha, 2008).

The corresponding epidemiological literature suggests a positive correlation exists between exposure to stress and alcohol use, but differences have been reported (Keyes *et al.*, 2011). Differences in the effect of prior stress on subsequent alcohol consumption

likely arise from the complexity of stress-alcohol interactions, as well as aspects of study design. Variables to consider across studies include the type of stressor measured, type of questionnaire use, history of alcohol intake, size/diversity of the population under investigation, and the temporal structure of the study (cross-sectional vs. longitudinal). In general terms, stress refers to any external stimuli perceived as threatening or harmful and often elicits a negative impact or outcome (Sinha, 2001; 2008). Stressful stimuli vary across dimensions of severity, chronicity, expectedness, and consequence to mental health (Keyes *et al.*, 2011). Examples of more commonly experienced, less-severe life stressors that negatively influence adult mental health include financial/legal crisis, workplace tension, and interpersonal conflict. Relevant to the experiments presented in this thesis, even common, acute stressors experienced in adulthood have been shown promote alcohol misuse (San Jose *et al.*, 2000; Dawson *et al.*, 2005).

Comparison across populations, communities, and individuals provides further insight into the relationship between general life stressors and alcohol consumption. Larger-scale studies are critical to detect the prevalence of this interaction across the general population. Though few in number, results from these representative cohorts confirm a positive correlation between increasing number of stressors and heavy drinking over the past 6 months (San Jose *et al.*, 2000) or 12 months (Dawson *et al.*, 2005). The National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC) found that individuals who experienced six or more stressful events tripled their average daily alcohol intake when compared to a non-stressed cohort with similar drinking patterns (Dawson *et al.*, 2005).

Community samples of adults also report positive correlations between stressful life events and elevated alcohol consumption (Cole *et al.*, 1990; King *et al.*, 2003). Follow-up

diary studies with the same individuals reveal more specifically that negative work and non-work events predict same day increases in alcohol consumption (Carney *et al.*, 2000). Not all communities are equally vulnerable, however. Longitudinal studies examining older adults did not correlate acute stressful life events with increased alcohol consumption (Skaff *et al.*, 1999). This result could be explained by overall reductions in alcohol consumption amongst elderly populations (Skaff *et al.*, 1999). Thus, variation in this relationship exists across different subpopulations.

At the individual level, the vulnerability to stress-induced drinking can be influenced by age, sex, race, and personal coping strategies. For example, males report drinking more after stressful experiences than females (San Jose *et al.*, 2000; Dawson *et al.*, 2005) and demonstrate higher rates of AUDs (WHO, 2014). However, females still report alcohol misuse after stressful experiences (Kilpatrick *et al.*, 1997). In addition to sex differences, stress associated with perceived discrimination correlates with more severe alcohol outcomes (McCabe *et al.*, 2010; McLaughlin *et al.*, 2010; Yoo *et al.*, 2010). Across all social subgroups, individual coping strategies can promote pathological drug use. People who report drinking to cope with distress often develop solitary drinking practices (Smith *et al.*, 1993) and engage in abusive drinking over social drinking (Abbey *et al.*, 1993; Moos *et al.*, 2010). Integration of this literature sheds light on the complex personal and environmental conditions that may render an individual vulnerable to stress-induced alcohol consumption and confirms the pervasive nature of this interaction.

Tobacco and Alcohol Consumption

Like stress, tobacco use is associated with increased alcohol consumption (Carmody *et al.*, 1985; Batel *et al.*, 1995; Barrett *et al.*, 2006). Smoking cigarettes is highly addictive,

claiming more users that show clinical symptoms for drug dependence than any other drug (Anthony & Echeagaray-Wagner, 2000). Factors such as genetic vulnerability, drug availability, social demographics, and age at first exposure influence the propensity to use tobacco and alcohol (Schorling *et al.*, 1994; Bobo & Husten, 2000; Weitzman & Chen, 2005; McKee *et al.*, 2007). Despite this complexity, epidemiological studies consistently show a positive correlation between tobacco and alcohol use (Schorling *et al.*, 1994; Bobo & Husten, 2000; Weitzman & Chen, 2005; McKee *et al.*, 2007). Amongst adults that consume alcohol, 37 percent also smoke cigarettes (Bobo & Husten, 2000). Smokers consume nearly twice as much alcohol as nonsmokers, highlighting a significant dose-response relationship (Carmody *et al.*, 1985).

Tobacco users are also more likely to misuse alcohol and experience alcohol-related harm (DiFranza & Guerrera, 1990; Kozlowski & Ferrence, 1990; Grant *et al.*, 2004; Larsson & Engel, 2004). The combined use of these drugs generates overlapping risk for the development of diseases like cancer and AUDs (Miller & Gold, 1998). Over 83% of alcoholics smoke cigarettes and alcoholism is approximately 10 times more prevalent in smokers than in non-smokers (DiFranza & Guerrera, 1990). In clinical terms, smoking is sufficiently predictive of alcoholism to warrant a screen for assessment of drinking patterns (Kozlowski & Ferrence, 1990). Thus, there are major health risks associated with the co-use of tobacco and alcohol.

Accumulating evidence suggests that the comorbidity of tobacco and alcohol use may originate in adolescence (Cross *et al.*, 2017). Tobacco is often the first drug used by young people (Fleming *et al.*, 1989; Grant, 1998) and 84 percent of smokers have their first cigarette before the age of 18 (Yuan *et al.*, 2015; Richter *et al.*, 2017). Thus, adolescence represents a unique period of vulnerability for smoking habit initiation. Young smokers are

more likely to be heavier drinkers throughout adolescence and adulthood (Harrison & McKee, 2008). Further, individuals that experiment with tobacco at any point are twice as likely to develop an alcohol use disorder compared to never smokers (Grucza & Bierut, 2006). For this reason, adolescent tobacco use is hypothesized to serve as a gateway drug, acting to promote excessive alcohol use later in life (Torabi *et al.*, 1993; Parra-Medina *et al.*, 1995; Lai *et al.*, 2000; Chen *et al.*, 2002; Degenhardt *et al.*, 2010; Kandel & Kandel, 2015; Cross *et al.*, 2017). Gateway theories primarily function to identify life exposures preceding pathological drug use; however, the compelling epidemiology linking alcohol abuse with prior exposure to stress or tobacco has motivated laboratory research into the causal mechanisms underlying these interactions.

Modeling Alcohol Consumption in Rodents

Due to the correlative nature of epidemiological surveys, it is necessary to carry out causal experiments under controlled laboratory conditions. The most rigorous animal model used to study the effect of stress or nicotine on alcohol intake is operant self-administration, where animals are required to press a lever in order to gain limited access to an alcohol drinking solution. This model of drug use possesses high face validity to the human condition and draws upon associative learning mechanisms inherent to operant conditioning (Panlilio & Goldberg, 2007). That is, drugs of abuse reinforce the behavior associated with their delivery by strengthening associative learning in the brain (Everitt & Robbins, 2005; Sanchis-Segura & Spanagel, 2006). Recording lever presses and the corresponding alcohol consumption thus provides a quantitative approach for studying the mechanisms of behavioral reinforcement.

The development of operant alcohol self-administration in rodents generally involves two phases of behavior: the acquisition phase and the maintenance phase (46 Lynch et al 2010). The acquisition phase refers to the initial alcohol exposure period when the patterns and preference of alcohol intake are first established. In an effort to minimize aversive taste and stimulus properties, alcohol is gradually introduced (or faded) into a sweetened, non-caloric drinking solution like saccharin (Samson, 1986; Boyle *et al.*, 1994). Animals quickly adjust their intake to the taste and sensory cues of the drinking solution. After this fading procedure is complete and intake levels stabilize, animals transition to the maintenance phase of self-administration. In addition to acquisition and maintenance, operant self-administration enables investigation into other drug-related behaviors, such as extinction and relapse (Le *et al.*, 2000b; Funk *et al.*, 2014).

Effects of Stress on Alcohol Self-Administration

For the purposes of *in vivo* research, stress refers to any stimulus that perturbs normal homeostasis (Selye, 1950) and promotes the secretion of stress hormones (Herman & Cullinan, 1997). Rodent models of stress-induced drinking show mixed behavioral results and likely reflect differences in experimental design, heterogeneous responses to stress, and limited mechanistic insight (Becker *et al.*, 2011). There are an array of acute and subchronic stressors used in experimental research, including foot shock, restraint stress, forced swim test, social defeat, and social isolation. In addition, experience with alcohol consumption prior to stress exposure varies greatly across studies. Differences are also noted between rodent strains, with Long-Evans rats more consistently showing stress-induced drinking than Sprague-Dawley rats for a given stressor (Casey, 1960; Myers & Cicero, 1969; Mills *et al.*, 1977; Mills & Bean, 1978; Brunell & Spear, 2005).

Within-subject variability at baseline and in response to stress could also contribute to equivocal behavioral results. For example, Long-Evans rats show wide variability in their basal saccharin preference during operant self-administration (Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). Since alcohol is often faded into a sweetened solution for operant self-administration studies, differences in basal saccharin preference could confound the readout of alcohol intake. In addition, efforts to minimize environmental stress in controls presents a constant challenge for animal research, yet it is critical to ensure homogenous, non-stressed rodent populations at the onset of these studies. Finally, rodents can differ in their response to the same stressor (Pfau & Russo, 2015). For example, only a subset of rodents subjected to social defeat show susceptibility to subsequent social aversion and anxiety (Golden *et al.*, 2011). Reflecting divergent stress responses in the context of alcohol consumption, recent studies confirm that isolating stress-sensitive populations more reliably leads to increases in subsequent alcohol consumption (Edwards *et al.*, 2013).

Explicitly addressing these experimental considerations and taking efforts to minimize within-subject variability for a given stressor paradigm is thus critical to the consistency and reproducibility of stress-alcohol studies. In addition to these experimental considerations, it remains unknown how stressful experiences alter neurobiological alcohol responses in drug-naïve rodents. Given the prominent contribution of stress to the development of dependence, withdrawal, and relapse (Le *et al.*, 2000b; Funk *et al.*, 2014), these stress-related neuroadaptations are of high interest to the alcohol field.

Effects on Nicotine on Alcohol Self-administration

In order to examine effects of tobacco on alcohol consumption, animals are either passively exposed or actively self-administer nicotine, the main psychoactive component in tobacco smoke. Passive administration offers enhanced precision with drug dosing whereas active administration offers greater insight into individual preference (Matta *et al.*, 2007). In rodent behavioral experiments, the reinforcing effects of nicotine exhibit an inverted U-shaped dose–response curve upon peripheral injection (Iyaniwura *et al.*, 2001; Picciotto, 2003), reaching maximal brain concentrations approximately 15 min post-injection (Turner, 1975). Due to rapid drug metabolism in rats ($t_{1/2}$ = 45 min) compared to humans ($t_{1/2}$ = 2 h), larger doses are often used in rodent models (Matta *et al.*, 2007).

Rodent models show that exposure to nicotine can increase subsequent alcohol selfadministration. Differences between studies include nicotine administration route, chronicity of exposure, age upon exposure, and the phase of drinking under consideration. Several studies have examined alcohol intake in response to proximal nicotine exposure (Dyr *et al.*, 1999; Nadal & Samson, 1999; Le *et al.*, 2000a; Sharpe & Samson, 2002; Le *et al.*, 2003; Bito-Onon *et al.*, 2011). In these studies, the nicotine was injected prior to daily alcohol self-administration sessions. Overall, the evidence indicates that nicotine treatment can increase alcohol self-administration. For example, three different groups have shown that moderate to high doses of nicotine (0.2–0.8 mg/kg) increase operant responding and alcohol intake in three different rat strains (Le *et al.*, 2000a; Le *et al.*, 2003; Bito-Onon *et al.*, 2011; Leao *et al.*, 2015).

However, a few studies have also reported that repeated nicotine exposure decreases alcohol intake or has no effect on it (Nadal & Samson, 1999; Sharpe & Samson, 2002). If there were methodological differences between studies, it is not clear which one specifically contributed to these results. The studies employed comparable rat strains and nicotine doses, and the nicotine pretreatment was administered at a similar time (15–30 min) prior to the alcohol self-administration session. One possibility is that increases in alcohol intake after nicotine pretreatment might require longer self-administration sessions

to observe the increased consumption (Ahmed & Koob, 1999; Le, 2002). Most studies that report increased alcohol intake used 60-min self-administration sessions, whereas the studies by Samson and colleagues used 30-min sessions. In addition, differences in the schedule of reinforcement (fixed-ratio vs. response requirement) could also factor into these results. In summary, under certain conditions, repeated daily nicotine pretreatment can increase alcohol self-administration, but more work is needed to understand the basis for some discrepancies in the literature.

In contrast to adulthood, adolescent nicotine exposure has longer-lasting influences on subsequent alcohol self-administration (Kemppainen *et al.*, 2009; Larraga *et al.*, 2017). Adolescent rats exposed to nicotine or nicotine plus alcohol (but not alcohol alone) showed significantly higher alcohol intake as adults (Larraga *et al.*, 2017). Continuous periadolescent exposure, on the other hand, did not show similar elevations in consumption (Smith *et al.*, 2002). In a separate study, animals treated with nicotine during adolescence showed sensitization to nicotine-induced drinking upon nicotine re-exposure as adults (Kemppainen *et al.*, 2009). Behavioral studies examining nicotine-alcohol interactions thus provide evidence in favor of nicotine exposure, particularly during adolescence, influencing subsequent responses to alcohol. Though underlying mechanisms mediating this interaction have yet to be determined, altered alcohol self-administration likely arises from neural adaptations induced by nicotine or stress hormones.

Neurobiological Effects of Stress, Nicotine, and Alcohol

Influence of Alcohol on Brain Function

The behavioral responses to alcohol arise from its cellular and molecular actions in the brain. In pharmacological terms, alcohol (ethanol) is considered a "dirty drug" because it modulates a wide range of membrane receptors and other molecular targets in neurons, limiting our ability to link specific molecular targets to their corresponding behavioral effects (Harris, 1999). For example, mild to moderate levels of intoxication potentiate inhibitory (GABA) and inhibit excitatory (NMDA) synaptic transmission (Dopico & Lovinger, 2009). Specifically, a concentration of 3-30 mM ethanol enhances GABA_A receptor function while 5-50 mM is sufficient to inhibit NMDA receptor function. Importantly, this dose-response relationship varies further across different GABA_A and NMDA receptor subunits expressed throughout the brain (Alfonso-Loeches & Guerri, 2011). Ethanol also enhances serotonin and nicotinic ligand-gated ion channels as well as non-ligand ion channels like L-type Ca2+, HCN, and GIRK (Luscher & Ungless, 2006).

Despite many targets within the brain, behavioral pharmacological experiments reveal that GABA_A and NMDA receptors contribute to the discriminative stimulus properties (i.e. the ability to report subjective effects of the drug) of ethanol (Grant, 1999). Furthermore, nicotinic and serotonergic signaling can amplify ethanol's stimulating effects (Kostowski & Bienkowski, 1999). Taken together, ethanol influences brain function and produces a state of behavioral intoxication that arises through the functional modulation of multiple ion channels and intracellular targets. Despite targets across the brain, evidence suggests that alcohol's action within the mesolimbic dopamine system elicits its addictive properties.

Influence of Stress Hormones on Brain Function

Stressful or arousing events activate the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis to induce long-term adaptive changes in the brain and in behavior (Selye, 1950). Exposure to drugs of abuse activates these same brain stress pathways (Armario, 2010), hindering the ability to tease apart stress-mediated from drug-mediated adaptations under conditions of repeated drug exposure. The stress response is governed by neurons in the paraventricular nucleus (PVN) of the hypothalamus that release corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF) into the hypophyseal portal system. CRF then activates corticotrophs in the pituitary that release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) into the bloodstream. Peripheral ACTH stimulates the secretion of stress hormones, such as glucocorticoids, from the adrenal cortex (Tsigos & Chrousos, 2002), which modulate the function of nearly every cell in the brain and body.

Glucocorticoid stress hormones influence neuronal activity via numerous genomic and non-genomic cellular cascades (Stahn & Buttgereit, 2008). Upon activation, genomic glucocorticoid receptors translocate to the nucleus, bind glucocorticoid response elements, and broadly modify gene transcription through transactivation or transrepression (Beato & Sanchez-Pacheco, 1996). Though genomic effects initiate within minutes to hours, they can persist over timescales of hours to days. In contrast, non-genomic glucocorticoid effects initiate more quickly, within seconds to minutes, and modulate the function of numerous ionotropic receptors in the cell membrane as well as intracellular signaling cascades (Evanson *et al.*, 2010).

In addition to glucocorticoid signaling, stress hormones can serve as precursors for the production of neuroactive steroids, which exert rapid effects on neural transmission and

regulate neuroendocrine responses (Morrow *et al.*, 2009). More specifically, progesterone and other structurally related molecules can act as potent allosteric modulators of nicotinic, GABA_A, and NMDA receptors (Majewska *et al.*, 1988; Wu *et al.*, 1991; Ke & Lukas, 1996; Bullock *et al.*, 1997). Therefore, stress hormones and neuroactive steroids may act in concert through multiple mechanisms to influence the responses to drugs of abuse.

Adding further complexity to the issue, glucocorticoids can produce opposing effects in different brain regions (Koob & Le Moal, 2001). Within the PVN of the hypothalamus, for example, glucocorticoids act as a negative feedback signal to inhibit CRF release and HPA reactivity (Albeck *et al.*, 1994). However, in extra-hypothalamic regions, such as the central nucleus of the amygdala (CeA) and bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST), glucocorticoids deliver a positive feedback signal to potentiate CRF activity (Shepard *et al.*, 2000). CRF activity in extra-hypothalamic regions, including the DA system, contributes to different aspects of drug abuse (Koob & Le Moal, 2001). These complex effects have challenged our ability to link specific stress-mediated adaptations with subsequent alcohol use.

Influence of Nicotine on Brain Function

Nicotine acts upon nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (nAChRs) within the brain. The nAChR is a pentameric ligand-gated ion channel formed by different combinations of subunits ($\alpha 2$ - $\alpha 10$ and $\beta 2$ - $\beta 4$) (Dani & Bertrand, 2007). Heteromeric $\alpha\beta$ subunit combinations include $\alpha 2$ - $\alpha 6$ and $\beta 2$ - $\beta 4$. Homomeric subunit combinations of nAChRs include $\alpha 7$ - $\alpha 9$ subunits, with $\alpha 7$ nAChRs widely distributed throughout the mammalian brain. Ligand binding to different receptor subtypes produces a diverse range of neurophysiological effects due differing ligand affinity and desensitization dynamics. For

example, α 7 nAChRs exhibit low ligand affinity but rapid desensitization whereas α 4 β 2 nAChRs exhibit high ligand affinity and slow desensitization (Wooltorton *et al.*, 2003). Nicotinic receptors can also vary across cellular subtype and subcellular compartmentalization offering multiple opportunities to influence cellular and circuit activity (Laviolette & van der Kooy, 2004b). Like alcohol and stress hormones, nicotine targets receptors within the mesolimbic system to modulate reward-related behaviors.

The Mesolimbic Dopamine System: A Locus for Interactions

Overview of mesolimbic dopamine system

The development of behavioral reinforcement and acquisition of operant selfadministration involves the dopamine (DA) system, suggesting a potential locus for interactions between alcohol, stress, and nicotine. (Piazza *et al.*, 1993; Gonzales *et al.*, 2004). This circuitry is known to regulate mood, emotional responses, and incentive-based behavior (Grace *et al.*, 2007; Schultz, 2007). In addition, dysregulation of this system is a hallmark of the drug-addicted state (Volkow *et al.*, 1996; Volkow *et al.*, 2007; Luscher & Malenka, 2011). Neurons in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) are the primary source of DA within the mesolimbic system. Those neurons project to many cortical and forebrain limbic structures, including the nucleus accumbens (NAc), ventral pallidum, amygdala, and the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) (See Figure 1.1). DA neurons represent an abundant cell type in the VTA, but the exact percentage of DA neurons varies between sub-regions (Swanson, 1982; Nair-Roberts *et al.*, 2008; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2011).

The VTA also contains glutamate neurons and GABA neurons that project to the forebrain and can form local synapses with other VTA neurons (Van Bockstaele & Pickel, 1995; Dobi *et al.*, 2010; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2011). A fourth cell type synthesizes both DA and glutamate, and there are potentially other mixed transmitter neurons in this area (Hnasko *et al.*, 2010; Stuber *et al.*, 2010). Numerous afferent inputs regulate the activity of DA and non-DA neurons within the VTA (see Figure 1.1). Major excitatory inputs arise from the laterodorsal and pendunculopontine tegmentum, the lateral hypothalamus, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis, and the prefrontal cortex (Carr & Sesack, 2000; Omelchenko & Sesack, 2005; Massi *et al.*, 2008; Watabe-Uchida *et al.*, 2012). The major GABAergic inhibitory inputs to the VTA arise from the rostromedial tegmental nucleus, the ventral pallidum, the laterodorsal tegmentum, and the nucleus accumbens (NAc) (Geisler & Zahm, 2005; Jhou *et al.*, 2009; Xia *et al.*, 2011). The serotonergic (5-HT) neurons of the dorsal raphe nucleus constitute another important afferent projection, which transmits mainly excitatory signals to the VTA (Herve *et al.*, 1987). Some inputs target specific subsets of VTA neurons. The excitatory inputs from the laterodorsal tegmentum, for example, mainly target VTA DA neurons that project to the nucleus accumbens (Omelchenko & Sesack, 2005), whereas the inhibitory inputs from the nucleus accumbens target primarily non-dopaminergic VTA neurons (Xia *et al.*, 2011).

VTA neuron properties

DA neurons are the most well studied class of cells in the VTA. The classic DA neurons (found mainly in the lateral VTA and in the substantia nigra compacta) display various modes of firing activity *in vivo*, including tonic and phasic activation (Grace & Bunney, 1984; Hyland *et al.*, 2002). Tonic activity involves slow irregular patterns of single action potentials, whereas phasic activity involves short-latency bursts of action potentials (typically 2–4 action potentials, each separated by less than 80ms).

DA neurons in brain slices do not display normal burst activity (Grace & Onn, 1989), indicating that burst firing depends on afferent synaptic input, which is altered and disrupted in brain slices. The tonic firing frequency of DA neurons in freely moving animals is approximately 2–10 Hz. However, within a single burst of action potentials the average firing frequency increases to approximately 15–28 Hz (Hyland *et al.*, 2002; Li *et al.*, 2011). The transition from tonic to phasic firing activity is hypothesized to be a key mechanism for transmitting behaviorally relevant information related to addictive drug reinforcement (Grace *et al.*, 2007). Other molecular substrates, such as DA transporters and DA autoreceptors, further filter DA neuron activity and are modulated by drugs of abuse. Due to circuitry differences in these molecular substrates, phasic DA signals lead to greater extracellular DA levels in the ventral striatum compared to the dorsal striatum (Gonon, 1988; Chergui *et al.*, 1994; Zhang *et al.*, 2009).

In addition to DA neurons, VTA GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons provide input to the mesocorticolimbic target areas. A high firing frequency (typically above 20 Hz) and relatively short action potential duration characterize a well-studied subset of GABAergic neurons (Steffensen *et al.*, 1998; Luo *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2011). Recent studies indicate that VTA GABA neurons make selective synaptic connections with cholinergic interneurons in the NAc that influence local DA transmission and associative learning (Brown *et al.*, 2012; van Zessen *et al.*, 2012). Glutamatergic VTA neurons also innervate the NAc and other structures, and their properties and their regulation continue to be studied (Hnasko *et al.*, 2010; Stuber *et al.*, 2010; Yamaguchi *et al.*, 2011).

Alcohol's Action in the Dopamine System

Alcohol self-administration coincides with an increase in DA levels in the NAc (Weiss *et al.*, 1993; Melendez *et al.*, 2002; Boileau *et al.*, 2003) and this DA learning signal transfers to drug-associated cues over time (Doyon *et al.*, 2005). Local infusion of DA receptor antagonists into the VTA and the NAc reduces subsequent operant responses for alcohol (Rassnick *et al.*, 1992; Samson *et al.*, 1993; Hodge *et al.*, 1997), and neurotoxic lesions of the DA system decrease alcohol intake (Rassnick *et al.*, 1993; Ikemoto *et al.*, 1997). The lesions only appear to alter alcohol intake when applied prior to the acquisition of drinking behavior (i.e., prior to training), and not after self-administration behavior becomes established, suggesting that DA signaling is particularly critical during the acquisition and development of alcohol reinforcement. Many other addictive drugs share these dopamine-dependent features of alcohol self-administration.

At concentrations achieved during intoxication (20–100 mM), alcohol moderately excites VTA DA neurons in brain slices, as well as in acutely dissociated DA neurons lacking synaptic inputs. This excitation reflects direct action of alcohol on DA neurons (Brodie & Appel, 1998; Okamoto *et al.*, 2006). For example, alcohol reduces the amplitude of the after-hyperpolarization phase of the action potential and modulates ionic conductances as well as metabotropic signals to increase DA neuron excitability (Brodie & Appel, 1998; Lewohl *et al.*, 1999; Okamoto *et al.*, 2006; Mulholland *et al.*, 2011). In addition to these direct actions, the *in vivo* effects of alcohol on DA neurons arise from a complex interplay between alcohol and many neurotransmitter systems.

Substantial evidence indicates a role of GABA signaling in alcohol self-administration (Boyle *et al.*, 1993; Chester & Cunningham, 2002). Local blockade of GABA_A receptors in

the VTA and the ventral pallidum and knockout of GABA_A receptors in the NAc decreases alcohol self-administration (Nowak *et al.*, 1998; June *et al.*, 2003; Nie *et al.*, 2011). At the molecular level, alcohol binds to specific amino acid residues on the GABA_A receptor, which enhances ionic conductance and positively modulates GABA_A receptor function (Harris, 1999; Glykys *et al.*, 2007).

Application of alcohol to VTA brain slices increases presynaptic GABA release onto DA neurons (Theile *et al.*, 2008) and evidence suggests that *in vivo* alcohol exposure induces a long lasting (at least 24 h to 1 week) potentiation of GABA inhibition in the VTA (Melis *et al.*, 2002). The precise mechanism by which alcohol enhances presynaptic GABA release is not understood, but could involve 5-HT transmission or stress signaling pathways (Nie *et al.*, 2004; Theile *et al.*, 2008). *In vivo* recordings from putative VTA GABA neurons indicate that GABAergic responses to alcohol can vary substantially between cells. Importantly, GABA cells can show transient inhibition and excitation during a single recording (Gallegos *et al.*, 1999). The dose of alcohol and the timing between injections may thus contribute to differing GABAergic responses (Gallegos *et al.*, 1999; Steffensen *et al.*, 2009).

Stress hormones and Alcohol in the Dopamine System

Stressful or arousing experiences promote DA signaling within the mesolimbic system via direct and indirect mechanisms. Exposure to restraint stress, for example, produces a biphasic increase in accumbal DA release, with levels peaking at the onset and termination of restraint (Imperato *et al.*, 1991; Imperato *et al.*, 1992; Enrico *et al.*, 2013). This signal is thought to be mediated, in part, by glucocorticoid-dependent facilitation of glutamatergic input onto DA (Yuen *et al.*, 2009; Krugers *et al.*, 2010; Satoh & Shimeki, 2010). Stress hormones can also potentiate DA transmission at target regions by impairing its synaptic

clearance via non-genomic effectors (Graf *et al.*, 2013). Further, neurosteroid metabolites indirectly modulate dopamine transmission and alcohol consumption via GABA_A receptors within the VTA (Follesa *et al.*, 2006; Tanchuck *et al.*, 2013; Cook *et al.*, 2014). These results indicate that the mesolimbic DA system is responsive to stressful experiences and is a primary target of stress hormone signaling.

Extending these findings, several studies support the hypothesis that stress hormones contribute to the motivational properties of alcohol. Alcohol directly activates stress pathways to elicit glucocorticoid release (Ellis, 1966). Adrenalectomized rodents show reduced alcohol self-administration (Fahlke *et al.*, 1994; Shoaib & Shippenberg, 1996), and local activation of glucocorticoid receptors in the ventral striatum has been shown to increase alcohol intake (Fahlke & Hansen, 1999). Further, the development of compulsive drinking and alcohol dependence involves the activation of glucocorticoid receptors within the DA system (Vendruscolo *et al.*, 2012). Taken together, these findings suggest that exposure to stress could influence subsequent responses to alcohol via biological adaptations within the mesolimbic dopamine system.

Nicotine and Alcohol within the Dopamine System

Nicotine acts upon nAChRs within the ventral tegmental area to promote drug use (Corrigall *et al.*, 1994). The most common nAChRs in the rodent VTA are the high affinity β 2-containing subtype (often in combination with α 4 and/or α 6) and the lower affinity α 7-containing subtype (Jones & Yakel, 1997; Klink *et al.*, 2001; Wooltorton *et al.*, 2003). DA and GABA neurons, express the high affinity β 2-containing nAChR (Klink *et al.*, 2001; Mansvelder *et al.*, 2002). In comparison, the α 7-containing nAChR is located predominately on presynaptic glutamatergic inputs and to a lesser extent on VTA GABA neurons (Jones & Yakel, 1997; Klink *et al.*, 2001). The low brain concentrations of nicotine

obtained from tobacco (~20–100 nM) activate the β 2-containing nAChRs (Calabresi *et al.*, 1989; Pidoplichko *et al.*, 1997; Picciotto *et al.*, 1998). Within minutes of exposure, nicotine desensitizes the high affinity nAChRs (Pidoplichko *et al.*, 1997; Wooltorton *et al.*, 2003). This process leads to a decrease particularly in GABA inhibition of VTA DA neurons (Mansvelder *et al.*, 2002; Pidoplichko *et al.*, 2004). Due to differences in agonist affinity, these low concentrations of nicotine do not readily desensitize α 7- containing nAChRs (Wooltorton *et al.*, 2003; Pidoplichko *et al.*, 2004). This distinction may allow α 7-containing nAChRs to exert a prolonged excitatory effect over glutamatergic afferents onto DA neurons, favoring the induction of long-term synaptic potentiation (Mansvelder *et al.*, 2002; Pidoplichko *et al.*, 2002;

It is important to note, however, that the β 2-containing, and not the α 7-containing, nAChRs are of greater importance during the initiation of nicotine self-administration (Picciotto *et al.*, 1998; Brunzell *et al.*, 2006). A single exposure is sufficient to induce long-term synaptic potentiation of glutamatergic afferents onto DA neurons, as indicated by an increase in the AMPA/NMDA receptor ratio and an increase in the probability of glutamate release (Saal *et al.*, 2003; Gao *et al.*, 2010; Mao *et al.*, 2011). These synaptic changes contribute to learning processes associated with the reinforcement of drug-seeking behaviors.

There is a direct interaction between alcohol and the nicotinic cholinergic system via the nAChRs. Low concentrations of alcohol increase the affinity of acetylcholine for neuronal nAChRs and potentiate the nicotinic currents produced by acetylcholine (Aistrup *et al.*, 1999; Narahashi *et al.*, 1999). Heterologously expressed recombinant nAChRs that contain the α 2 or α 4 subunit are particularly sensitive to activation by alcohol (Cardoso *et al.*, 1999; Borghese *et al.*, 2003). Evidence indicates that alcohol potentiates receptor function by stabilizing the open state of the α 4-containing nAChR (Zuo *et al.*, 2004), but

prolonged exposure to alcohol may increase nAChR desensitization (Nagata *et al.*, 1996). In contrast, alcohol seems to inhibit the nicotinic responses of some α7-containing nAChRs, but the results can vary depending on the expression system or the duration of the bath alcohol application (Covernton & Connolly, 1997; Cardoso *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, chronic exposure to alcohol was shown to upregulate high affinity nAChRs in the thalamus and hypothalamus (Yoshida *et al.*, 1982), similar to chronic nicotine exposure. Whether alcohol induces similar nAChR upregulation within the DA system remains to be tested.

In addition to any direct actions on nAChR function, alcohol may influence the DA system via activation of afferent cholinergic inputs. Alcohol self-administration elevates extracellular acetylcholine levels in the VTA (Larsson et al., 2005), and a single dose of alcohol activates cholinergic interneurons in the nucleus accumbens, as measured by Fos expression (Herring et al., 2004). Substantial evidence indicates an involvement of distinct nAChRs in alcohol-induced DA release and self-administration. Intra-VTA or systemic blockade of nAChRs antagonists with mecamylamine (a general nAChR antagonist) reduces alcohol consumption and alcohol-induced DA release in the NAc (Ericson et al., 1998; Smith *et al.*, 1999; Le *et al.*, 2000a). Blocking α3β2-containing nAChRs (and/or β3* nAChRs) with α-conotoxin MII prevents alcohol-induced DA release and alcohol selfadministration ((Larsson et al., 2004; Jerlhag et al., 2006; Kuzmin et al., 2009). Further, using a novel nAChR ligand, one study has suggested that α 4 β 2-containing nAChRs participate in self-administration of both nicotine and alcohol (Rezvani et al., 2010). Likewise, recent work using a4 nAChR knockout models demonstrates that alcoholinduced DA responses and alcohol conditioned place preference require α4-containing nAChRs (Liu *et al.*, 2013). Knockout studies also suggest a role for the α 7- containing

nAChRs in alcohol consumption (Kamens *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, varenicline, an antismoking agent and a partial agonist at several nAChR subtypes, effectively reduces alcohol consumption in rodents and in humans (Steensland *et al.*, 2007; McKee *et al.*, 2009). Varenicline administration also appears to decrease DA release induced by alcohol (Ericson *et al.*, 2009). Although the role of specific nAChR subtypes remains unclear, these findings suggest that nAChRs mediate many actions of alcohol.

It is important to emphasize that these variables do not necessarily occur in isolation. Stress hormone signaling is likely to participate in nicotine-alcohol interactions since both drugs activate stress pathways to elicit glucocorticoid release (Ellis, 1966; Fu *et al.*, 1997; Porcu *et al.*, 2003). Stress hormones can also inhibit nAChRs and influence reward-related responses to nicotine (Shoaib & Shippenberg, 1996; Caggiula *et al.*, 1998). This is supported by the fact that stress causes a down regulation of the nAChR in the rat cerebral cortex and midbrain (Takita & Muramatsu, 1995). Therefore, there are multiple, overlapping pathways within the dopamine system through which stress and nicotine could modulate reward-related responses to alcohol.

Summary

Excessive alcohol use is a persistent phenomenon despite well-documented risks to individual health and general well-being. Epidemiological surveys indicate that exposure to stress or nicotine can predispose certain populations to develop risky drinking habits. Human and animal studies reveal a complex relationship between stress, nicotine, and alcohol consumption and their actions in the brain, highlighting the need for mechanistic investigation. A growing body of literature points to the mesolimbic dopamine system as a locus for their interaction. The work presented in this thesis identifies a novel adaption within the dopamine system that promotes subsequent alcohol consumption after exposure to stress or nicotine.

Figures



Figure 1.1 Simplified schematic of the mesocorticolimbic reward circuitry. Primary dopaminergic (DA) targets of the ventral tegmental area (VTA) include the nucleus accumbens (NAc), ventral pallidum (VP), amygdala (AMYG), and medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC). Inhibitory (GABA) inputs to the VTA include the rostral medial tegmental nucleus (RMTG), as well as feedback from the VP and NAc. Excitatory (GLU) inputs include the prefrontal cortex (PFC), lateral hypothalamus (LH), and basal nucleus of stria terminalis (BNST). Serotonergic (5-HT) projections from the dorsal raphe nuclei (DRN) as well as noradrenergic (NE) projections arise from the laterodorsal tegmentum and pendunculopontine tegmentum (LDT/PPT).

CHAPTER 2

Stress Increases Ethanol Self-Administration via a Shift toward Excitatory GABA Signaling in the Ventral Tegmental Area

Alexey Ostroumov^{1, 2}, Alyse M. Thomas^{1, 2}, Blake A. Kimmey¹, Jordan S. Karsch¹,

William M. Doyon¹, John A. Dani¹

¹Department of Neuroscience Mahoney Institute for Neurosciences Perelman School for Medicine University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

²Co-first author

This work was originally published in Neuron.

Ostroumov A, Thomas AM, Kimmey BA, Karsch JS, Doyon WM, Dani JA. (2016) Stress increases ethanol self-administration via a shift toward excitatory GABA signaling in the ventral tegmental area. *Neuron*. 92:493-504. PMID: 27720487

Author Contributions

A.O. designed and performed ex vivo and in vivo electrophysiological experiments assisted by B.A.K. A.M.T. and W.M.D. designed and performed in vivo experiments. J.S.K. performed western blot and histology experiments. J.A.D. originated, planned, and oversaw the experiments with A.O.'s, A.M.T.'s, and W.M.D.'s assistance. Led by J.A.D., all the authors contributed to write the manuscript.
Abstract

Stress is a well-known risk factor for subsequent alcohol abuse, but the neural mechanisms underlying interactions between stress and alcohol remain largely unknown. We demonstrate in rodents that pre-exposure to stress attenuates alcohol-induced dopamine responses and increases alcohol self-administration. The blunted dopamine signaling resulted from ethanol-induced excitation of GABA neurons in the ventral tegmental area. Excitation of GABA neurons was mediated by GABA_A receptor activation and involved stress-induced functional downregulation of the K+, Cl- cotransporter, KCC2. Blocking stress hormone receptors, enhancing KCC2 function, or preventing excitatory GABA signaling by alternative methods all prevented the attenuated alcohol-induced dopamine response and prevented the increased alcohol self-administration. These results demonstrate that stress alters the neural and behavioral responses to alcohol through a neuroendocrine signal that shifts inhibitory GABA transmission toward excitation.

Introduction

Excessive alcohol use is among the leading causes of preventable death worldwide (WHO, 2014). While many variables contribute to the development of alcohol use disorder (AUD), exposure to stressful life events represents a significant risk factor (Keyes *et al.*, 2012). Stress increases alcohol consumption in alcohol-dependent and non-dependent populations (Ayer *et al.*, 2011; Thomas *et al.*, 2011; Tamers *et al.*, 2014), and stress is thought to underlie a transition to pathological drug (Koob & Le Moal, 2005).

Stress-induced changes in alcohol use likely arise from an interaction between the stress and reward systems of the brain (Uhart & Wand, 2009; Spanagel *et al.*, 2014). At the cellular level, both stress hormones and ethanol influence the DA system by direct actions on DA neurons or indirectly via changes in excitatory and inhibitory synaptic inputs (Saal *et al.*, 2003; Niehaus *et al.*, 2010). Stress hormone signaling also may alter midbrain GABAA receptor signaling, but the molecular mechanism underlying this adaptation has not been identified and may arise from changes in GABA synthesis, in release, or in expression of specific GABAA receptor subunits (Maguire, 2014). Alternatively, acute stress exposure has been shown to induce a paradoxical shift toward excitatory GABAA receptor signaling within the HPA axis by altering the intracellular anion homeostasis (Hewitt *et al.*, 2009; Sarkar *et al.*, 2011). Given that the GABAA receptor is a target of ethanol, we postulated that alterations in GABAA receptor transmission could contribute to an interaction between stress and ethanol self-administration.

To examine the interaction between stress and ethanol, we exposed drug-naive rats to stress and then measured their subsequent ethanol intake. Concomitant with increases in ethanol self-administration, we show that acute stress attenuates ethanol-induced DA release at target regions. These glucocorticoid receptor-dependent effects on DA signaling were mediated by an increase in VTA GABAergic inhibition onto DA neurons. Stress induced the functional downregulation of KCC2 in VTA GABA neurons, shifting GABAA receptor signaling from inhibition towards excitation. Pharmacological activation of KCC2 restored the GABAergic circuitry and DA neuron signaling and prevented the escalation in ethanol self-administration induced by stress. These results indicate that a shift toward excitatory GABA signaling within the mesolimbic system is associated with increased drinking after exposure to stress.

Experimental Procedures

Subjects

Male Long-Evans rats (Harlan-Sprague) weighing 300-500 g were used for in vivo studies. All animals were handled at least 5 days prior to the onset of surgery/behavioral testing and were singly housed in a quiet, temperature- and humidity-controlled satellite facility under at 12-hour light/dark cycle. Rats had food and water available ad libitum in their home cage and were rewarded with sweetened cereal when handled. All procedures were carried out in compliance with guidelines specified by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at University of Pennsylvania.

Drugs and Experimental Design

Unless otherwise noted, all drugs were obtained from Sigma Aldrich and were dissolved in sterile saline. CLP 290 was a generous gift from Drs. Y. De Koninck and A. Castonguay (Laval University, Quebec, Canada). CLP 290 is a carbamate prodrug of CLP257 (Gagnon *et al.*, 2013). Driven by the findings of carboxylesterase expression in the brain (Yamada *et al.*, 1994; Yamada *et al.*, 1995; Holmes *et al.*, 2009; Jones *et al.*, 2013) and by the knowledge that carbamate bonds can be broken even in brain extracts (Fernandez *et al.*, 2000; Fernandez *et al.*, 2003), we hypothesized that CLP290 would be effective even when applied locally in the VTA. Before injecting CLP290 into the VTA, we showed that incubation of VTA brain slices with CLP290 recovered the chloride homeostasis after stress.

RU486 (40 mg/kg) was dissolved in DMSO and administered intraperitoneally (i.p.) 15 min before stress (Saal *et al.*, 2003). All VTA microinfusions were administered at a flow rate of 0.5 μ L/min for a duration of 2 min, except for microdialysis (0.5 μ L/min for a duration of

1 min). The injector was removed after an additional 1-2 minutes to permit diffusion away from the injection site. For VTA microinfusion experiments, RU486 was first dissolved in DMSO (2 mg/ml) then diluted in ACSF to a final concentration of 2 µg/ml in 10% DMSO. Similarly, acetazolamide and CLP290 were first dissolved in DMSO (1 mM) then dissolved in ACSF to a final concentration of 40-50 uM in 5% DMSO. Intra-VTA microinfusions of acetazolamide or CLP290 occurred 15-30 min before microdialysis or ethanol self-administration. Upon experiment completion, infusions sites were identified post mortem by the location of the injectors in the tissue. Infusions outside the VTA were used for comparison as a negative control. Chicago Sky Blue was infused into the VTA to estimate spatial diffusion of the drugs.

Stressed animals were subjected to a 1 hour of immobilization in a clear cylindrical Broome-style restrainer. Immobilization potently activates the stress hormone systems (Pitman *et al.*, 1988). Behavioral responses to prolonged immobilization include increased vocalization, dander release, defecation, and urination (DeTurck & Vogel, 1982). Animals that did not show defecation were excluded from the study. Restraint stress typically occurred between 5-8 P.M., towards to the beginning of the animals' dark cycle and 15-20 hours prior to ethanol exposure or testing. The 15-hour timeframe between the stress and the ethanol exposure was chosen to examine the long-term effects of acute stress on alcohol responses and to allow the animals to recover from any physical discomfort experienced during the restraint.

Operant ethanol self-administration

Standard operant chambers (Med Associates Inc., St. Albans, VT, USA) were used for the self-administration experiments. Illumination of interior chamber light and presentation of

lever accompanied the start of each session. Depression of the lever triggered 15 sec of access to a retractable drinking spout (a fixed ratio-1 reinforcement schedule). Three rats in the stress treatment group responded for ethanol on a single fixed ratio-4 schedule. Ethanol intake in these rats was not significantly different from other rats in the same group. Each drinking session lasted 60 min/day and occurred daily in most cases, with an occasional day off. Spout licks were recorded by a lickometer.

Animals were initially water-restricted overnight and trained to lever press for a saccharin solution (0.125%, w/v). Once trained, the animals were no longer water restricted and their baseline saccharin intake was monitored for at least 3 days until intake was stable (less than 20% variation in the 2 days preceding ethanol exposure). Importantly, to reduce variability within and between groups, animals were excluded if their saccharin intake was below 5 ml or above 15 ml on average per session. If the animals underwent surgery, saccharin intake was re-established. The effects of stress on acquisition of ethanol self-administration were then measured. Ethanol was introduced into the saccharin drinking solution in the following way: 2% ethanol on day 1 and 4% ethanol for all subsequent days (Fig 1). Consumption was monitored by measuring the volume of liquid in the drinking bottle before and after the session. Lever presses, lickometer responses, and body weight were also measured daily. To achieve consistent behavioral results with this protocol, it is imperative to maintain a quiet, stress-free environment for the animals. Importantly, noise in the animal facility should be kept to a minimum and the animals should be calm and at ease with their handlers.

To assess whether the effect of stress was specific to ethanol and not related to the saccharin in the drinking solution, we included a separate control group that responded for saccharin alone (no ethanol) (n = 8). This saccharin control group did not consume

33

significantly more fluid after stress exposure compared to their pre-stress baseline: 10.7 \pm 1.3 ml/session before stress, 11.6 \pm 1.1 ml/session after stress (p > 0.05). Moreover, saccharin intake after stress was not statistically different from intake in the non-stressed ethanol control group over a comparable number of days. As an additional saccharin control experiment, we faded saccharin out of the ethanol solution over a period of 5 days. After fading out the saccharin completely, a difference in ethanol intake between control and stress groups was still present. Lastly, stress did not alter intake of a novel high-palatable food (6.0 \pm 0.5 g in control vs. 6.8 \pm 0.8 g after stress, n = 4 rats/group, p > 0.05), suggesting that stress did not enhance novelty-related learning of a reward. For the analysis of blood-ethanol levels, blood samples were taken immediately following the completion of the 60-min self-administration session (within 10 min) and stored in a sealed vial. Blood samples were analyzed on the same day by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (Atlantic Diagnostic Laboratories, Bensalem, PA).

In vivo Microdialysis

The active dialysis membrane (2.0 mm), was made of hollow cellulose fiber (inner diameter = 200 μ m; molecular weight cutoff = 18,000; Spectrum Laboratories Inc., Rancho Dominguez, CA, USA). The inlet and outlet to the membrane was composed of fused-silica tubing (inner diameter = 40 μ m; Polymicro Technologies, Phoenix, AZ, USA). The microdialysis probes were perfused with artificial cerebral spinal fluid (ACSF in mM): 149.0 NaCl, 2.8 KCl, 1.2-3.2 CaCl2, 1.2-2.4 MgCl2, and 0.25 ascorbic acid, 5.4 D-glucose. The perfusion flow rate was set to 2.0 μ l/min. Each sample vial was manually changed and immediately stored at -80° C until analyzed.

Animals were habituated to tethering and microdialysis chambers one day prior to testing. Microdialysis probes were implanted into the NAc after habituation. Dialysis samples were collected every 5 min on the day of testing. Baseline DA samples were collected (15-30 min), followed by a timed intravenous (i.v.) infusion of ethanol (1.5 g/kg, 20% in sterile saline, v/v) over the course of 5 minutes. The i.v. route was chosen to circumvent handling-related disturbances in DA levels associated with i.p. injections (Dong *et al.*, 2010). The dose of ethanol (1.5 g/kg) falls within the typical range tested in rodents (Gonzales *et al.*, 2004) and produces brain ethanol concentrations in rodents that humans can achieve (Howard *et al.*, 2008). Following i.v. infusion of 1.5 g/kg ethanol, the estimated brain ethanol concentration peaks near 50 mM approximately 10 min after the infusion (Doyon *et al.*, 2013a).

Dopamine Analysis

Dialysis samples were analyzed for DA content using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled to an electrochemical detector. The HPLC system included a pump (Model 582; Thermo Scientific, West Palm Beach, FL, USA), an autosampler (Model 542; Thermo Scientific), and an Acclaim 210-2.1 x 50 mm column (3µm particle size; Thermo Scientific). A coulometric cell (5014B; Thermo Scientific) was connected to a Coulochem II detector. The mobile phase comprised of citric acid (4.0 mM), sodium dodecyl sulfate (3.3 mM), sodium dihydrogen phosphate dehydrate (100.0 mM), and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (0.3 mM), acetonitrile (15%), and methanol (5%). The autosampler mixed 9.5 µl of the dialysate with ascorbate oxidase (EC 1.10.3.3; 162 units/mg; Sigma-Aldrich Inc.) prior to injection. DA signals were acquired with 501 chromatography software and Chromeleon Software (Thermo Scientific). Quantification of dialysate DA concentration was carried out by comparing the peak area to external standards (0–5 nM).

Surgical procedures

Cannulation surgeries were performed for microdialysis and self-administration experiments as described previously (Doyon *et al.*, 2013a). For microdialysis experiments, animals were implanted with a catheter in the jugular vein and a stainless steel guide cannula (21G, Plastics One) above the NAc (mm from Bregma: AP +2.1, ML -1.1, DV - 4.0). For microdialysis experiments involving intra-cranial infusions, animals were implanted with an additional 24 G guide cannula above the VTA (mm from Bregma: AP - 5.85, ML -0.8, DV -6.5) ipsilateral to the NAc cannula. For behavioral studies, animals were implanted with bilateral cannulae (30G, Plastics One) targeting the VTA (mm from Bregma: AP - 5.8, ML ±0.8, DV -6.5). Recovery from surgery took approximately 3-5 days and was accompanied by daily handling and stable increases in body weight.

Histology

The rats were deeply anesthetized with a combination of Ketamine and Xylazine (0.1 mL/100 g bodyweight). Saline was then perfused through the heart, followed by 10% formalin (v/v). The brains were removed and immersed in 10% formalin for at least 2 days. The brains were cut into 75-µm coronal sections on a vibratome (Leica Microsystems Inc., Buffalo Grove, IL, USA) and stained with cresyl violet to determine the anatomical placements of the microdialysis probes and microinfusion injectors.

Midbrain slices and electrophysiology

Horizontal slices (230 µm) containing the VTA were cut on a vibratome (Leica Microsystems) from Long-Evans rats (21–30 days old) in ice-cold, oxygenated (95% O2/5% CO2) high-sucrose ACSF (in mM): 205.0 sucrose, 2.5 KCl, 21.4 NaHCO3, 1.2 NaH2PO4, 0.5 CaCl2, 7.5 MgCl2, 11.1 dextrose. Immediately after cutting, slices were transferred to normal ACSF buffer (in mM): 120.0 NaCl, 3.3 KCl, 25.0 NaHCO3, 1.2 NaH2PO4, 2.0 CaCl2, 1.0 MgCl2, and 10.0 dextrose, 20.0 sucrose. The slices were constantly oxygenated (95% O2/5% CO2) and maintained at 32°C in ACSF for 40 min, then at room temperature for at least 60 min.

For incubation experiments, slices were bathed in corticosterone (1 μ M), RU486 (10 μ M) or CLP290 (10 μ M) for an additional hour (Gagnon et al., 2013; Pitman et al., 1988; Yoshiya et al., 2013). To perform electrophysiological recordings, slices were transferred to a holding chamber and perfused with normal ACSF at a constant rate of 2-3 ml/min at 32°C. Patch electrodes made of thin-walled borosilicate glass (1.12mm ID, 1.5 mm OD; WPI) had resistances of 1.0–2.0 MΩ when filled with the internal solution (in mM): 135.0 KCl, 12.0 NaCl, 2.0 Mg-ATP, 0.5 EGTA, 10.0 HEPES, and 0.3 Tris-GTP, pH 7.2–7.3.

DA neurons were identified in the lateral VTA by their morphology (> 20 μ m soma size), low firing frequency (1–5 Hz), and the presence of a large lh current, which together correlate (> 94%, 34 of 36) with tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive cells (Chen et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2010). In contrast, VTA GABA neurons were identified by the combination of factors including small somata size, high firing rate (> 7 Hz), and the lack of lh current. Cells with these properties were consistently TH-negative (> 95%, 47 of 49) (Klink *et al.*, 2001; Korotkova *et al.*, 2006; Margolis *et al.*, 2006). In whole-cell configuration, spontaneous inhibitory post-synaptic currents (sIPSCs) were recorded in voltage clamp mode while holding VTA DA neurons at -60 mV. To isolate sIPSCs, ionotropic glutamatergic synaptic transmission was inhibited by AP5 and DNQX in the perfused ACSF. Ethanol (50 mM) was added to the perfused ACSF to assess ethanol-induced alterations in sIPSCs. sIPSCs were blocked by picrotoxin. Synaptic GABAA input was isolated using DNQX, AP5 and CGP55845. The liquid junction potential between the bath and the pipette solutions was corrected before either recordings or data analysis.

The firing rates VTA GABA neurons were recorded in cell-attached configuration in passive voltage-follower mode. For repetitive synaptic stimulation recordings in cell-attached configuration, a bipolar tungsten stimulating electrode (World Precision Instruments, Inc) was placed 100–150 μ m away from the recording electrode. Trains of constant-current pulses (20 Hz frequency, 1 s duration, 200 μ A amplitude) were applied with an inter-stimulus interval of not less than 1 minute. At least 3 stimulation trains were conducted for each cell and the responses were averaged. Synaptic GABAA receptor stimulation was isolated using AMPA, NMDA and GABAB receptor antagonists (DNQX, 20 μ M; AP5, 50 μ M, and CGP55845 1 μ M respectively). Contributions of GABAergic synaptic inputs to ethanol (50 mM) induced alterations in firing rate were assessed with the GABAA-receptor antagonist, picrotoxin (50-100 μ M). Some cells were also backfilled with neurobiotin for immuno-identification.

Immunohistochemistry

To validate the identification of VTA DA and VTA GABA neurons, neurobiotin backfills and TH double labeling were used. The recording pipette contained 0.3% neurobiotin (Vector

Laboratories). Slices were fixed with 10% neutral formalin phosphate buffer for 12–24 hours, incubated in a blocking solution containing 3% normal goat serum solution and 0.3% triton X-100 for 2 hours, and then incubated overnight with primary anti-TH (1:100; Millipore, #AB152) at 4 °C. The slices were then rinsed with PBS and treated with the secondary antibody Cy3- conjugated anti-rabbit IgG (1:200) and AMCA-conjugated streptavidin (1:1000; both from Jackson ImmunoResearch).

To analyze KCC2 immunolabeling in the VTA, rats were perfused with PBS (Chemicon), followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (Boston BioProducts). Brains were post-fixed for additional 2 hours in 4% paraformaldehyde and then kept in 30% sucrose for 24-48 hours. VTA sections were cut at 25-30 µm and processed with antibodies against KCC2 (1:500, Millipore, #07-432) and TH (1:1000, Millipore, #MAB318) overnight at 4°C. After washing in PBS, immunofluorescence reactions were visualized using secondary antibodies labeled with AlexaFluor 488 or AlexaFluor 594 (1:1000; Invitrogen) and confocal microscopy.

Western Blots

The VTA was harvested in horizontal brain slices from adult animals (VTA slices were prepared as described in Midbrain slices and electrophysiology section). Membrane fractions were prepared [Mem-PER Plus Membrane Protein Extraction Kit (Model 89842; Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Samples (30 µg of protein) in 2.5% 2- mercaptoethanol were run through a 4-15% Precast Protein Gel (4561083; Bio-Rad). The sample was transferred to nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad). Primary antibodies used were rabbit anti-KCC2 antibody at 1:400 (07-432; Millipore, Temecula, CA), rabbit anti-Phospho-Ser940 KCC2 antibody (p1551-940; PhosphoSolutions, Aurora, CO) at 1:1000, and

mouse anti-GAPDH (glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase) antibody (MAB374; Millipore) at 1:400. Secondary anti-bodies used were goat anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibody (T2191; Applied Biosystems, AB Foster City, CA) or goat anti-mouse IgG/IgM (T2192, Applied Biosystems). All antibobodies were diluted in SignalBoost solution (407207; EMD Millipore Corp., Billerica, MA).

Membranes were developed using Tropix CDP-Star solution (T2218; Applied Biosystems) for 5 minutes, then scanned using the Protein Simple FluorChem R chemiluminescence detector, and analyzed using AlphaView SA software. The optical densities of KCC2- and Phospho-Ser940 KCC2-specific bands were measured and normalized to the GAPDH values.

Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures (in SPSS for Windows) was used to analyze the dialysate and the % of basal DA concentrations, and the DA and GABA neuron firing rates. For analysis of action potential firing, the raw data (in Hz) were converted into a percentage of basal, and the last three bins (2-min each) before bath application of ethanol were used as the baseline. For analysis of repetitive synaptic stimulation, the last ten bins (0.5-s each) before the stimulus were used as the baseline. A two-tail t-test assuming equal variance was used to assess differences between the mean sIPSC frequency, the mean firing rates, as well as the mean ethanol intake levels. For western blot analysis, a paired t-test was used to compare protein levels from control and stress littermates that were run on the same gel. Significance for all analyses was determined by p < 0.05.

Results

Stress increases ethanol self-administration via glucocorticoid receptors

We first examined how a single episode of restraint stress alters subsequent ethanol intake measured during daily operant self-administration sessions (Figure 2.1A). Stable lever pressing for saccharin (0.125%, w/v) was first established followed by the introduction of ethanol (2%–4%) into the drinking solution (Doyon *et al.*, 2013a). Animals were subjected to restraint stress (1 hr) approximately 15 hr prior to the first ethanol self-administration session. The 15 hr separation between the stress and ethanol self-administration was chosen to examine the lasting impact on neural circuits, not the immediate proximal influence of the stressor itself (Noori *et al.*, 2014).

Pre-exposure to stress caused a significant and long-lasting increase in ethanol selfadministration compared to the non-stressed control group (Figure 2.1A): group: F(1,21) = 19.32, p < 0.01. Blood-ethanol levels were measured in a subset of animals and were correlated with ethanol intake (Figure 2.1B). Stressed rats showed significantly higher blood-ethanol levels (120.8 ± 13.6 mg/dL, n = 5) than non-stressed rats (61.3 ± 4.3 mg/dL, n = 10, p < 0.01). Mean intake of ethanol over the first 7 days was 0.74 ± 0.03 g/kg for the control group (n = 19) and 0.95 ± 0.03 g/kg for the stressed group (n = 16, p < 0.01) (Figure 2.1C, black and red bars). Elevated drinking after stress was also observed at higher ethanol concentrations (7%–10%) over a 3-week period Figure 2.2). Therefore, acute restraint stress induced robust changes in the acquisition and maintenance of ethanoldrinking behavior. Restraint stress is known to increase circulating glucocorticoid levels (Pitman et al., 1988). To determine whether the effect of stress on drinking was mediated by stress hormone signaling, a separate group of rats was pretreated with RU486 (a glucocorticoid receptor antagonist) prior to stress. Pretreatment with systemic RU486 prevented the stress from increasing subsequent ethanol self-administration (Figure 2.1C, dark blue bar; 0.67 ± 0.07 g/kg). To determine whether stress hormone signaling acted locally within the DA system (Uhart & Wand, 2009; Spanagel et al., 2014), RU486 or vehicle was microinfused bilaterally into the VTA prior to stress exposure (Figure 2.3). Intra-VTA administration of RU486 prevented stress from increasing subsequent ethanol self-administration (Figure 2.1C, light blue bar; 0.55 \pm 0.05 g/kg), revealing that the effect of stress requires glucocorticoid receptor activation within the VTA. In non-stressed control rats, RU486 did not significantly influence ethanol intake when administered systemically or by local microinfusion (Figure 2.1C, gray bar on the right; $0.67 \pm 0.04 \text{ g/kg}$), demonstrating a selective effect of RU486 on stress-induced drinking. Additional control experiments with saccharin and palatable food suggest that the effect of stress was specific to ethanol selfadministration.

Stress Attenuates Ethanol-Induced DA Activity In Vivo via Glucocorticoid Receptors

Because ethanol self-administration involves DA signaling in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) (Gonzales *et al.*, 2004), we hypothesized that stress might also alter ethanolinduced DA release in the NAc. To test this hypothesis, we first subjected rats to 1 hr restraint stress 15 hr prior to ethanol exposure. Then we collected microdialysis samples to measure ethanol-induced changes in the extracellular DA concentration (Figure 2.4A). We observed a sustained increase in DA levels in the control group (Figure 2.4B, black trace), but stressed animals showed a blunted DA response to ethanol (Figure 2.4B, red trace): group x time: F(10,160) = 2.79, p < 0.01. No significant differences in baseline DA levels were detected between control and stress groups: 2.0 ± 0.2 nM in control versus 2.1 ± 0.2 nM after stress.

Next, we tested whether glucocorticoid receptor activation mediated the stress-induced decrease in ethanol-evoked DA release. Systemic pretreatment with RU486 prevented the inhibitory effect of stress on ethanol-induced DA release (Figure 2.4B, gray data). The distribution of the microdialysis probe placements within the NAc is shown in Figure 2.5.

Stress Enhances GABA Release onto VTA DA neurons Ex Vivo

Ethanol stimulates DA release in the NAc by increasing the firing rate of VTA DA neurons (Foddai *et al.*, 2004). No adaptations in basal DA cell excitability or glutamatergic inputs were detected after stress (data not shown). However, blunted DA responses to ethanol in stressed animals were associated with increased GABAergic inhibition onto VTA DA cells (Figure 2.6). Whole-cell patch-clamp recordings of VTA DA neurons measured spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSC) in the presence of ethanol (Figure 2.6A,B). In control animals, bath-applied ethanol produced a small increase in sIPSC frequency (116.1% \pm 5.0%). In contrast, DA neurons from stressed animals showed significantly greater ethanol-induced potentiation of sIPSC frequency compared to the control response (171.5% \pm 7.2%) (Figures 2.6C, black and red data; n = 8–10, p < 0.01). Systemic injection of RU486 prior to stress prevented the stress-mediated increase in sIPSC frequency observed after ethanol application (Figure 2.6C, gray bar): 110.6% \pm 4.5%, n = 8.

To further demonstrate glucocorticoid actions within the VTA were mediating the effects of stress, brain slices from control rats were incubated in corticosterone (1 μ M) for 1 hr

(Pitman *et al.*, 1988). DA neurons from control animals treated with corticosterone showed a potentiation of ethanol-induced sIPSC frequency that was indistinguishable from stressed animals (Figure 2.6C, dark blue bar): 182.7% \pm 10.7%, n = 8. Importantly, incubation with RU486 prevented this corticosterone-mediated increase in sIPSC frequency (Figure 2.6C, light blue bar): 114.5% \pm 5.5%, n = 6. Increased frequency, but not amplitude, of sIPSCs suggests that the change caused by stress and corticosterone resides with the presynaptic neuron (i.e., the GABA neuron) not with the postsynaptic neuron (i.e., the DA neuron).

Stress Promotes Excitatory GABA Input onto VTA GABA Neurons Ex Vivo

Our results revealed that stress increased VTA GABA cell firing upon ethanol exposure via a GABAA-dependent mechanism (data not shown). To determine how stress influenced VTA GABA activity, we measured VTA GABA neuron firing rates in response to repetitive stimulation of synaptic GABAA receptor inputs with ionotropic glutamate receptors inhibited (Figure 2.7). Upon electrical stimulation (20 Hz for 1 s), GABA neurons from control animals showed decreased firing (Figure 2.7A-B, black data), indicative of GABAergic inhibition of the recorded GABA neuron. In marked contrast, slices from stressed animals showed increased GABA neuron firing after GABAA receptor stimulation (Figure 2.7A-B, red data): group × time: F(29,464) = 10.03, p < 0.01. This finding directly demonstrates excitation mediated by high-frequency stimulation of GABAA receptors. Importantly, this effect was blocked by picrotoxin (Figures 2.7C, top and 2.7D, Stress + picrotoxin), providing further confirmation that the observed excitation of VTA GABA neurons following stress was mediated by GABAA receptors. In control animals, similar GABAA receptor-mediated excitation was also observed following 1 hr incubation of brain slices in corticosterone (Figure 2.7D, blue bar, Cort), suggesting that prolonged exposure

to corticosteroids is sufficient to promote excitatory GABAA transmission onto VTA GABA neurons.

It has been reported (Staley *et al.*, 1995) that GABAA receptor-mediated excitation can be prevented by application of acetazolamide, an inhibitor of carbonic anhydrase. Based on these findings, we postulated that acetazolamide would prevent the transition from GABAA receptor-mediated inhibition to excitation of GABA neurons observed after stress. Bath application of acetazolamide (10 μ M) did not change basal GABA neuron firing rate between control and stress groups, nor did it change control responses to repetitive stimulation. However, repetitive stimulation in the presence of acetazolamide blocked the increase in GABA neuron firing after stress (Figures 2.7C, bottom, and 2.7D, Stress + ACTZ).

Acetazolamide Prevents Stress and Ethanol Interactions In Vivo

Given that stress promoted excitatory GABA input onto VTA GABA neurons, we tested whether this phenomenon mediated the stress-induced alterations in alcohol responses. To determine if excitatory GABA transmission contributed to blunted ethanol-induced DA release in the NAc observed after stress, we infused acetazolamide into the VTA prior to the microdialysis experiments (Figure 2.8A). In contrast to intra-VTA infusion of vehicle, acetazolamide prevented the inhibitory effect of stress on ethanol-induced [DA] (Figure 2.8B): group x time: F(10,120) = 2.96, p < 0.01. The effect of acetazolamide was indistinguishable from the non-stressed control group (Figure 2.8B, black dotted trace). Microinfusion of acetazolamide outside the VTA did not reverse the inhibitory effect of stress exposure (Figure 2.9A). In unstressed control animals, the microinfusion of acetazolamide in the VTA did not alter the DA response to ethanol (data not shown, n = 6, p > 0.05). To prevent stress from escalating ethanol intake, we bilaterally infused acetazolamide into the VTA prior to each ethanol self-administration session (Figure 2.8C). Intra-VTA infusion of acetazolamide significantly decreased the average daily ethanol intake in the stressed group ($0.67 \pm 0.06 \text{ g/kg}$) compared to the stressed group that received intra-VTA infusions of vehicle ($0.92 \pm 0.08 \text{ g/kg}$) (Figure 2.8D; n = 10–14, p < 0.05). These data were indistinguishable from the non-stressed control group (Figure 2.8D, dotted horizontal line). VTA infusions of acetazolamide did not alter ethanol consumption in control animals (Figure 2.9B). All microinfusion sites of acetazolamide in the VTA are shown in Figures 2.9C-D.

Stress and Glucocorticoids Dephosphorylate KCC2 at Serine 940

Excitatory GABA transmission can arise from high intracellular chloride concentrations, which are mediated by decreases in Cl- extrusion capacity. Stress-induced reductions in Cl- extrusion capacity have been associated with dephosphorylation of the K+, Cl- cotransporter, KCC2, at serine 940 (S940) (Sarkar *et al.*, 2011; Kahle *et al.*, 2013). To examine stress-induced alterations in KCC2 protein expression and its phosphorylation in the VTA, we performed western blot analysis using an antibody against total KCC2 protein, as well as a phospho-specific antibody against the KCC2 phosphorylation site S940 (Sarkar *et al.*, 2011). Immunoblots revealed two prominent bands (~140 and ~270 kDa) for both total and S940 KCC2 antibodies, indicating the presence of monomeric and dimeric structures of KCC2 protein (Figure 2.10A) (Hewitt *et al.*, 2009). No significant differences in the expression of total KCC2 protein between control and stressed groups were observed (Figure 2.10B, red data) or in controls tissue incubated with corticosterone ex vivo (Figure 2.10C, blue data). In contrast, the ratio of phosphorylated-S940 KCC2 to total KCC2 protein after stress was significantly lower compared to control (Figures

2.10D): 78.3% \pm 5.5% for monomer, 79.6% \pm 4.7% for dimer. Incubating control tissue in corticosterone recapitulated this effect (Fig2.10E): 75.5% \pm 7.6% for monomer, 78.6% \pm 9.4% for dimer. This finding confirms that glucocorticoid exposure influences KCC2 phosphorylation state. Importantly, as also reported previously (Taylor *et al.*, 2015), immunolabeling analysis in the VTA suggested that KCC2 protein was expressed exclusively on non-DA neurons (Figure 2.10F), which is consistent with the presence of another chloride extrusion mechanism in DA neurons (Gulacsi *et al.*, 2003). Taken together, these results suggest that stress or corticosterone leads to dephosphorylation of KCC2 protein at S940, which decreases KCC2 function and alters anion homeostasis.

Enhanced CI- Extrusion Restores Anion Homeostasis in VTA GABA Neurons

Based on our findings in Figure 2.10, we hypothesized that enhancement of CI– extrusion would restore normal alcohol self-administration in stressed animals. To enhance CI– extrusion specifically, we used CLP290, a recently developed pro-drug that activates KCC2 (Gagnon *et al.*, 2013). CLP290 or vehicle was bilaterally infused into the VTA prior to the first ethanol self-administration session and measured ethanol intake over 7 days (Figure 2.11). Intra-VTA infusion of CLP290 (Figure 2.12) significantly decreased the average daily ethanol intake in the stressed group back to control levels (0.79 ± 0.05 g/kg) compared to the stressed group that received intra-VTA infusions of vehicle (1.00 ± 0.08 g/kg) (Figure 2.11; n = 12–13, p < 0.05). These data were indistinguishable from the non-stressed control group (Figure 2.11, dotted horizontal line). VTA infusions of CLP290 did not alter ethanol consumption in control animals (0.84 ± 0.05 g/kg, data not shown).

Discussion

While epidemiological studies consistently report associations between stress and ethanol consumption (Keyes *et al.*, 2012), the underlying neuronal effects have not been well delineated. We found that alterations in GABAA receptor responses on GABAergic neurons of the VTA correlate with an increase in ethanol self-administration induced by temporally distant, acute stress. After stress, we detected enhanced VTA GABAergic inhibition of DA neurons and reduced mesolimbic DA release in response to ethanol. Blunted DA signaling was mediated by a transition toward excitatory GABAA receptor signaling in the VTA and was associated with decreased functional expression of KCC2. Stress-induced adaptations were prevented by acetazolamide (Staley *et al.*, 1995) or by CLP290 (Gagnon *et al.*, 2013). The effect of stress on GABA transmission was recapitulated in vitro by corticosterone exposure and was prevented by pharmacological blockade of glucocorticoid receptors (Cadepond *et al.*, 1997). Most importantly, when acetazolamide, CLP290, or RU486 were locally infused in the VTA *in vivo*, stress no longer increased ethanol self-administration.

The decreased DA response to ethanol was correlated to the stress event and to the excitatory GABA signaling. Although the DA response was not directly examined as a cause of the increased self-administration, others have reported that enhancing DA signaling exogenously attenuates voluntary drinking in rats (Bass *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, the correlation between decreased ethanol-induced DA release and increased self-administration has been previously reported in rodent studies (Brodie & Appel, 2000; Ramachandra *et al.*, 2007; Doyon *et al.*, 2013a).

The shift toward excitatory GABAA receptor signaling was correlated to the stress event and was required for the stress to cause increased ethanol self-administration (Figure 2.8). Although GABAA signaling normally mediates inhibitory synaptic transmission in the adult mammalian nervous system, it can shift toward excitation under certain pathological conditions, including epilepsy, neuropathic pain, and neuronal trauma (De Koninck, 2007). The shift arises from the decreased function of the chloride extrusion pump, KCC2 (Kaila et al., 2014). Upon strong GABAA receptor stimulation, diminished function of KCC2 leads to the accumulation of chloride ions inside the cell and subsequent loss of the chloride gradient. Activity-dependent loss of the hyperpolarizing chloride gradient unmasks an outward flux of bicarbonate ions through GABAA receptors, resulting in neuronal depolarization/excitation (Staley et al., 1995). Consistent with this model, we found that the GABAergic circuitry responds as expected in the basal condition. However, when GABAA receptors are highly engaged by strong stimulation (Figure 2.7) or by ethanol (Figures 2.8A), a compromised extrusion capacity leads to a collapse in the CI- gradient, excitation of VTA GABAergic neurons, and blunted dopamine responses are detected. This shift toward excitatory GABA may occur elsewhere in the brain after stress, but the increased ethanol self-administration was prevented if this shift was blocked in the VTA. Although an excitatory shift in GABA transmission in the adult brain is usually associated with pathological conditions, similar transitions were found in the HPA axis following stress and in the VTA following chronic exposure to opiates (Laviolette et al., 2004; Hewitt et al., 2009; Sarkar et al., 2011). When our results are taken with the accumulation of evidence in the literature, it suggests that the shift toward excitatory GABA signaling may be a more common phenomenon than is presently appreciated (Chung, 2012; Astorga et al., 2015).

Here we demonstrated that glucocorticoid receptor signaling within the VTA was necessary to increase ethanol self-administration after stress. Moreover, prolonged exposure to corticosterone in vitro (in midbrain slices) was sufficient to induce neuroadaptations associated with in vivo stress. These findings highlight the importance of glucocorticoid signaling within the VTA, but we do not rule out the participation of other stress signaling molecules or hormones, such as CRF, in mediating stress-induced adaptations (Ungless *et al.*, 2003; Hwa *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, the effect of glucocorticoids on VTA GABA neurons may involve the activity of noradrenaline, glutamate, and glial cells (Coull *et al.*, 2003; Hewitt *et al.*, 2009; Lee *et al.*, 2011; Taylor *et al.*, 2015; 2016).

Although animal studies generally support the hypothesis that stress increases ethanol consumption, some results have shown that stress decreases intake or has no effect (Becker *et al.*, 2011). These differences arise from a combination of factors, including the type of stressor used, the duration or timing of the stressor, as well as the type of drinking paradigm employed (Noori *et al.*, 2014). An important parameter in our experimental design is that the stress exposure was well-separated (15–20 hr) from the ethanol self-administration, which allowed us to examine the lasting neural circuit consequences of the treatment not the proximal effect of stress itself. In our study, we kept the ethanol content of the drinking solutions relatively low during the acquisition phase, which likely resulted in less variability in self-administration. The rats experienced less of the aversive stimulus cues of ethanol while still achieving significant blood-ethanol levels. In addition, some animals show resilience to the effects of stress (Pfau & Russo, 2015), so it is essential to verify that there is a physiological response to the stressor and to exclude animals that do not show that response.

In summary, we showed that acute stress exposure decreases the sensitivity of the DA system to ethanol and increases subsequent ethanol self-administration. These effects required a shift toward excitatory GABAA signaling in the VTA and were associated with decreased chloride extrusion capacity in VTA GABA neurons. The temporally distant, acute, intense stress experience produced long-lasting neuroadaptations within the mesolimbic systems of the brain that were expressed upon exposure to ethanol. This overall process represents one mechanistic pathway linking life stress experiences to increased alcohol use. However, future work should determine whether similar mechanisms also contribute to the effects of stress during chronic alcohol use and relapse.



Figure 2.1 Stress increases ethanol self-administration. (A) Rats self-administered saccharin prior to fading ethanol into the drinking solution. Rats were subjected to a single restraint stress 15-20 hr before the first ethanol exposure (red arrow). Daily fluid intake was measured in control and stressed rats. Stressed rats showed greater ethanol intake compared to unstressed control rats. **Significantly different from the control group by ANOVA with repeated measures, p < 0.01, n = 16-19 rats/group. (B) Ethanol intake (g/kg) versus blood ethanol levels (mg/dL). Blood ethanol was measured immediately after the self-administration session in control (black) and stressed (red) animals. A regression analysis showed a significant and positive correlation between ethanol intake and blood ethanol levels, F(1,13) = 162.7, p < 0.01. (C) Mean daily ethanol intake over the first seven self-administration sessions. Stressed rats (red bar) consumed significantly more ethanol (g/kg) compared to control rats (black bar). Blockade of glucocorticoid receptors with RU486 systemically (dark blue, 40 mg/kg, i.p.) or locally in the VTA (light blue, 40 ng/1 mL) prior to stress prevented increases in ethanol intake, n = 10, 14. RU486 administered systemically or intra-VTA to control animals did not alter ethanol intake, n = 9, gray bar. **Significantly different from all groups by t test, p < 0.01.



Figure 2.2 Stress increases ethanol self-administration via glucocorticoid receptor activation. (A) Control and stressed animals self-administered 4% ethanol for 4-12 days, then concentrations were increased to 7% ethanol for 3 days, followed by 10% ethanol for 7 days. (B) Mean daily intake for 4%, 7% and 10% ethanol are plotted. Significance of difference between control and stressed groups for each ethanol concentration was determined by t-test (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.05), n = 5-7 rats/group.



Figure 2.3 VTA microinfusion sites. Following self-administration experiments, the microinfusion sites of RU486 were determined. The distribution of injection sites in the VTA was similar between control (gray circle) and stressed animals (light blue circle) and distributed across coronal sections 5.3-6.0 mm posterior from bregma.



Figure 2.4 Stress attenuates ethanol-induced accumbal DA release in vivo.

(A) Animals were exposed to a 1 hr restraint stress and microdialysis experiments were conducted 15 hr later. (B) Time course of DA release in the NAc following in vivo ethanol administration in control rats (black), in stressed rats (red), and in rats injected with RU486 (i.p.) prior to stress exposure (gray). Ethanol (1.5 g/kg) was injected i.v. during the 5 min period (shaded vertical gray bar). *Significantly different from the control group and from the RU486+Stress group by ANOVA with repeated measures, p < 0.05, n = 7-9 rats/group.



Figure 2.5 Microdialysis probe locations in the nucleus accumbens. Following microdialysis experiments the anatomical placements of the microdialysis probes were determined as described in Supplemental Experimental Procedures section. The distribution of microdialysis probe locations in the NAc were similar between the cohort of (A) unstressed, (B) stressed and (C) RU486-pretreated stressed animals, indicating that regional differences in DA release do not account for observed differences in dopamine release.



Figure 2.6 Stress and corticosterone increase GABA release onto DA neurons ex vivo. (A) Spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) onto VTA DA neurons were recorded using the whole-cell patch-clamp configuration. No significant differences were detected in the mean basal sIPSC frequency or amplitude between stressed and control groups before ethanol: frequency, 2.4 ± 0.6 Hz in control versus 2.3 ± 0.3 Hz after stress; amplitude, 26.2 ± 4.0 pA in control versus 30.8 ± 3.6 pA after stress, p > 0.05, n = 8-10. (B) Representative recordings of sIPSCs before and after ethanol administration in the control (black) and stressed (red) groups. (C) Mean changes in the sIPSC frequency after ethanol application in VTA DA neurons. DA neurons from stressed animals (red) demonstrated a significantly increased ethanol-mediated sIPSC frequency compared to neurons from unstressed controls (black). Systemic inhibition of glucocorticoid receptors with RU486 (40 mg/kg) prior to stress prevented elevated sIPSC frequency (gray). Incubation of VTA slices from control animals with corticosterone increased ethanolmediated sIPSC frequency in DA neurons up to stress levels (dark blue). Co-incubation with RU486 prevented this increase (light blue). Incubation of brain slices with RU486 and/or corticosterone did not alter basal parameters of sIPSCs (data not shown). Across all groups, ethanol application did not produce significant changes in the sIPSC amplitudes (data not shown, n = 6-10, p > 0.05). **Significantly different from control and RU486-treated groups by t test.

p < 0.01, n = 6-10 cells/group.



Figure 2.7 promotes

mediated excitation of GABA neurons ex vivo.

(A) VTA GABA neurons were recorded in a cell-attached configuration before and after electrical stimulation of GABAA receptor inputs. Representative GABA neuron recording from a control animal demonstrated decreased firing rate in response to stimulation of GABAergic input (black). Similar stimulation enhanced the firing rate of VTA GABA neurons from stressed animals (red). For display, the traces were filtered and stimulus artifacts were removed. (B) Mean changes in VTA GABA neuron firing rate from control (black) and stressed (red) rat slices following repetitive stimulation of synaptic GABA inputs. **Significantly different from the control by ANOVA with repeated measures, р < 0.01, n = 8–10 cells/group. (C) Representative VTA GABA neuron recording from a stressed rat demonstrated that in the presence of picrotoxin (top) or acetazolamide (ACTZ, bottom), repetitive stimulation of GABA inputs failed to increase the firing rate. (D) Normalized mean changes in the firing rates of VTA GABA neurons in response to stimulation for each treatment group. Values were averaged over 5 s immediately following termination of the stimulation. In controls, GABAA receptor-mediated increase in the firing rate was observed after slice incubation with corticosterone (blue). Significantly different from the control by t test (*p < 0.05), n = 8–10 cells/group or (**p < 0.01), n = 6– 8 cells/group.



Figure 2.8 Stress requires excitatory GABA shifts to attenuate ethanol-induced DA release and increase ethanol self-administration in vivo. (A) Stressed animals received intra-VTA infusion of ACTZ (1 mL at 50 mM) or vehicle prior to the onset of baseline sample collection. Subsequent ethanol-induced DA release in the NAc was measured. (B) In contrast to vehicle injection (red), ethanol-induced DA levels in the NAc following ACTZ infusion were not blunted (blue) and were similar to the control response from Figure 2B (dotted black line). **Significantly different from the VTA vehicle group by ANOVA with repeated measure, p < 0.01, n = 7 rats/ group. (C) Stressed animals received bilateral intra-VTA infusions of ACTZ (1 mL at 50 mM) or vehicle prior to the onset of each self-administration session. (D) ACTZ-infused stressed animals consumed significantly less ethanol (blue) compared to vehicle-infused stressed animals (red). Ethanol consumption in unstressed control rats from Figure 1C is shown for comparison (dotted horizontal line). *Significantly different from the VTA vehicle group by t test, p < 0.05, n = 10-14 rats/group.



Figure 2.9 Microinfusions of acetazolamide into the VTA. (A) In stressed animals, mean changes in DA levels after exposure to ethanol were not significantly altered if acetazolamide (ACTZ) was infused outside and adjacent to the VTA (104.7% \pm 2.6% stress + VTA vehicle vs. 100.5% \pm 4.4% stress + non-VTA ACTZ, p > 0.05, n = 5-7). Changes in DA levels were averaged over 8 post ethanol samples for display. (B) In unstressed control animals, mean intake of ethanol over the first 7 days was not significantly altered by intra-VTA infusions of acetazolamide (ACTZ) (0.74 \pm 0.03 g/kg control vs. 0.66 \pm 0.08 g/kg control + ACTZ, p > 0.05, n = 6-19). (C) Unilateral VTA microinfusions of acetazolamide were administered ipsilateral to the microdialysis probe and were equally distributed along the anterior/posterior axis. (D) Bilateral VTA microinfusions of acetazolamide were similarly distributed along the anterior/posterior axis.



Figure 2.10 KCC2 expression is downregulated after stress and restricted to non-DA neurons. (A) Western blot analysis was conducted for total KCC2 and phosphorylated- S940 KCC2 with GAPDH as a loading control. A representative western blot indicates no differences in total KCC2 expression after stress. However, stressed animals showed reduced expression of pS940 KCC2 relative to total KCC2 when compared to non-stressed controls. (B) Densiometric analysis revealed no significant differences in total KCC2 expression levels after stress (red bar graphs) or after corticosterone incubation (C) of control slices (blue bar graphs) (p > 0.05, n = 10-16rats/group). (D) Densiometric analysis revealed a significant reduction in the ratio of pS940 KCC2 to total KCC2 protein in stressed animals compared to non-stress controls (horizontal dashed line). *Significantly different from the control by t test, p < 0.05, n = 10 animals/group. (E) Densiometric analysis revealed a significant reduction in the ratio of pS940 KCC2 to total KCC2 protein in corticosterone-incubated slices from controls. *Significantly different from the control by t test, p < 0.05, n = 16 animals/group. (F) Immunolabeling analysis in the VTA revealed that tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) labeling of dopamine neuron (green) did not overlap with KCC2 labeling (red), suggesting an alternative chloride homeostasis mechanism exists in VTA DA neurons.



Figure 2.11 KCC2 Activation in the VTA prevents stress-induced alcohol consumption. CLP290 was infused bilaterally intra-VTA (40 mM at 0.5 mL/min). After CLP290 administration, stressed animals consumed significantly less ethanol (blue) compared to vehicle-injected stressed animals (red). Ethanol consumption in unstressed control rats is shown for comparison (dotted horizontal line). *Significantly different from the VTA vehicle group by t test, p < 0.05, n = 12–13 rats/group.



Figure 2.12 CLP290 Microinfusion Sites. Bilateral VTA microinfusions of acetazolamide were similarly distributed along the anterior/posterior axis.
CHAPTER 3

Nicotine Decreases Ethanol-induced Dopamine Signaling and Increases Selfadministration via Stress Hormones

William M. Doyon¹, Yu Dong¹, Alexey Ostroumov¹, Alyse M. Thomas¹, Tao A. Zhang¹, John A. Dani¹

> ¹Center on Addiction, Learning, Memory Department of Neuroscience Baylor College of Medicine Houston, TX 77030, USA.

This work was originally published in Neuron.

Doyon WM, Dong Y, Ostroumov A, Thomas AM, Zhang TA, Dani JA. (2013) Nicotine decreases ethanol-induced dopamine signaling and increases self-administration via stress hormones. *Neuron* 79, 530–540. PMID: 23871233

Author Contributions

W.M.D., Y.D., and A.M.T. designed and performed in vivo experiments. A.O. designed and performed ex vivo electrophysiological experiments assisted by T.A.Z. J.A.D. originated, planned, and oversaw the experiments with W.M.D.'s, A.O.'s, and A.M.T.'s, assistance. Led by J.A.D., all the authors contributed to write the manuscript.

Abstract

Tobacco smoking is a well-known risk factor for subsequent alcohol abuse, but the neural events underlying this risk remain largely unknown. Alcohol and nicotine reinforcement involve common neural circuitry, including the mesolimbic dopamine system. We demonstrate in rodents that pre-exposure to nicotine increases alcohol self-administration and decreases alcohol-induced dopamine responses. Blocking stress hormone receptors prior to nicotine exposure prevented the decreased dopamine responses, and the increased alcohol self-administration. These results indicate that nicotine recruits neuroendocrine systems to influence neurotransmission and behavior associated with alcohol reinforcement.

Introduction

Tobacco (nicotine) and alcohol are the two most abused and costly drugs to society. Epidemiological studies consistently find a positive correlation between nicotine and alcohol use, with alcoholism approximately 10 times more prevalent in smokers than in non-smokers (Weitzman *et al.*, 2005; Barrett *et al.*, 2006; Harrison & McKee, 2008). Several studies also show that nicotine exposure increases alcohol self-administration (Smith *et al.*, 1999; Barrett *et al.*, 2006); and smoking, particularly at an early age, is a significant risk factor for subsequent alcohol abuse (Sher *et al.*, 1996; Grant, 1998).

In addition to psychosocial and genetic factors (Bobo & Husten, 2000; Schlaepfer *et al.*, 2008), evidence suggests that the interactions between nicotine and alcohol arise from shared pharmacological actions (Larsson & Engel, 2004; Funk *et al.*, 2006). These drugs activate common neural substrates, including the mesolimbic dopamine (DA) system (Di Chiara, 2000; Gonzales *et al.*, 2004; De Biasi & Dani, 2011) and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis associated with stress hormone signaling (Richardson *et al.*, 2008; Armario, 2010; Lutfy *et al.*, 2012).

To simplify this complex and multifaceted interaction between nicotine and alcohol, we studied how acute nicotine exposure in naïve animals alters subsequent responses to alcohol, including alcohol-induced DA signals and alcohol self-administration. We found that pretreatment with nicotine increased subsequent alcohol self-administration and decreased alcohol-induced dopamine signals in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and the nucleus accumbens (NAc). The decreased dopamine responses to alcohol arose via an initial activation of stress hormone receptors in the ventral tegmental area. These results

identify the mesolimbic dopamine system as a locus for multiple neurophysiological interactions between nicotine, stress hormones, and alcohol.

Experimental Procedures

Subjects

Long-Evans rats (Harlan Sprague Inc., Indianapolis IN, USA) weighing between 300–500 g were used. The rats were handled and weighed for at least 3 days and commonly more than a week prior to surgery and testing, and the rats were housed in a humidity and temperature-controlled (22°C) environment under a 12-hr light/dark cycle. The rats had food and water available ad libitum in the home cage. All procedures complied with guidelines specified by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at Baylor College of Medicine.

Surgical procedures

For the microdialysis experiments, each animal was implanted with an intravenous catheter through the jugular vein and a stainless steel guide cannula (21 gauge) (Plastics One, Inc., Roanoke, VA, USA). The surgery occurred under isoflurane anesthesia (1.5–2.5% in 100% O2, 1 L/min). The catheters were constructed with Silastic tubing (0.30 mm ID, 0.64 mm OD; Dow Corning, Midland, MI, USA) with one end modified with a 22-gauge cannula (Plastics One, Inc.). The microdialysis guide cannulae were positioned as follows (in mm relative to bregma): +2.1 anterior-posterior, +1.1 medial-lateral, -4.0 ventral to the skull surface (Paxinos, 2007). The experiments were conducted after a minimum recovery period of 3 days.

Drugs and experimental design

All drugs (Sigma-Aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) were dissolved in sterile saline, except Mifepristone (RU486), which was dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). Pretreatment with nicotine tartrate (0.4 mg/kg, freebase, i.p.), or an equivalent volume of saline, occurred 3–40 hrs prior to the experiments. RU486 was administered 15 min prior to nicotine pretreatment at a dose of 40 mg/kg (Saal *et al.*, 2003). We opted for this dose because of the limited capacity of RU486 to cross the blood brain barrier (Heikinheimo & Kekkonen, 1993). The intra-VTA concentration of RU486 was (10 ng/0.5 μ l) and 0.5 μ l of the solution was delivered by pump over 1 min (Segev *et al.*, 2012). The microinfusion injector was left in place for 2 additional min and then removed. The infusion cannula was aimed at the following VTA coordinates (in mm relative to bregma): +5.7 anterior-posterior, +1.0 medial-lateral, -7.1 ventral to the skull surface (Paxinos, 2007). Following the experiments, Chicago Sky blue was injected into the VTA to determine the location of the microinfusion.

Baseline samples were collected (15–30 min), followed by a timed intravenous (i.v.) drug infusion (i.e., ethanol or nicotine). The i.v. administration route circumvents handling-related stress associated with a needle injection (Dong *et al.*, 2010). For the i.v. ethanol experiments, the rats received 1.5 g/kg ethanol (20% in sterile saline, v/v, i.v.) over 5 min. Two hrs prior to the experiment, rats were administered a similar volume of vehicle (sterile saline) to habituate them to the stimulus effects of the infusion.

In vivo microdialysis

The active dialysis membrane (2.0 mm), was made of hollow cellulose fiber (inner diameter = 200μ m; molecular weight cutoff = 18,000; Spectrum Laboratories Inc., Rancho Dominguez, CA, USA). The inlet and outlet to the membrane was composed of fused-silica tubing (inner diameter = 40μ m; Polymicro Technologies, Phoenix, AZ, USA). The microdialysis probes were perfused with artificial cerebral spinal fluid (ACSF): 149 mM

NaCl, 2.8 mM KCl, 1.2 mM CaCl2, 1.2 mM MgCl2, and 0.25 mM ascorbic acid, 5.4 mM Dglucose. At least 14 hrs before the experiment, we lowered the probes into the brain through the guide cannula. The perfusion flow rate was set to 2.0 μ l/min. Each sample vial was manually changed and immediately stored at -80° C until analyzed.

Dopamine analysis

The HPLC system included a pump (Model 582; Thermo Scientific, West Palm Beach, FL, USA), an autosampler (Model 542; Thermo Scientific), and a HR-3.2 × 80 mm column (3- μ m particle size; Thermo Scientific). A coulometric cell (5014B; Thermo Scientific) was connected to a Coulochem II detector. The mobile phase comprised of citric acid (4.0 mM), sodium dodecyl sulfate (3.3 mM), sodium dihydrogen phosphate dehydrate (100.0 mM), and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (0.3 mM), acetonitrile (15%), and methanol (5%). The autosampler mixed 9.5 μ l of the dialysate with ascorbate oxidase (EC 1.10.3.3; 162 units/mg; Sigma-Aldrich Inc.) prior to injection. DA signals were acquired with 501 chromatography software and Chromeleon Software (Thermo Scientific). Quantification of dialysate DA concentration was carried out by comparing the peak area to external standards (0–2.5 nM).

Operant ethanol self-administration

Standard operant chambers (Med Associates Inc., St. Albans, VT, USA) were used for the self-administration experiments. Activation of an interior chamber light and presentation of a retractable lever accompanied the start of each session. Depression of the lever triggered the entry of a retractable drinking spout on the opposite side of the wall. Each lever press resulted in 15 sec of access to the drinking spout (a fixed ratio-1 reinforcement schedule). Each session lasted 45 min. The rats lived in the same quiet room in which

daily training sessions occurred, and the rats were typically trained one at a time to avoid any auditory distractions from activity in neighboring chambers.

The rats were trained to lever press for saccharin reinforcement (0.125%, w/v). Consistent responses for saccharin occurred in ~4–8 days. Three hrs prior to their first ethanol exposure, the animals were injected with nicotine (0.4 mg/kg) or saline. The rats were exposed to ethanol by gradually adding ethanol (2–4 %, v/v) into their saccharin solution over a 4-day period (Doyon *et al.*, 2005). Consumption was monitored by measuring the volume of liquid in the drinking bottle before and after the session. Body weights were measured each day.

Histology

The rats were overdosed with pentobarbital (120 mg/kg, i.v.). Saline was perfused through the heart, followed by 10% formalin (v/v). The brains were removed and immersed in 10% formalin for at least 2 days. The brains were cut into 75- μ m coronal sections (Leica Microsystems Inc., Buffalo Grove, IL, USA) and stained with cresyl violet as indicated by the figures defining anatomical placements.

Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) with repeated measures (in SPSS for Windows) was used to analyze the dialysate DA concentrations and the daily ethanol intake. A two-tail t-test assuming equal variance was used to assess differences between mean behavioral responses. Significance for all analyses was determined by p < 0.05.

Results

Nicotine attenuates ethanol-induced DA release

The initial administration of addictive drugs, such as nicotine and ethanol, increases basal DA levels in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) as measured by microdialysis (Di Chiara & Imperato, 1988). We found that simultaneous co-administration of nicotine and ethanol produces an additive increase in NAc DA release relative to the response of each drug alone (data not shown). To determine whether prior exposure to nicotine influences ethanol-induced DA release in the NAc, we injected rats with nicotine or saline 3 hrs prior to administering ethanol. Guided by nicotine's metabolic half-life in rats of 45 min (Matta *et al.*, 2007), we chose a 3-hr pretreatment period to decrease any carryover in the pharmacological effects of nicotine.

Microdialysis samples were collected to follow the change in extracellular DA levels induced by ethanol administration (Fig. 3.1A-D). After pretreatment with saline or nicotine, there was no difference in the basal DA concentrations prior to ethanol exposure: 1.0 ± 0.2 nM after nicotine pretreatment and 1.0 ± 0.1 nM after saline pretreatment. To avoid handling-related stress, ethanol was administered intravenously over a 5-min period (Fig. 3.1A; shaded columns). Ethanol induced a sustained increase in DA release in the saline control group (Fig. 1A–C, black circles). Nicotine pretreatment (0.4 mg/kg, i.p., 3-40 hrs prior) significantly attenuated the ethanol-induced increase in DA release (Fig. 3.1A-C, red circles) (group x time: F(10,100) = 2.37, p < 0.05). The administered ethanol dose falls within the typical range tested in rodents (Gonzales *et al.*, 2004) and produces brain ethanol concentrations in rodents that humans commonly achieve (Howard *et al.*, 2008).

The distribution of the microdialysis probe placements within the NAc were similar between the cohort of animals pretreated with nicotine and those pretreated with saline (Fig. 3.1D), indicating that regional differences in DA release do not account for these results.

Nicotine increases ethanol self-administration

Given that the single nicotine pretreatment decreased ethanol-induced DA release, we determined whether that same nicotine pretreatment influenced ethanol self-administration (Smith *et al.*, 1999). To parallel the time course of our microdialysis experiments (see Fig. 3.1), we examined ethanol intake during the early acquisition of drinking behavior. Early acquisition was defined as the first four sessions of ethanol self-administration (1 session/day for 45 min/session). Operant responses to saccharin (0.125%, w/v) were first established, followed by an introduction of ethanol (2–4%) into the drinking solutions over four days (Doyon *et al.*, 2005).

We pretreated the rats with either nicotine (0.4 mg/kg, i.p.) or saline 3 hrs prior to an initial ethanol exposure, as in the microdialysis experiments (see Fig. 3.1A). Ethanol intake across the first four self-administration sessions was significantly higher after nicotine pretreatment (0.97 g/kg, n = 20) compared to the saline pretreatment control (0.75 g/kg, n = 17) (p < 0.01) (Fig. 3.1E). Rats pretreated with nicotine also initiated significantly more operant responses (44 ± 2) than the saline pretreatment control (36 ± 2).

To confirm that these effects were specific to ethanol and not related to the saccharin in the drinking solution, we included a separate control group that responded for saccharin alone (no ethanol) (n = 10). This group did not drink significantly more fluid following

nicotine pretreatment (15.6 \pm 1.8 ml/session) across four drinking sessions than the ethanol control rats pretreated with saline (13.9 \pm 0.8 ml/session) (p > 0.05).

Interactions between nicotine and ethanol require stress hormones

We hypothesized that nicotine administration altered the DA and GABA responses to alcohol through a neuroendocrine signal (Armario, 2010). Stress-related hormones, such as glucocorticoids, cause long-term homeostatic changes in neural function and influence DA and GABA transmission (Barrot *et al.*, 2000; Joels & Baram, 2009; Butts *et al.*, 2011).

Nicotine activates the HPA axis to increase plasma levels of corticosterone (Lutfy *et al.*, 2012), the principle glucocorticoid in rodents, which we confirmed (Fig. 3.2). To determine whether glucocorticoid receptor activation during nicotine pretreatment contributes to subsequent alterations in ethanol-induced DA release, we systemically blocked glucocorticoid receptors with RU486 (Cadepond *et al.*, 1997) prior to nicotine pretreatment. Pretreatment with RU486 (Fig. 3.3A, blue circles) prevented the inhibitory effect of nicotine on ethanol-induced DA release (group x time: F(10,240) = 4.75, p < 0.01). This increased DA response to ethanol following RU486 and nicotine pretreatment was not distinguishable from the control rats pretreated with saline alone or RU486 alone (Fig. 3.3A, dashed trace).

These results suggested that stress receptor activation within the VTA, following nicotine pretreatment, attenuated the subsequent DA response to ethanol. To test this hypothesis, we blocked glucocorticoid receptors locally in the VTA with RU486 prior to nicotine pretreatment. The control group that received a local intra-VTA microinfusion of vehicle followed by nicotine pretreatment showed a decreased DA response to ethanol 15 hrs later (Fig. 3.3B, red circles), consistent with our previous data (see Fig. 1). This inhibitory

effect of nicotine pretreatment was prevented by intra-VTA microinfusion of RU486 prior to nicotine pretreatment (Fig. 3.3B, blue circles) (group x time: F(10,140) = 2.43, p < 0.05). We should note that the intra-VTA RU486 did not completely reverse the effect of nicotine pretreatment. A post hoc comparison indicated a significant difference between the saline control (Fig. 3.3B, dashed line) and the group pretreated with intra-VTA RU486 + Nic (F(10,220) = 2.01, p < 0.05). The microinfusion sites were dispersed mainly in the more ventral VTA, including the anterior and posterior regions (Fig. 3.3C). There was no consistent relationship between the microinfusion site and the individual DA responses to ethanol in either group. As a negative control, microinfusion of RU486 outside and adjacent to the VTA did not reverse the inhibitory effect of nicotine pretreatment (n =3).

To determine whether stress-related signals also contributed to increased ethanol consumption after nicotine pretreatment (as in Fig 3.1E), we pretreated rats with RU486 prior to nicotine administration and then monitored early acquisition of ethanol self-administration over the first 4 sessions. RU486 pretreatment prevented the increased ethanol self-administration induced by nicotine pretreatment (Fig. 3.3D). The mean ethanol intake for the group pretreated with RU486 and nicotine (0.74 ± 0.06 g/kg/session, n = 12) was significantly lower than the nicotine pretreatment alone (0.97 g/kg; n = 17) (p < 0.01) and nearly identical to the saline pretreatment control (Fig. 3.3D, dashed line). Thus, nicotine required the activation of stress hormone receptors to enhance subsequent ethanol self-administration.

Discussion

Acute pretreatment with nicotine induced a long-lasting attenuation of ethanol-induced DA signals within the mesoaccumbens pathway. These nicotine-induced neuroadaptations required a stress hormone signal that acted significantly within the VTA. Concomitant with these physiological changes, we also show that increases in ethanol self-administration induced by nicotine were prevented by RU486, a glucocorticoid/progesterone receptor antagonist (Cadepond *et al.*, 1997).

In addition to other interactions with ethanol (Al-Rejaie & Dar, 2006; Lopez-Moreno *et al.*, 2008), nicotine exposure influences subsequent ethanol consumption and abuse (Grant, 1998; Smith *et al.*, 1999; Barrett *et al.*, 2006). Although the development of drug abuse involves the mesolimbic DA system, there is little mechanistic data indicating how nicotine influences DA responses to ethanol. Our results suggest that nicotine acts through stress hormone signaling pathways in the VTA to decrease ethanol-induced DA signals. A blunted DA system has been associated with increased impulsivity (Reuter *et al.*, 2005) and increased susceptibility to drug and alcohol (Volkow *et al.*, 1996; Martinez *et al.*, 2005). Previous studies have shown that higher ethanol preference in mice corresponds to lower DA neuron responses to ethanol (Brodie & Appel, 2000).

We should note that RU486 is an antagonist for both the glucocorticoid and the progesterone receptor (Cadepond *et al.*, 1997). Progesterone and its metabolites are produced in the brain and participate in stress responses (Wirth). Thus, progesterone and glucocorticoid receptors could contribute to interactions between nicotine and ethanol. These results complement previous studies showing a critical role for

77

glucocorticoids in alcohol reward and in the transition to compulsive alcohol drinking (Rotter *et al.*; Vendruscolo *et al.*, 2012).

Activation of nAChRs in the brain stem are known to contribute to the initial response of the HPA axis to nicotine (Armario, 2010). Blocking stress hormone receptors locally in the VTA prevented the long-term alterations in ethanol-induced DA release (Fig. 3.3B), and thus identified the VTA as a locus for mechanistic interactions between nicotine and ethanol. Interestingly, local VTA infusion of RU486 to antagonize stress receptors did not completely reverse the effects of nicotine pretreatment on ethanol-induced DA release compared to the saline control. This incomplete effect could arise from a partial diffusion of RU486 throughout the VTA, but it is also feasible that adaptations outside of the VTA to induce neuroadaptations that regulate DA signals.

In summary, we provide evidence that nicotine pretreatment decreases ethanol-induced DA transmission and increased ethanol self-administration. These responses to nicotine pretreatment, required an initial stress hormone signal. These results support the hypothesis that drugs of abuse recruit neuroendocrine pathways to promote addictive behaviors (Koob & Kreek, 2007; Koob *et al.*, 2014). Our data suggest a neurophysiological basis for the observation that nicotine use can increase the reinforcing properties of alcohol.

Figures



Figure 3.1 Nicotine pretreatment attenuates ethanol-induced DA release and increases ethanol self-administration. Rats were injected once with nicotine (0.4 mg/kg) or saline, which occurred either (A) 3 hrs prior to in vivo ethanol administration, or (C) 40 hrs prior to in vivo ethanol administration. Changes in [DA] were measured in 5-min intervals using microdialysis with HPLC. Ethanol (1.5 g/kg) was infused i.v. over a 5-min period (shaded vertical bars). * Significantly different from the control by ANOVA with repeated measures (p < 0.05); ** p < 0.01; n = 6–16 rats/group. # Significantly different from the control by posthoc ANOVA with repeated measures. (D) Microdialysis probe placements in the NAc for all rats pretreated with saline (left) or nicotine (right) (Paxinos and Watson, 2007). (E) Nicotine increases acquisition of ethanol self-administration. Rats were pretreated once with either saline (black bar) or nicotine (0.4 mg/kg, i.p.; red bar) 3 hrs prior to an initial ethanol exposure. The mean ethanol intake was then measured over the first four self-administration sessions (45 min/session). ** Significantly different from the control by test (p < 0.01); n = 20, 17. Data presented as the mean \pm SEM.



Figure 3.2. Administration of nicotine increases plasma corticosterone levels. Effect of nicotine pretreatment on plasma corticosterone levels with basal defined at time = 0. ** Significantly different from basal (p < 0.01; n = 8 rats).



Figure 3.3 Nicotine requires glucocorticoid signaling to alter ethanol-induced DA release and ethanol self-administration. (A) Rats were injected with RU486 (40 mg/kg) 15 min prior to nicotine (0.4 mg/kg) or saline pretreatment. 15 hrs later, changes in extracellular [DA] in response to ethanol (shaded vertical bar) were measured. Control subjects that received RU486 alone were combined with the saline controls from Fig. 1B as these groups were not statistically different. n = 9–16 rats/group. (B) The effect of microinfusion of RU486 or vehicle into the VTA prior to nicotine pretreatment on the DA response to ethanol 15 hrs later. ** Significantly different from the nicotine pretreatment by ANOVA with repeated measures (p < 0.01), * p < 0.05, n = 8/group. (C) VTA microinfusion sites for all rats pretreated with RU486 (blue circle) or vehicle (red circle. PIF: parainterfascicular nucleus, PBP: parabrachial pigmented nucleus. (D) Systemic RU486 blocked the increase in ethanol self-administration induced by nicotine pretreatment, as shown in Fig. 1E. Ethanol intake in the saline pretreatment control is indicated by the dashed line. ** Significantly different from the nicotine pretreatment by test (p < 0.01), n = 20, 12. Data presented as the mean \pm SEM.

CHAPTER 4

Adolescent Nicotine Exposure Increases Adult Ethanol Self-administration via Altered Chloride Homeostasis in the Ventral Tegmental Area

Alyse M. Thomas^{1, 2}, Alexey Ostroumov^{1, 2}, Kristen Kim¹, John A. Dani¹

¹Department of Neuroscience Mahoney Institute for Neurosciences Perelman School for Medicine University of Pennsylvania Philadelphia, PA 19104, USA

²Co-first author

Manuscript in preparation for submission.

Author Contributions

A.M.T. designed and performed in vivo microdialysis and self-administration experiments with the help of K.K. A.O. designed and performed electrophysiological experiments assisted by T.A.Z. J.A.D. originated, planned, and oversaw the experiments with A.M.T.'s and A.O.'s assistance. Led by J.A.D., all the authors contributed to write the manuscript.

Abstract

Adolescent smoking is a well-known risk factor for subsequent alcohol abuse, but the neurobiological mechanisms mediating this interaction remain largely unknown. The mesolimbic dopamine system is implicated in drug reinforcement and addiction, suggesting a potential locus for nicotine-alcohol interactions. We demonstrate in rodents that exposure to nicotine during adolescence increases alcohol self-administration in adulthood and attenuates alcohol-induced dopamine responses. Blunted dopamine responses corresponded with increased inhibition onto DA neurons and altered anion homeostasis in VTA GABA neurons. Enhancing KCC2 function in adult animals prevented the increased alcohol self-administration, suggesting that long-lasting alterations in anion homeostasis persist within the VTA after adolescent nicotine exposure and promote ethanol self-administration. These results reveal a novel mechanism linking adolescent nicotine exposure to elevated alcohol consumption in adulthood.

Introduction

Epidemiological studies consistently highlight positive correlations between smoking and excessive alcohol consumption (DiFranza & Guerrera, 1990; Schorling *et al.*, 1994; Andersen, 2003; Weitzman *et al.*, 2005; Harrison & McKee, 2008). Compared to non-smokers, smokers drink nearly twice as much alcohol, are more likely to experience alcohol-related harm, and have significantly higher risk for developing alcohol use disorders (DiFranza & Guerrera, 1990; Kozlowski & Ferrence, 1990; Grant *et al.*, 2004; Larsson & Engel, 2004). Accumulating evidence suggests that the comorbidity of tobacco and alcohol use in adulthood may originate in adolescence at the time of initial tobacco exposure (Cross *et al.*, 2017). Adolescent smokers are more likely to be heavier drinkers and individuals that experiment with tobacco are twice as likely to develop an alcohol use disorder compared to never smokers (Grucza & Bierut, 2006).

Adolescence is considered to be a critical period of brain development (Chambers *et al.*, 2003), and exposure to nicotine during this timeframe produces long-lasting neurobehavioral effects (Spear, 2016). Rodent studies reveal that adolescent nicotine exposure increases subsequent self-administration of nicotine (Adriani *et al.*, 2003; Adriani *et al.*, 2006), alcohol (Larraga *et al.*, 2017), and other drugs of abuse (McQuown *et al.*, 2007; Dao *et al.*, 2011), suggesting that early nicotine exposure may indeed serve as a gateway for subsequent drug use (Torabi *et al.*, 1993; Baler & Volkow, 2011). Despite this compelling literature, the specific neuroadaptations induced by adolescent nicotine exposure to promote subsequent alcohol consumption remain unknown.

Evidence suggests that the interactions between nicotine and alcohol arise from shared pharmacological actions (Larsson & Engel, 2004; Funk *et al.*, 2006). These drugs activate common neural substrates, including the mesolimbic dopamine (DA) system ((Di Chiara,

2000; Gonzales *et al.*, 2004; Dani & Harris, 2005; Doyon *et al.*, 2013b). Since the dopamine system is known to regulate ethanol reinforcement (Gatto *et al.*, 1994; Rodd-Henricks *et al.*, 2000; Grace *et al.*, 2007) and sensitive to adolescent nicotine-induced neuroadaptations (Counotte *et al.*, 2009; Doura *et al.*, 2010; Ehlinger *et al.*, 2016), this circuitry could mediate nicotine-ethanol interactions from adolescence to adulthood. Prior work from our group also suggests that acute nicotine may promote drinking via adaptations within the mesolimbic circuitry. Exposure to acute nicotine 3-15 hrs prior increased subsequent alcohol consumption, blunted dopamine responses to ethanol, and increased inhibition onto DA neurons within the ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Doyon *et al.*, 2013a). Separately, we showed that elevated alcohol intake and increased inhibition of dopamine neurons arose via altered chloride homeostasis within the VTA (Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). Based off this work, we hypothesized that adolescent nicotine increased alcohol consumption in adulthood through similar neuroadaptations in the mesolimbic circuitry.

This study sought to examine if adolescent nicotine altered mesolimbic responses to ethanol and to test the contribution of altered chloride homeostasis to this interaction. Animals treated with nicotine as adolescents, but not adults, showed persistent elevated alcohol consumption throughout adulthood. Further investigation revealed adolescent nicotine pretreatment reduced dopaminergic responses to ethanol in vivo, increased inhibition of dopamine neurons, and altered chloride homeostasis in VTA GABA neurons. Pharmacological enhancement of chloride transporter function within the VTA prevented elevated alcohol consumption in adolescent nicotine-treated animals. These results implicate anionic plasticity mechanisms within the VTA in long-term elevations in alcohol consumption and reveal that intervention during adulthood can counter the effects of adolescent drug exposure.

Experimental Procedures

Male Long-Evans rats (Harlan-Envigo) were singly housed in a quiet, temperature and humidity- controlled satellite facility under at 12 hr light/dark cycle. Rats had food and water available ad libitum in their home cage. All procedures were carried out in compliance with guidelines specified by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at University of Pennsylvania.

Drugs and Experimental Design

All drugs (Sigma-Aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA) were dissolved in sterile saline unless otherwise specified. Animals were administered daily injections of saline or nicotine tartrate (0.4 mg/kg, freebase, i.p.) during adolescence (p28-p42) and subsequent responses to ethanol were assessed in adulthood (p70-p90) (Figure 1A). Comparable injections were carried out in adult animals (~p60-p74) and subsequent responses to ethanol were assessed 4 weeks post-nicotine exposure (Figure 2A). Intra-VTA microinfusions of CLP290 occurred approximately 30 min prior to ethanol selfadministration. The intra-VTA concentration of CLP290 was (45 µM) and 1.0 µl of the solution was delivered by pump at a rate of 0.5 µL/min (Ostroumov et al., 2016). Animals were treated with CLP290 (45 µM) before the first day of ethanol self-administration. The microinfusion injector was left in place for 2 additional min and then removed. The infusion cannula was aimed at the following VTA coordinates (in mm relative to bregma): +5.7 anterior-posterior, +1.0 medial-lateral, -7.1 ventral to the skull surface (Paxinos and Watson, 2007). A separate group of animals treated with 50 µM CLP290 prior to selfadministration over 3 non-consecutive days showed no significant differences in effect, so these animals were combined with the 45 µM CLP290 treatment group.

Operant Ethanol Self-Administration

Standard operant chambers (Med Associates) were used for the self-administration experiments. Animals were initially water restricted overnight and trained to lever press for a saccharin solution (0.125%, w/v). Once trained, the animals were no longer water restricted and their baseline saccharin intake was monitored until intake appeared stable for 3 consecutive days. If the animals underwent surgery, saccharin intake levels were reestablished. The effects of nicotine or saline pretreatment on subsequent ethanol self-administration were then measured. Ethanol was introduced into the saccharin drinking solution in the following way: 2% ethanol on day 1 and 4% ethanol for all subsequent days (Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016), unless otherwise noted. We previously confirmed that this self-administration protocol produces pharmacologically relevant blood alcohol levels (Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). For 8% ethanol studies, initial ethanol fading (2-8%) occurred over the first eight days (Doyon *et al.*, 2005). Intake of 8% ethanol consumption was then monitored for seven days. A separate cohort of animals followed the same ethanol fading procedure (2-8%) and saccharin was faded out of the drinking solution over 6 additional days. Intake of 8% ethanol consumption was then monitored for seven days.

In Vivo Microdialysis

Microdialysis studies were carried out as previously reported (Doyon *et al.*, 2013a; Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). Briefly, animals were habituated to tethering and the microdialysis chambers 1 day prior to testing. Baseline DA samples were collected (15–30 min), followed by a timed intravenous (i.v.) infusion of ethanol (1.5 g/kg, 20% in sterile saline, v/v) over 5 min. The i.v. route (using a cannula) was chosen to circumvent handling-related disturbances in DA levels associated with i.p. injections (Dong *et al.*, 2010).

Dialysis samples were analyzed for DA content using high-pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled to an electrochemical detector.

In Vivo Electrophysiology

Rats were anesthetized with isoflurane and implanted with a catheter in the jugular vein. Animals were positioned on a stereotaxic apparatus and burr holes were drilled to accommodate recording and ground electrodes. Rat body temperature was maintained throughout the experiment at 37°C using an isothermal pad. Glass electrodes backfilled with 0.5 M Na+-acetate and 2% Chicago Sky Blue (5–15 MU) were positioned in the lateral VTA (coordinates: 5.3–6.0 mm posterior from bregma, 0.8–1.4 lateral to midline and 7.5– 8.5 ventral to brain surface). Electrical signals were filtered at 0.3–5 kHz. DA neurons were identified in vivo using established electrophysiological and pharmacological criteria. After 6–20 min of stable baseline recording, we infused 0.3 g/kg of ethanol i.v. every 3 min (for a final dose of 1.5 g/kg) and recorded single-unit activity. Drug-induced changes were calculated as a percent of baseline for each 3 min period. Following ethanol administration, quinpirole and eticlopride were infused (i.v., 0.25 mg/kg) to aid in the identification of VTA neurons. Chicago Sky Blue injections were used to identify the recording sites.

Ex Vivo Electrophysiology

Horizontal slices (230 mm) containing the VTA were cut (Leica Microsystems) from adult Long-Evans rats. Most cells were also backfilled with neurobiotin for immune identification. Spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents were recorded in voltage-clamp mode in the whole-cell configuration. Synaptic GABA_A inputs were isolated pharmacologically. The liquid junction potential between the bath and the pipette solutions was corrected.

Gramicidin perforated-patch recordings were applied to maintain the anionic gradient during reversal potential measurements.

Statistical Analysis

ANOVA with repeated-measures (in SPSS for Windows) was used to analyze the daily ethanol intake, dialysate DA concentrations, and DA firing rate. A two-tailed t-test assuming equal variance was used to assess differences between the mean sIPSC frequency and mean ethanol intake levels. Significance for all analyses was determined by p < 0.05.

Results

Adolescent Nicotine Increases Ethanol Self-Administration

We first examined how exposure to nicotine during adolescence influenced subsequent ethanol self-administration in adulthood. Animals were administered daily nicotine or saline injections throughout adolescence (p28-p42), and ethanol self-administration was measured in adulthood p70-p90) (Figure 1A). Operant responses to saccharin (0.125%, w/v) were first established, followed by the introduction of ethanol (2-4%) into the drinking solutions over the first seven days (Ostroumov et al., 2016). Adolescent nicotine pretreatment significantly increased ethanol self-administration in adulthood compared to adolescent saline-treated controls (Figure 1B): group F(1,12) = 22.43, p<0.01). Mean ethanol intake across the first 7 days was 1.10 ± 0.07 g/kg for the nicotine-pretreated group and 0.71 \pm 0.05 g/kg for the saline pretreated group (Figure 1C; p < 0.01 n = 7 animals/group). The average intake in the adolescent nicotine group $(1.83 \pm 0.11 \text{ g/kg})$ was also significantly elevated at higher ethanol concentrations compared to saline controls $(1.30 \pm 0.16 \text{ g/kg})$ (Figure 1D; p < 0.05; n = 9, 5 animals/group). Adolescent nicotine animals also drank significantly more ethanol compared to saline controls after complete removal of saccharin from the drinking solution (Figure 1E; p < 0.01, n=11, 9 animals/group). Therefore, adolescent nicotine induced robust changes in acquisition and maintenance of ethanol-drinking behavior throughout adulthood.

To examine the effect of adult nicotine exposure on subsequent ethanol consumption, adult animals were administered the same daily nicotine or saline injections over a two week period. Allowing a similar delay between nicotine and ethanol, self-administration was assessed in these animals approximately 30 days later (Figure 2A). Adult nicotine pretreatment failed to increase subsequent ethanol self-administration compared to adult saline controls (Figure 2B): group F(1,9) = 0.01, p > 0.05. The average intake in the adult nicotine group (0.69 ± 0.07 g/kg, red bar) was not statistically different from adult saline controls (0.68 ± 0.06 g/kg, black bar) or adolescent saline controls (0.71 ± 0.05 g/kg, dotted line) (Figure 2C; p > 0.05, n= 7, 4 animals/group). These results suggest adolescent, but not adult, nicotine exposure produces long-lasting elevations in subsequent ethanol self-administration.

Adolescent Nicotine Attenuates Ethanol-induced DA Activity In Vivo

Given that ethanol self-administration involves DA signaling in the nucleus accumbens (NAc) (Gonzales et al., 2004), we hypothesized that adolescent nicotine might also alter ethanol-induced DA signaling. To test this hypothesis, we conducted accumbal microdialysis to measure DA responses in adult animals that were treated with either nicotine or saline during adolescence (Figure 3A). A sustained increase in DA levels were observed in saline-treated controls upon ethanol administration (Figure 3B, black trace). Adolescent nicotine-treated animals, in comparison, showed a blunted DA response to ethanol (Figure 3B, red trace): group x time: F(7,98) = 2.23, p < 0.05. No significant differences in baseline DA levels were detected between saline and nicotine groups: 1.01 ± 0.24 nM in saline-treated versus 1.13 ± 0.24 nM in nicotine-treated animals.

Ethanol stimulates DA release in the NAc by increasing the firing rate of VTA DA neurons (Foddai et al., 2004). To determine whether adolescent nicotine exposure altered DA neuron firing rate in vivo, we conducted single-unit recordings of VTA DA neurons in anesthetized adult rats. DA neurons were recorded in the lateral VTA and were identified based on their electrophysiological and pharmacological properties. The spontaneous firing rate of VTA DA neurons was measured before and after intravenous infusion of

ethanol (0.6–1.5 g/kg) (Figure 3C). Ethanol administration induced an increase in the spontaneous firing rate of VTA DA neurons in saline-treated controls (123.7 \pm 4.9 % of basal). In contrast, adolescent nicotine treated animals failed to demonstrate a significant firing-rate increase upon ethanol administration (97.4 \pm 2.2 % of basal) (Figures 3D; n = 7-17 rats/group, p < 0.01). Together with the microdialysis experiments, these data indicate that ethanol-induced DA signaling in adulthood was blunted in animals treated with nicotine during adolescence.

Adolescent Nicotine Alters GABA transmission and Anion Homeostasis Ex Vivo

Our previous results showed that nicotine pretreatment attenuated dopamine responses to ethanol via enhanced GABA release onto DA neurons (Doyon *et al.*, 2013a). To examine if adolescent exposure similarly altered GABAergic neurotransmission, slices were prepared from adult animals treated with nicotine or saline during adolescence (Figure 4A). We performed whole-cell patch-clamp recordings of VTA DA neurons and measured spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSC) in the presence of ethanol (Figure 4B). In control animals, bath-applied ethanol produced a small increase in sIPSC frequency (114.3 \pm 4.1 % of basal). In contrast, DA neurons from nicotine animals showed significantly greater ethanol-induced potentiation of sIPSC frequency compared to the control response (177.4 \pm 5.6 % of basal) (Figures 4C-D, black and red data; n = 8-13 cells/group, p < 0.01). These results suggest adolescent nicotine exposure leads to greater inhibition of DA neurons upon ethanol exposure in adulthood.

Increased GABA release onto DA neurons upon ethanol exposure was previously shown to arise from depolarizing shifts in the GABA_A reversal potential (E_{GABA}) in VTA GABA neurons (Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). E_{GABA} is the membrane potential at which evoked IPSCs

change their direction from inward to outward. We hypothesized that adolescent nicotine produced depolarizing shifts in E_{GABA}. To test this, we performed gramicidin perforated patch-clamp recordings in VTA GABA neurons to preserve the intracellular anion concentrations (Figure 4E), and we measured GABA_A IPSCs at different membrane potentials (Figure 4F). VTA GABA neurons from adolescent nicotine-treated animals showed a significantly more depolarized E_{GABA} value compared to saline-treated controls (Figures 4G): -66.1 ± 1.5 mV after nicotine (red data) versus -87.0 ± 3.9 mV in controls (black data), n = 6-7 cells/group, p < 0.01. This result suggests that depolarizing shifts in E_{GABA} give rise to altered responses to ethanol.

Enhancing chloride extrusion in the VTA prevents elevated intake after adolescent nicotine exposure

A depolarizing shift in E_{GABA} reflects a higher intracellular chloride concentration, which in adult neurons is often mediated by a decrease in chloride extrusion capacity. Given that adolescent nicotine altered anion homeostasis in VTA GABA neurons, we next determined whether this adaptation mediated increased self-administration after adolescent exposure to nicotine. Depolarizing shifts in E_{GABA} can be restored by enhancement of chloride extrusion with the KCC2 agonist CLP290. Adolescent-treated animals received bilateral, intra-VTA infusions of CLP290 (45 μ M) or vehicle prior to the first ethanol self-administration session (Figure 5A). However, compared to adolescent nicotine animals that received intra-VTA infusion of vehicle, intra-VTA infusion of CLP290 significantly decreased ethanol consumption (Figure 5B): group F(2,31) = 19.66, p<0.01). Mean ethanol intake over seven days was also significantly lower than those animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of CLP290 (0.79 \pm 0.04 g/kg) compared to animals that received infusions of vehicle (1.06 \pm 0.04 g/kg) (Figure 5C n= 9-11 animals/group). VTA infusions

of CLP290 did not significantly alter ethanol consumption in adolescent saline animals $(0.66 \pm 0.04 \text{ g/kg}, n=4, \text{ data not shown}).$

Discussion

Though epidemiological studies consistently report associations between adolescent tobacco exposure and pathological drinking (DiFranza & Guerrera, 1990; McKee *et al.*, 2007), the neuronal adaptions promoting ethanol consumption after early nicotine exposure have not been well-delineated. In adult animals exposed to nicotine during adolescence, we found altered chloride homeostasis in GABAergic neurons of the VTA correlated with an increase in ethanol self-administration. Adolescent nicotine pretreatment enhanced inhibition of DA neurons and attenuated mesolimbic DA responses to ethanol, both of which are known consequences of depolarizing shifts in GABA_AR (Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). Most importantly, enhancing chloride transporter function within the VTA of adolescent nicotine-treated animals blocked the observed elevated ethanol intake during adulthood.

Although GABA_A signaling normally mediates inhibitory synaptic transmission in the adult mammalian nervous system, it can shift toward excitation under certain pathological conditions (De Koninck, 2007) and may be an important form of plasticity in adult animals (Chung, 2012; Astorga *et al.*, 2015; Doyon *et al.*, 2016). Depolarizing shifts in GABA_AR signaling correlated with prior adolescent nicotine exposure (Figure4G) and were required subsequent increased ethanol consumption (Figure 5). This form adaptation arises from compromised chloride extrusion and can be rescued using CLP290, an activator of the chloride transporter KCC2 (Gagnon *et al.*, 2013; Kaila *et al.*, 2014; Ostroumov *et al.*, 2016). Shifts toward excitatory GABA may occur elsewhere in the brain, but the increased ethanol self-administration was prevented if this shift was blocked in the VTA of nicotine-treated animals (Figure 5). Thus, adolescent nicotine induces long-lasting, adaptions in anion

homeostasis within the VTA that may serve as a gateway for subsequent pathological drug use.

Decreased DA responses to ethanol in adulthood correlated with prior adolescent nicotine exposure and altered chloride homeostasis (Figure 3). Although the DA response was not directly examined as a cause of the increased self-administration, decreases in drug reward sensitivity are often associated with compensatory increases in drug self-administration under relatively low levels of response effort (Koob & Le Moal, 2001). Others have reported that enhancing DA signaling exogenously attenuates voluntary drinking in rats (Bass *et al.*, 2013). Furthermore, the correlation between decreased ethanol-induced DA release and increased self-administration has been previously reported in rodent studies (Brodie & Appel, 2000; Ramachandra *et al.*, 2007; Doyon *et al.*, 2013a).

Comparable nicotine injections administered to adult animals failed to increase subsequent ethanol self-administration (Figure 2), suggesting that the long-lasting effects of nicotine on mesolimbic responses to alcohol are unique to the adolescent window of exposure. Other studies support the notion that nicotine exposure, particularly during adolescence, induces robust and long-lasting changes in VTA gene expression. (Doura *et al.*, 2010). Future work should determine if expression of transporters known to regulate anion homeostasis are directly affected by adolescent exposure to nicotine.

Adolescence is thought to be critical period of neural development and drug exposure during this time may induce persisting neural and behavioral alterations (Chambers *et al.*, 2003; Spear, 2016). Our study describes the adaptations that persist into adulthood following adolescent nicotine exposure. Further, we identified altered chloride

98

homeostasis as an important alteration that influences subsequent drinking in adulthood and highlights novel potential therapeutic intervention strategies. Future work should consider the involvement of chloride homeostasis in other phases of drug addiction and disorders of motivated behavior.
Figures



Figure 4.1 Adolescent nicotine increases ethanol self-administration. (A) Adolescent animals were administered daily injections of saline or nicotine from postnatal day (p) 28-42. Adult ethanol self-administration was assessed four weeks later. **(B)** Adolescent nicotine-treated rats showed greater ethanol intake compared to adolescent saline-treated controls. **Significantly different from the control group by ANOVA with repeated measures, p < 0.01, n = 7-9 per group **(C)** Mean daily ethanol intake over the first seven self-administration sessions. **Significantly different by t test, p < 0.01. **(D)** After six days of ethanol fading, intake of 8% ethanol with saccharin was significantly different by t test, p < 0.05, n = 5-8 animals per group. **(E)** After saccharin removal, intake of 8% ethanol was significantly elevated in adolescent nicotine treated animals compared to saline treated controls. The mean intake was measured over seven self-administration sessions. *Significantly elevated in adolescent nicotine treated in adolescent nicotine treated animals per group. **(E)** After saccharin removal, intake of 8% ethanol was significantly elevated in adolescent nicotine treated animals compared to saline treated controls. The mean intake was measured over seven self-administration sessions. *Significantly different by t test, p < 0.05, n = 5-8 animals per group. **(E)** After saccharin removal, intake of 8% ethanol was significantly elevated in adolescent nicotine treated animals compared to saline treated controls. The mean intake was measured over seven self-administration sessions. **Significantly different by t test, p < 0.05, n = 9-11 animals per group.



Figure 4.2 Adult nicotine does not influence subsequent ethanol selfadministration. (A) Adult animals were administered daily injections of saline or nicotine from postnatal day (p) 60-74. Adult ethanol self-administration was assessed four weeks later. (B) Average daily intake between animals treated with saline vs. nicotine during adulthood. Adult nicotine-treated animals did not drink significantly greater ethanol compared adolescent-saline treated controls, p > 0.05, n = 5, 7 per group (C) Mean daily ethanol intake over the first seven self-administration sessions. Ethanol consumption in adolescent saline control rats is shown for comparison (dotted horizontal line). Adult nicotine-treated animals (red bar) did not consume significantly more ethanol than salinetreated controls (black bar), p > 0.05, n = 5, 7 per group.



Figure 4.3 Adolescent nicotine attenuates dopamine responses to ethanol in vivo. (A) Animals were exposed to saline or nicotine throughout adolescence (p28-42) and in vivo dopamine responses to ethanol experiments were measured in adulthood. (B) Time course of DA release in the NAc measured via microdialysis following ethanol administration in saline-treated controls (black) and nicotine-treated rats (red). Ethanol (1.5 g/kg) was injected i.v. during the 5 min period (shaded vertical gray bar). *Significantly different by ANOVA with repeated measures, p < 0.05, n = 7, 9 per group. (C) Representative recordings from putative DA neurons before and after ethanol administration (0.6–1.5 g/kg) in the saline-treated (black) and nicotine-treated (red) groups. No significant differences in the mean basal firing rate were detected. (C) In saline-treated controls (black), ethanol increased the firing rate of putative DA neurons. In the nicotine-treated group (red), ethanol failed to increase the firing rate of putative DA neurons. **Significantly different from the control group by t test, p < 0.01, n = 7, 17 rats per group.



Figure 4.4 Adolescent nicotine alters GABA transmission and anion homeostasis ex vivo. (A) Animals were exposed to saline or nicotine throughout adolescence (p28-42) and in vitro electrophysiology experiments were conducted in adulthood. (B) Spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents (sIPSCs) onto VTA DA neurons were recorded using the whole-cell patch-clamp configuration. (C) Representative recordings of sIPSCs before and after ethanol administration in the saline-treated (black) and nicotine-treated (red) groups. (D) Mean changes in the sIPSC frequency after ethanol application in VTA DA neurons. DA neurons from nicotine-treated animals (red) demonstrated a significantly increased ethanol-mediated sIPSC frequency compared to neurons from saline-treated controls (black). **Significantly different from control and RU486-treated groups by t test, p < 0.01, n = 8,13 cells per group. (E) GABAergic input onto VTA GABA neurons was recorded using gramicidin perforated patches at different holding potentials to measure nicotine-induced alterations in anion homeostasis, GABAA IPSCs were evoked by electrical stimulation in the presence of DNQX, AP5, and CGP55845. (F) Representative IPSCs recordings from saline (black) and nicotine-treated (red) animals at the given holding potentials. The IPSCs reverse direction at the EGABA. For display, the traces were filtered and stimulus artifacts were removed. (G) VTA GABA neurons from nicotine-treated animals (red, **p < 0.01 by t test) demonstrated a significantly more positive E_{GABA} value compared to neurons from saline-treated control animals (black square), n = 6, 7 cells/group.



Figure 4.5 Enhancing chloride extrusion in the VTA prevents elevated intake after adolescent nicotine exposure. (A) Vehicle or CLP290 was infused bilaterally intra-VTA (45 μ M at 0.5 mL/min over 2 min) prior to the first ethanol self-administration session. (B) Average daily intake between adolescent nicotine animals treated with CLP290 or vehicle prior to self-administration. Adolescent nicotine animals that receive CLP290 rats showed reduced ethanol intake compared to adolescent nicotine animals that receive vehicle infusions and were indistinguishable from adolescent saline controls. **Significantly different by ANOVA with repeated measures, p < 0.01. (C) Mean daily ethanol intake over the first seven self-administration sessions. After CLP290 administration, adolescent nicotine animals consumed significantly less ethanol compared to the vehicle injected group (red). Ethanol consumption in adolescent saline vehicle-treated control rats is shown for comparison (dotted horizontal line). **Significantly different from the VTA vehicle group by t test, p < 0.01, n = 9–13 rats/group.

CHAPTER 5

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Alyse M. Thomas

Overview

Alcohol is the oldest and most commonly used psychoactive substance in the world (McGovern, 2009; WHO, 2014). Like other drugs of abuse, alcohol's reinforcing properties can promote pathological drinking patterns (NIAAA, 2010). The risks of excessive alcohol use include alcohol-related injury, disease, and the development of alcohol use disorders (NIAAA, 2010; WHO, 2014).

Epidemiological studies reveal that stressful conditions and tobacco use are associated with elevated alcohol consumption (Anthony & Echeagaray-Wagner, 2000; Keyes *et al.*, 2011), leading to the hypothesis that stress or nicotine promote pathological drug use via adaptions in the brain (Koob & Kreek, 2007; Spear, 2016). It is well established that alcohol, stress hormones, and nicotine act within the mesolimbic dopamine circuitry to promote behavioral reinforcement (Piazza *et al.*, 1993; Corrigall *et al.*, 1994; Gatto *et al.*, 1994; Rodd-Henricks *et al.*, 2000), implicating this region as a locus for their interaction. Based on previous work implicating glucocorticoid and nicotinic receptors in ethanol reinforcement (Ericson *et al.*, 1998; Fahlke & Hansen, 1999; Le *et al.*, 2000a; Vendruscolo *et al.*, 2012), we hypothesized that prior exposure to stress or nicotine promoted drinking via adaptations in the mesolimbic circuitry.

The findings presented in the second chapter of this thesis describe a novel mechanism by which stress hormones influence subsequent behavioral and biological responses to alcohol. Drug-naïve animals subjected to acute restraint stress subsequently showed elevated alcohol intake compared to non-stressed controls. *In vivo* microdialysis experiments revealed that stress blunted subsequent accumbal dopamine responses to alcohol via excitatory GABA transmission in the ventral tegmental area. Importantly, this study identified compromised function of the potassium chloride co-transporter KCC2 as the molecular adaptation underlying excitatory GABA transmission. Moreover, we demonstrated that excitatory GABA transmission and functional KCC2 downregulation within the mesolimbic circuitry were causally related to the observed increases in alcohol self-administration.

The third chapter demonstrated how stress hormone signaling within the ventral tegmental area may contribute to the co-use of addictive drugs like nicotine and alcohol. Exposure to acute nicotine blunted dopamine responses to alcohol and increased alcohol self-administration. Importantly, my work revealed that stress hormones acting locally within the VTA mediated this nicotine-alcohol interaction. Blocking the activation of stress hormone receptors during nicotine exposure prevented blunted dopamine responses to alcohol and normalized drinking to control. These findings reveal that nicotine recruits stress hormone pathways to promote subsequent alcohol use.

The fourth chapter described that adolescent exposure to nicotine produces long-lasting alterations in reward-related responses to alcohol, suggesting a biological mechanism through which nicotine could act as a gateway drug. Adolescent nicotine treated animals showed attenuated dopamine signaling and elevated alcohol self-administration throughout adulthood. These adaptations corresponded with depolarizing shifts in GABA

transmission and increased inhibition of dopamine neurons. Pharmacological enhancement of KCC2 restored drinking to control levels in adolescent nicotine-treated animals, suggesting that compromised chloride extrusion contributes to elevated alcohol self-administration after adolescent exposure to nicotine. Taken together, this body of work describes a previously unknown mechanism within the mesolimbic circuitry that promotes alcohol consumption after exposure to nicotine or stress.

KCC2 as a Novel Regulator of Mesolimbic Activity and Alcohol Consumption

The results presented here identify KCC2 as a regulator of mesolimbic responses to alcohol at a synaptic, cellular, circuit, and behavioral level. KCC2 is a neuron-specific chloride (CI) extruder (Payne *et al.*, 1996; Payne, 1997; Williams *et al.*, 1999; Karadsheh & Delpire, 2001) found predominantly in non-dopamine neurons of the midbrain (Gulacsi *et al.*, 2003; Taylor *et al.*, 2016) and is a critical determinant of GABA_AR synaptic responses (Chamma *et al.*, 2012; Kahle *et al.*, 2013; Kaila *et al.*, 2014). In mature neurons, internal [CI] is normally relatively low (~5 mM), which yields a hyperpolarized GABA_A reversal potential (E_{GABA}) relative to the resting membrane potential. Under these conditions, GABA_A receptor activation results in an inward CI⁻ gradient, decreasing the probability of action potential generation. However, in the context of reduced KCC2 function, even small elevations of internal [CI⁻] can produce depolarizing shifts in GABAergic responses that increase the probability of action potential generation (Raimondo, 2017). In cases of severe KCC2 downregulation, or as seen during development, excitatory GABA transmission dominates (Ben-Ari, 2002).

After exposure to stress or adolescent nicotine, we observed a depolarizing shift in GABAergic responses within VTA GABA neurons. Illustrating the dominant influence of

107

compromised chloride extrusion on cell firing properties, computational models of CA1 pyramidal neurons indicate that increasing internal [Cl⁻] by 2.5 mM generates a 40 percent increase in cellular firing rate (Saraga *et al.*, 2008). Accordingly, reduced KCC2 function and excitatory GABA transmission promoted VTA GABA neuron firing upon ethanol exposure to influence broader circuit function and behavior, as measured by *in vivo* microdialysis and operant self-administration. My results indicated that excitatory GABA transmission in the VTA blunts subsequent accumbal dopamine responses to ethanol and increases alcohol self-administration, given that blocking excitatory GABA responses with acetazolamide normalized dopamine signaling and intake levels.

Using the KCC2 agonist, CLP290, we demonstrated that increasing Cl⁻ extrusion selectively reduced alcohol intake in stress and adolescent nicotine-treated animals. Importantly, this is the first study demonstrate the efficacy of VTA infusions of CLP290 in regulating drug self-administration. This compound restores KCC2 function, thereby producing hyperpolarizing shifts in E_{GABA} (Gagnon *et al.*, 2013). Given that KCC2 is found strictly in the CNS and the extended bioavailability of the prodrug CLP290 (Gagnon *et al.*, 2013), it is reasonable to propose that this compound holds therapeutic potential. Future experiments should explore if compromised KCC2 function and altered GABA transmission contribute to other addiction phenotypes such as withdrawal and relapse.

Vulnerability to Nicotine during Adolescence

Adolescence is recognized to be a critical period of cognitive development that confers risk for drug use and addiction (Chambers *et al.*, 2003; Crews *et al.*, 2007). During this time, there is a developmental dissociation involving heightened reward processing in subcortical brain regions and diminished inhibitory control in frontal cortical areas

108

(Doremus-Fitzwater *et al.*, 2010; Casey *et al.*, 2011). Adolescents are more likely to initiate drug use than any other age group, with most smokers having their first cigarette before the age of 18 (Richter *et al.*, 2017). This early exposure to tobacco is associated with a significant risk for subsequent drug use disorders throughout adulthood (Miller & Gold, 1998; Chen *et al.*, 2002; Riala *et al.*, 2004).

Our study examined how exposure to nicotine during adolescence influenced responses to alcohol in adulthood. We identified long-lasting adaptions in VTA GABA transmission that gave rise to elevated ethanol consumption in adulthood. These effects were unique to adolescent nicotine exposure, since similar injections of nicotine in adults failed to increase subsequent ethanol self-administration. Future work should consider how such long-lasting adaptations are unique to nicotine exposure during adolescence. A related study suggests that chronic nicotine primes responses to cocaine via epigenetic mechanisms. Nicotine enhanced subsequent cocaine-induced transcriptional responses of the FosB gene through inhibition of histone deacetylase (Levine *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, recent models of chronic pain have shown epigenetic suppression of KCC2 expression through histone modification (Lin *et al.*, 2017). It would be of great interest to determine if adolescent exposure to nicotine acts through acetylation mechanisms to influence KCC2 expression and mesolimbic responses to alcohol.

Ethanol Reinforcement and the Mesolimbic Dopamine System

We showed that prior exposure to stress or nicotine promoted subsequent ethanol selfadministration and blunted dopamine responses to ethanol. Accumbal dopamine signaling is thought to mediate the positive reinforcing effects of ethanol (Berke & Hyman, 2000; Grace, 2000; Weiss & Porrino, 2002; Gonzales *et al.*, 2004; Stuber *et al.*, 2012).

109

While it is generally accepted that inhibiting dopamine neurons interrupts learning and activating dopamine neurons promotes learning (Chambers *et al.*, 2003; Steinberg *et al.*, 2013), the consequences of intermediate dopamine signaling on behavioral reinforcement have not directly been tested. Our data suggests that blunted dopamine responses elicits compensatory increases in reward-seeking behaviors. Other groups have reported similar correlations between blunted dopamine responses and elevated drinking in rodents (Brodie & Appel, 2000; Ramachandra *et al.*, 2007). Human neuroimaging studies also report that attenuated mesolimbic activity predicts problematic drug use and addiction (Volkow *et al.*, 1997; Melis *et al.*, 2005; Buchel *et al.*, 2017). Thus, dampened dopamine responses may promote drug use. To test this hypothesis, endogenous dopamine responses should first be characterized during operant self-administration, followed by direct manipulation of dopamine signaling using pharmacological or optogenetic approaches. Based off our results and others, we predict that reductions in dopamine signaling would increase ethanol intake. Alternatively, in animals previously exposed to stress or nicotine, exogenously enhancing dopamine should reduce overall consumption.

Since dopamine signaling was not causally linked to drinking in our studies, it is possible that VTA GABA transmission promotes drinking via dopaminergic as well as non-dopaminergic reward signaling pathways. Blocking GABA_A receptors in the VTA was previously shown to reduce ethanol intake in rats (Nowak *et al.*, 1998), suggesting their involvement in ethanol reinforcement. Further, non-dopaminergic pathways including the brainstem tegmental pedunculopontine nucleus have been previously reported in the context of opiate and ethanol reward (Bechara & van der Kooy, 1989; Laviolette & van der Kooy, 2001; Laviolette *et al.*, 2004; Laviolette & van der Kooy, 2004a; Ting *et al.*, 2013a; Ting *et al.*, 2013b), and are associated with depolarizing shifts in VTA GABA_A receptors

(Laviolette *et al.*, 2004). Selective manipulation of VTA GABA projections in the TPP (and other VTA GABA projection sites) during ethanol self-administration would help demonstrate an independent role for VTA GABA transmission in ethanol reward. The overarching goal of such experiments is to develop a circuit map of reward pathways underlying ethanol reinforcement.

Our studies measured ethanol-induced accumbal dopamine release using microdialysis, a technique that permits detection of dopamine levels over long timescales (i.e. minutes) (Di Chiara & Imperato, 1988; Floresco et al., 2003). Though this approach provides a useful readout of ethanol-induced dopamine signaling, conducting cyclic voltammetry experiments would permit examination of sub-second changes in dopamine firing patterns (Floresco et al., 2003; Robinson et al., 2009; Howard et al., 2011). Dopamine neurons can exhibit either single-spike or burst-firing patterns (Grace & Bunney, 1984; Samson et al., 1993; Weiss et al., 1993; Myers & Robinson, 1999; Kaczmarek & Kiefer, 2000; Czachowski et al., 2001; Hyland et al., 2002; Samson & Chappell, 2003). Salient or rewarding stimuli trigger burst firing (Hyland et al., 2002) and this signal thought to mediate reward-prediction learning (Schultz, 1998; 2007). Acting through multiple brain targets, alcohol influences dopamine firing and release over a broad timescale (Mereu et al., 1984; Imperato & Di Chiara, 1986; Yoshimoto et al., 1992; Weiss et al., 1993; Yim et al., 2000; Foddai et al., 2004; Howard et al., 2009; Robinson et al., 2009; Carrillo & Gonzales, 2011). The data we obtained with microdialysis provide a clear demonstration of differences in dopamine signaling in stressed or nicotine-treated animals compared to controls, yet these results can mask adaptations phasic dopamine release within the accumbens (Robinson et al., 2009). Thus, the application of voltammetric techniques would greatly aid the

interpretation of our results and provide a clearer picture of how dopamine responses to ethanol are altered after exposure to stress or nicotine.

Glucocorticoid receptor influence over KCC2

The observed downregulation of KCC2 was dependent on glucocorticoid receptor (GR) activation and persisted 15 hours after acute restraint stress. Similar effects were observed after 1-hour corticosterone incubation *ex vivo*. GR activation is typically associated with transcription-dependent signaling mechanisms, and GR activity could directly influence ion transport function via genomic action (Pondugula *et al.*, 2013). However, the specific intracellular signaling cascades linking VTA GR activation to altered chloride homeostasis remain unknown. It is increasingly appreciated that glucocorticoids act via both genomic and non-genomic signaling cascades (Joels & Baram, 2009; McEwen, 2012). It is hypothesized that these cascades work in concert across time: fast non-genomic modulation occurring over a timescale of seconds to minutes, followed by slower genomic modulation occurring over subsequent minutes to hours (Haller *et al.*, 2008; Teng *et al.*, 2013). Thus, adaptations in KCC2 expression following GR activation could occur through a number of signaling pathways.

The literature surrounding activity-dependent changes in KCC2 also suggests that downregulation could occur via a number of mechanisms. Activity-dependent regulation of KCC2 expression has been observed in response to long-term potentiation (Wang *et al.*, 2006), repetitive pairing of pre- and post-synaptic activities (Woodin *et al.*, 2003), repetitive post-synaptic spiking (Fiumelli *et al.*, 2005), and NMDAR activation (Kitamura *et al.*, 2008). In one study, increased cellular activity was shown to reduce KCC2 expression via endogenous BDNF–TrkB signaling (Rivera *et al.*, 2004) implicating BDNF as one possible mediator of interactions between stress hormones and KCC2.

Although initially characterized by its neurotrophic role in neuronal survival and differentiation, it is now widely accepted that BDNF acts as a neuromodulator to influence activity-dependent synaptic plasticity (Kuczewski *et al.*, 2009) and is implicated the development of drug addiction (McGough *et al.*, 2004; Nestler, 2005). Given that (i) stressful experiences are known to recruit BDNF signaling within the VTA (Berton *et al.*, 2006; Krishnan *et al.*, 2007; Fanous *et al.*, 2010; Walsh *et al.*, 2014) and that (ii) BDNF is a known modulator of KCC2 function (Rivera *et al.*, 2002; Rivera *et al.*, 2004; Wake *et al.*, 2007), it follows that stress hormones could regulate chloride homeostasis through BDNF signaling in the VTA. Future studies should therefore examine the recruitment of BDNF signaling cascades in the functional regulation of KCC2.

Multiple transcription factors, kinases, and phosphatases are known to regulate KCC2 expression (Medina *et al.*, 2014). We observed functional KCC2 downregulation via reduced phosphorylation at serine 940 (S940). Phosphorylation at S940 by protein kinase C (PKC) contributes to membrane stabilization whereas dephosphorylation by protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) contributes to membrane destabilization and endocytosis (Lee *et al.*, 2011). Recent studies have described the PKC-dependent regulation of KCC2 during physiologically relevant processes: (i) activity-dependent attenuation of KCC2 function (Fiumelli *et al.*, 2005), (ii) tonic activation of the KCC2 by group I metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluR1s) (Banke & Gegelashvili, 2008), and (iii) activation of the KCC2 via serotonin 2A receptors (Bos *et al.*, 2013). However, these studies failed to demonstrate the direct involvement of PKC over other intermediate signaling molecules. In contrast, NMDA receptor activation produced rapid, direct PP1-dependent dephosphorylation of KCC2 at S940 (Lee *et al.*, 2011). In order to confirm involvement of PKC in our study, VTA slices could be incubated in corticosterone and OKA (PP1 inhibitor) prior to western

blot analysis of KCC2 S940 phosphorylation levels. This approach represents an important next step towards a more comprehensive understanding of KCC2 regulation within the VTA after exposure to stress hormones.

Concluding Remarks

Stress and drugs of abuse create a permissive environment for cellular plasticity and behavioral adaptation. The work presented here sheds light on a novel mechanism by which stress hormones and nicotine can influence mesolimbic responses to promote alcohol consumption. Though we temporally separated stress and nicotine exposures from subsequent ethanol self-administration to permit mechanistic investigation, substantial evidence indicates that alcohol and nicotine are used together, and can independently recruit stress hormone signaling within the mesolimbic dopamine system. Upon each drug exposure, the distinct phases of intoxication and withdrawal serve as separate activators of the HPA axis and downstream corticosterone release (Ellis, 1966; Tabakoff *et al.*, 1978; Rivier *et al.*, 1984).

Given this recruitment, it should be no surprise that glucocorticoids play a role in the development of addictive phenotypes, including compulsive drinking (Vendruscolo *et al.*, 2012), cognitive deficits (Jacquot *et al.*, 2008), drug-craving (Fox *et al.*, 2007; Sinha *et al.*, 2009), and the reinstatement of drug-seeking behaviors (Simms *et al.*, 2012). Based off this literature and others, the GR antagonist mifepristone is currently being tested in humans for the treatment of alcohol dependence and withdrawal (Vendruscolo *et al.*, 2015; Donoghue *et al.*, 2016). In addition to improved addiction treatment strategies, it is imperative to bolster research efforts to determine the cause of pathological behaviors in the first place. With that effort in mind, we characterized changes in mesolimbic adaptations after exposure to stress or nicotine and identified KCC2 as a novel molecular

adaptation contributing to elevated alcohol consumption. Looking forward, the overarching goal of our work is to illuminate how environmental exposure influences brain function to promote certain behaviors, and then apply this knowledge in the treatment of mental health disorders.

APPENDIX

Accumbal Cannulation and Jugular Catheterization Surgery Protocol

Surgery setup

- 1. Turn on germinator one hour before and autoclave tools
- 2. Check anesthesia/O2 levels
- 3. Xylocaine
- 4. Ketoprofen
- 5. Sodium chloride
- 6. Iodine with non-sterile qtips dipped
- 7. Sterile qtips
- 8. Diapers
- 9. Drape
- 10. Paper towels with dry qtip
- 11. Thermometer with heating pad
- 12. Ear bars in EtOH then allow to air dry
- 13. Nair
- 14. Cauterizer
- 15. EtOH spray bottle
- 16. Surgical tools
- 17. Drill bit
- 18. 5-0 suture thread
- 19. Catheter tube (**run with ethanol then fill with saline/heparin in 1mL syringe and spray entire thing with ethanol)
- 20. Giant screw, catheter cap, cannula, 3 small screws in Ethanol

Animal Prep

- 1. Weigh animal
- 2. Isoflurane Anesthesia to 4 to put animal down then turn to 2-2.5
- 3. Once down move to heating blanket (Do not turn on yet)
- 4. Place tube around mouth
- 5. Put gel on eyes
- 6. Apply nair
 - a. Remove hair using qtips and wipes
 - b. Apply iodine

Surgery: Part 1 Vertical cut and catheter implantation

- 1. Cut vertical line down to skull with the scalpel
- 2. Place qtip over cut and then lay down a wipe as you turn animal over

- 3. Turn heating blanket on but be sure it is only warming upper portion of animals body
- 4. Apply nair to pulse
 - a. Remove hair with qtips and wipes
 - b. Add iodine
- 5. Pull skin in center of pulse
 - a. Pull skin up and cut a small bit of skin off
 - b. Using two teethed forceps, tear away outer tough tissue and then inner fatty tissue until you reach a blood vessel that is closely associated to muscle.
 - c. Using the forceps to grab a piece of muscle, pull away the tissue from the vein. Do this until you are able to pinch the forceps under the vessel. Do not hesitate to use force or pull away more tissue. (The main concern is that we do not damage the vein)
 - d. Once the vein is out on the forceps, put saline on the scoopula and place it under the vein
- 6. Cut partially with scissors
 - a. Insert end of catheter tube into the hole
 - b. Once this is done, suck up blood to ensure you are inside the vein and then inject a small amount of saline (yellow tipped catheter)
- 7. With suture thread do 2 horizontal knots (3-4 per knot), leaving tails. Then do 2 diagonal knots (3-4/knot)
 - a. Inject saline each time
- 8. Dry off and add cement
 - a. Wait until it takes form and then push off the scoopula and back into skin
 - b. Inject saline
- 9. Carefully turn animal over and use clamp scissors to enter back of vertical cut and stay close to skin as you directly move toward catheter line
 - a. Place cannula cap up into the clamp and pull back through the scalp just until the tube disappears from the chest.
- 10. Turn animal back over and suture
 - a. Inject .1 mL antibiotics and finish several knots until skin is taught
 - b. Add iodine
- 11. Set up stereotaxic apparatus
 - a. Place front teeth in slot and secure nose bar
 - b. Set up ear bars so that each side is approximately 7-8 and is flat in line with edges
 - c. Feel head to be sure it is stable and secure
 - d. Tape down drape
 - e. Apply iodine
- 12. Scrape skill until lambda and bregma are visible
 - a. Scrape to the outer lip

- b. Scratch skull surface
- c. Cauterize bleeding spots
- d. Clamp down inner layer
- e. Inject epinephrine superficially
- 13. Check anesthesia
- 14. Drill 3 holes in 3 zones of brain (UL,LL,LR) leaving room for cannula wire to wrap around small screw and the big screw
- 15. Use tweezers to hold circular shaft of screw as you turn it and add pressure
 - a. Screw in until it no longer wobbles
- 16. Define bregma coordinates
 - a. Make sure anterior to posterior is flat
 - b. Draw line to connect posterior lambda with anterior suture
 - c. Once you have bregma location write down coordinates
 - i. Front/back (A/P) = 19.0 + 1.4 = 20.4
 - ii. Left/right (M/L) = 18.0 + 1.1 = 19.1
 - iii. Up/down (D/C) = 24.5 4.0 = 20.5
- 17. Draw circle around correct nucleus accumbens location and then a middle point and drill using larger drill bit
 - a. once hole is drilled, make sure cannula can enter without touching bone because it will bend
 - i. Slowly go down to coordinate (2 units at a time)
 - ii. Use qtip torn off to prevent bleeding and leave it until bleeding stops
- 18. Add ointment to skin where cement will go over near catheter cannula
- 19. Tape the catheter cannula up in preferred orientation and glue down the big screw
 - a. Again ensure skull is dry and clean
- 20. Add cement to secure the screw and the probes and remove the qtip
 - a. Minimize sutures by filling all gaps with cement
 - b. Pull skin out as glue takes form
 - c. Once dry undo clamps and pull skin up
- 21. Inject gentamicin antibiotic: 2 drops front and back
- 22. Suture
 - a. Add iodine
 - b. Flush more saline then wait and take off tube and place cap on
- 23. Inject timentin intravenously
- 24. Turn down isoflurane to 1.5 and allow animal to wake up, monitor until awake
- 25. Inject ketoprofen
- 26. Return animal to home
- 27. Clean tools

Microdialysis Probe Protocol

- 1) Start with a clean surface and replace desk covering if necessary
- 2) Cut fused-silica:
 - a) Two 35 cm pieces for the inlet and outlet (Polymicro technologies: ID~40, OD~100)
 - b) Use scoring or glass surface to ensure precision cuts
 - i) Use a new razor blade to make cross-sectional cuts in the silica. Around a glass bottle, hold silica down firmly with your thumb and index finger so that there is no slack in the section you are interested in cutting. Score silica by gently moving across it in a left to right motion.
 - c) Verify that silica has been cut flush at the ends using a microscope. Jagged or crushed ends may lead to fluid blockage within the probe.
 - d) Place any shards of broken silica in the sharps container for disposal
- 3) Prepare connector:
 - a) Supplies
 - i) Two-pronged solid state connectors (use recycled ones first)
 - (1) Inspect connectors for overall quality (no loose pieces).
 - (2) Clearance through one prong must be open for silica passage
 - ii) 8 mm guide cannula
 - iii) Glass beaker
 - iv) Mounting putty on clear box
 - v) 6 mm pieces of medium tygon tubing (Norton performance plastics ID~0.020 OD~0.060)
- 4) Assemble connectors:
 - a) Slip a 6 mm piece of medium tygon tubing over the OPEN silver prong of the connector (before inserting fused-silica).
 - b) Screw guide cannula into connector so that it fits snug. Be mindful of an under-torqued guide cannula as this will result in inaccurate probe placement *in vivo*.
 - c) Mount the connector-guide cannula unit onto clear box using mounting putty to secure it from moving.
 - d) Thread the two 35 mm pieces of fused silica through the connector and guide cannula unit.
 - e) Check quality of silica through microscope and cut again if necessary.
- 5) Calibrate microscope using a 2 mm calibrating slide
 - a) 42 r.u. = 2 mm and 84 r.u. = 4 mm; reticular units are fixed within the eyepiece of the scope.
- 6) Align silica
 - a) Mount threaded connectors under the scope so that the end of the guide cannula is at the zero point of the reticular scale.
 - b) Adjust the inlet so that it extends 4 mm (or 84 r.u.) past the end of the cannula.
 - Adjust the outlet so that it extends 2 mm (or 42 r.u.) past the end of the cannula.
 Advice: adjusting one piece of silica tends to move the other piece simultaneously. To avoid this twist the silica as you are adjusting it.
- 7) Once silica are positioned precisely, pipette a small amount of superglue into the medium tygon tubing in which the silica are surrounded in order to permanently fixate the silica at

their respective positions. Caution: do not pipette excess superglue into the tygon tubing. This may result in glue reaching the prong of the connector and clogging it, thereby making future reuse impossible.

- 8) Sheath the exposed silica (this includes two junctions and Tygon covering)
 - a) Supplies
 - i) Two sample vials
 - ii) Two \approx 12 cm of medium Tygon tubing
 - iii) One \approx 15 cm piece of large Tygon tubing
 - iv) Blue-handled wire cutting pliers
 - b) Assembly of first juncture
 - i) Take two sample vials and cut 3 mm off the tip and 1 cm off the rim of each with pliers. Advice: after cutting the tip make sure that a piece of large Tygon tubing is able to fit snug through it. This will make the gluing process easier.
 - ii) Cut one 15 cm piece of large Tygon tubing.
 - iii) Thread both silica (inlet and outlet) through a shortened sample vial (rim end first) until it reaches the silver prongs of the connector. This will serve as the first junction.
 - iv) Thread both silica (inlet and outlet) through the 15 cm piece of large Tygon tubing, pushing the tubing 3-4 mm through the cut end of the already inserted sample vial.
- 9) Mount probes vertically for gluing.
 - a) Fix juncture to silica and tubing using clear DEVCON 5-min epoxy. A needle or toothpick is useful for entombing the sample vial with epoxy.
 - b) Caution: (1) connector must be able to turn in order to function, so it cannot be covered with epoxy at its base. Do not fix connector too close to the juncture. (2) 5-min epoxy solidifies fairly quickly so only mix small amounts at one time. (3) Ideally the entire juncture should be filled with glue.
 - c) Allow juncture to dry for 15 min.
- 10) Assembly of second juncture
 - a) Cut two pieces of medium Tygon tubing, the lengths of which should be cut so that they are shorter than the exposed silica (inlet beginning and outlet end).
 - b) Thread both silica (inlet and outlet) through a shortened sample vial (tip end first) until it reaches the large Tygon tubing. Push the tubing 3-4 mm through the sample vial as mentioned before. This will serve as the second junction.
 - c) Thread each silica through its pre-measured piece of Tygon tubing until the tubing reaches the second junction.
 - d) Mount probes vertically but upside down from before.
 - e) Fix juncture to silica and tubing using clear DEVCON 5-min epoxy. Again, a needle or toothpick is useful for entombing the sample vial with epoxy.
 - f) Once you have entombed the juncture about half way, push down the two pieces of Tygon tubing into the juncture and continue filling with glue until the entire juncture has been filled with glue
- 11) Construct inlets:
 - a) Gather metal pieces from small parts drawer (an 8 mm 30G and a 5 mm 22G).
 - b) Verify that silica fits through the thin long metal tube and that this tube fits through the shorter fatter metal tube.

- c) Score the outside surface of the thin long metal tube with a metal file; this facilitates its adhesion to the short tube.
- d) Mount the two metal tubes on putty as they would appear in final form.
- e) Load a P20 (pipette tip) with superglue, and viewing through a microscope, glue the two metal pieces together. Superglue should be sucked up between the pieces by capillary action.
- f) Repeat 2-3 times on each end to completely fill, making sure that glue is not bulging outward
- g) Allow to dry in oven for 24 hr
- 12) Attach inlet to probe
 - a) Thread previously constructed inlets (see step 4) through exposed silica inlet. Advice: be sure to leave at least a few cm of exposed silica beyond the metal inlet. Silica must be cut to fit later.
 - b) Apply DEVCON 5-min epoxy around the end of the metal inlet to be connected.
 - c) With one set of hemostats grip the metal inlet and with your hands grip the medium Tygon tubing in which the metal inlet will enter.
 - d) Push together so that metal inlet is inserted partially into tubing. Caution: do not force the metal inlet into the tubing. This could bend the silica beyond its limits, causing it to break. This is an easy way to ruin a probe and make your life miserable.
 - e) Allow 15 min to dry.
 - f) Under a microscope, pipette a small amount of superglue to the very end of the metal inlet. Glue should only be applied between the exposed silica and the thin metal tube of the inlet. Caution: do not apply superglue beyond the tip of the thin metal tube. Superglue-covered silica does not cut in a flush manner.
 - g) Allow to dry for 15 min
 - h) Cut the extending silica piece very carefully so that it extends approximately 2 mm past the thin metal inlet. Use the same technique for cutting silica as in step 2. Advice: it is important that these cuts are clean. So give yourself some room for error if you happen to be forced to re-do the cut.
 - i) Slide a 1-3 cm piece of medium tygon tubing over the trimmed silica and metal inlet.
- 13) Cover outlet for later use
 - a) Cut the very tip off of a pipette tip with wire cutting pliers and fit it into a sample tube.
 - b) Thread the exposed outlet silica through the pipette tip so that it touches, but is not mashed against, the bottom of the sample tube.
 - c) Wrap the bottom of the pipette tip with tape to secure it from moving. The attached sample tube will serve as a collection point during dialysis.
- 14) Fix membrane
 - a) Remove guide cannula from connector.
 - b) Use tweezers with plastic tips to pick up sealed membranes (see step 3). Advice: pick up membranes close to their middle. If you pick up a membrane close to its end you may risk permanently closing it or compromising its ability to house the silica.
 - c) Carefully slide each piece of silica (inlet end first and outlet second) into the membrane.
 - i) Advice: use a second set of tweezers to hold the silica on the opposite side of the membrane to prevent it from moving or bowing while you are working.
 - ii) Advice: use a microscope to do this.
 - iii) Advice: moisten membrane and tweezers with water to expand membrane

- 15) Under the scope, adjust the membrane so that it is 4-5 r.u. from the glue that seals the tip of the membrane.
- 16) Under the scope, use a needle or toothpick to coat the silica and part of the membrane with DEVCON 2-ton epoxy. Coat of glue should be applied to the silica approximately 1 cm from the connector and up to, but NO FURTHER than, the outlet silica (the shorter piece of silica) within the membrane.
 - a) Caution: coat of epoxy should completely surround the silica and membrane, but should only be thinly applied. Any bulging epoxy that is not removed may interfere with probe entry into the guide cannula *in vivo*.
- 17) Seal membranes: Spectra/Por (#132 28)
 - a) Place a roll of scotch tape on a glass slide as a base for the membranes to rest upon.
 - b) Use special scissors and tweezers with plastic tips when handling membranes so as not to damage them.
 - c) Membrane should extend 3-4 mm past tape end.
 - d) Use DEVCON 2-ton white epoxy to seal ends.
 - e) Viewing through a scope, use a needle to plug membrane opening with epoxy.
 - f) Dab the opening of membrane with a small amount of epoxy and pull back. Caution: epoxy is easily taken up by the membrane via capillary action. Plug should only be 4-5 r.u. in thickness from the tip of the membrane.
 - g) Allow epoxy to dry 24 hrs in sealed container to prevent contamination.
- 18) Store finished probes in a sealed container and if possible away from people

Microdialysis Protocol

<u>Day 1</u>

- 1. Print microdialysis sheets
- 2. Mark down ID of all instruments
- 3. Put springe around ejection valve and tubing from swivel
- 4. Spray 70% EtOH on frame and connect sprayed probe to swivel
- 5. Get pump syringe and wash 2x with HPLC water test after making acsf
- 6. Fill with HPLC water, no bubbles
 - a. Set flow to 2 ul/min and diameter to 4.61
- 7. Make acsf (add glucose and aa each day!) and filter
- 8. Check flow rate after 30 minutes
 - a. 9.7 ul and up ok
- 9. Use 7ml acsf (wash 2x then fill tube with acsf)
- 10. Get bedding
- 11. Inject animals with saline to habituate
- 12. Implant probe
 - a. Bring pump/frame, Diaper, anesthesia tube, iv tube filled with saline, kim wipe
 - b. Cut tape so that you have 3 narrow 3 thicker pieces
 - c. Weigh animal
 - d. Put down using 4 percent anesthesia
 - e. Infuse .4ml saline, use rest to clean out the canulla
 - f. First put the spring on and screw down being sure that nothing touches the probe
 - g. Then holding top of the probe attachment to the spring, do ½ turn every 30 seconds
 - h. When it feels tight release connection and do one final turn
 - i. Tape at all joints so that animal cannot split tube/spring
 - j. Take note of when anesthesia turned off and when animal turns up
- 13. Turn flow rate down
- 14. TURN OFF OXYGEN
- 15. Injection 15 hours prior to start of experiment
 - a. .4 mg/kg so for a 400 kg animal inject .4 mL

<u>Day 2</u>

- 1. Refill tube with ascf being careful to leave no bubbles in the line
- 2. Turn flow rate up and allow 2 hrs to equilibrate in brain
- 3. Check flow rate after 30 minutes
- 4. Habituation injection of saline asap (us EtOH mg/kg sheet to determine injection amount and weight then refill and reconnect line with ethanol solution)
- 5. Prepare dry ice and baggie and tubes to collect samples
- 6. Upon completion of ethanol infusion, remove tubing and recap cannula

Mobile Phase Recipe

Materials: 2L graduated cyclinder 500 mL graduated cylinder Citric acid Monosodium phosphate EDTA Sodium dodecyl phosphate Acetonitrile Methanol

- 1. Wash graduated cylinder 3x tap water 3x deionized water and 1x hplc water
- 2. In 1600 mL HPLC water measure the following:
- 1.68 g citric acid (mw 210.15) 27.6 g NaH2PO4 (mw 137.99) 0.1461 g EDTA (mw 292.2) 1.903 g CH3(CH2)11OSO3Na (mw 288.18)
- Adjust buffer pH to 5.8 using NaOH (4g NaOH in 10 mL H20) adding ~ 4 mL to bring pH from 3.6-5.8
- 4. Add 350 mL acetonitrile to the final bottle using marked graduated cylinder
- 5. Add 120 mL methanol
- 6. Set up vacuum. Put stir bar in final bottle. Pour liquid. Turn gas on. Stir and degass for 10-15 minutes by placing wet paper towels between lid and plastic filter cup.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbey, A., Smith, M.J. & Scott, R.O. (1993) The relationship between reasons for drinking alcohol and alcohol consumption: an interactional approach. *Addict Behav*, **18**, 659-670.
- Adriani, W., Deroche-Gamonet, V., Le Moal, M., Laviola, G. & Piazza, P.V. (2006) Preexposure during or following adolescence differently affects nicotine-rewarding properties in adult rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **184**, 382-390.
- Adriani, W., Spijker, S., Deroche-Gamonet, V., Laviola, G., Le Moal, M., Smit, A.B. & Piazza, P.V. (2003) Evidence for enhanced neurobehavioral vulnerability to nicotine during periadolescence in rats. *J Neurosci*, 23, 4712-4716.
- Ahmed, S.H. & Koob, G.F. (1999) Long-lasting increase in the set point for cocaine selfadministration after escalation in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **146**, 303-312.
- Aistrup, G.L., Marszalec, W. & Narahashi, T. (1999) Ethanol modulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor currents in cultured cortical neurons. *Mol Pharmacol*, **55**, 39-49.
- Al-Rejaie, S. & Dar, M.S. (2006) Behavioral interaction between nicotine and ethanol: possible modulation by mouse cerebellar glutamate. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **30**, 1223-1233.
- Albeck, D.S., Hastings, N.B. & McEwen, B.S. (1994) Effects of adrenalectomy and type I or type II glucocorticoid receptor activation on AVP and CRH mRNA in the rat hypothalamus. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, **26**, 129-134.
- Alfonso-Loeches, S. & Guerri, C. (2011) Molecular and behavioral aspects of the actions of alcohol on the adult and developing brain. *Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci*, **48**, 19-47.
- Andersen, S.L. (2003) Trajectories of brain development: point of vulnerability or window of opportunity? *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **27**, 3-18.
- Anthony, J.C. & Echeagaray-Wagner, F. (2000) Epidemiologic analysis of alcohol and tobacco use. *Alcohol Res Health*, **24**, 201-208.
- Armario, A. (2010) Activation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis by addictive drugs: different pathways, common outcome. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **31**, 318-325.

- Astorga, G., Bao, J., Marty, A., Augustine, G.J., Franconville, R., Jalil, A., Bradley, J. & Llano, I. (2015) An excitatory GABA loop operating in vivo. *Front Cell Neurosci*, **9**, 275.
- Ayer, L.A., Harder, V.S., Rose, G.L. & Helzer, J.E. (2011) Drinking and stress: an examination of sex and stressor differences using IVR-based daily data. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, **115**, 205-212.
- Baler, R.D. & Volkow, N.D. (2011) Addiction as a systems failure: focus on adolescence and smoking. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, **50**, 329-339.
- Banke, T.G. & Gegelashvili, G. (2008) Tonic activation of group I mGluRs modulates inhibitory synaptic strength by regulating KCC2 activity. *J Physiol*, **586**, 4925-4934.
- Barrett, S.P., Tichauer, M., Leyton, M. & Pihl, R.O. (2006) Nicotine increases alcohol selfadministration in non-dependent male smokers. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, **81**, 197-204.
- Barrot, M., Marinelli, M., Abrous, D.N., Rouge-Pont, F., Le Moal, M. & Piazza, P.V. (2000) The dopaminergic hyper-responsiveness of the shell of the nucleus accumbens is hormonedependent. *Eur J Neurosci*, **12**, 973-979.
- Bass, C.E., Grinevich, V.P., Gioia, D., Day-Brown, J.D., Bonin, K.D., Stuber, G.D., Weiner, J.L. & Budygin, E.A. (2013) Optogenetic stimulation of VTA dopamine neurons reveals that tonic but not phasic patterns of dopamine transmission reduce ethanol selfadministration. *Front Behav Neurosci*, 7, 173.
- Batel, P., Pessione, F., Maitre, C. & Rueff, B. (1995) Relationship between alcohol and tobacco dependencies among alcoholics who smoke. *Addiction*, **90**, 977-980.
- Beato, M. & Sanchez-Pacheco, A. (1996) Interaction of steroid hormone receptors with the transcription initiation complex. *Endocr Rev*, **17**, 587-609.
- Bechara, A. & van der Kooy, D. (1989) The tegmental pedunculopontine nucleus: a brain-stem output of the limbic system critical for the conditioned place preferences produced by morphine and amphetamine. *J Neurosci*, **9**, 3400-3409.
- Becker, H.C., Lopez, M.F. & Doremus-Fitzwater, T.L. (2011) Effects of stress on alcohol drinking: a review of animal studies. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **218**, 131-156.

- Ben-Ari, Y. (2002) Excitatory actions of gaba during development: the nature of the nurture. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **3**, 728-739.
- Berke, J.D. & Hyman, S.E. (2000) Addiction, dopamine, and the molecular mechanisms of memory. *Neuron*, **25**, 515-532.
- Berton, O., McClung, C.A., Dileone, R.J., Krishnan, V., Renthal, W., Russo, S.J., Graham, D., Tsankova, N.M., Bolanos, C.A., Rios, M., Monteggia, L.M., Self, D.W. & Nestler, E.J. (2006) Essential role of BDNF in the mesolimbic dopamine pathway in social defeat stress. *Science*, **311**, 864-868.
- Bito-Onon, J.J., Simms, J.A., Chatterjee, S., Holgate, J. & Bartlett, S.E. (2011) Varenicline, a partial agonist at neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, reduces nicotine-induced increases in 20% ethanol operant self-administration in Sprague-Dawley rats. Addict Biol, 16, 440-449.
- Bobo, J.K. & Husten, C. (2000) Sociocultural influences on smoking and drinking. *Alcohol Res Health*, **24**, 225-232.
- Boileau, I., Assaad, J.M., Pihl, R.O., Benkelfat, C., Leyton, M., Diksic, M., Tremblay, R.E. & Dagher,
 A. (2003) Alcohol promotes dopamine release in the human nucleus accumbens.
 Synapse, 49, 226-231.
- Borghese, C.M., Wang, L., Bleck, V. & Harris, R.A. (2003) Mutation in neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes blocks ethanol action. *Addict Biol*, 8, 313-318.
- Bos, R., Sadlaoud, K., Boulenguez, P., Buttigieg, D., Liabeuf, S., Brocard, C., Haase, G., Bras, H. & Vinay, L. (2013) Activation of 5-HT2A receptors upregulates the function of the neuronal K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **110**, 348-353.
- Boyle, A.E., Segal, R., Smith, B.R. & Amit, Z. (1993) Bidirectional effects of GABAergic agonists and antagonists on maintenance of voluntary ethanol intake in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 46, 179-182.
- Boyle, A.E., Smith, B.R., Spivak, K. & Amit, Z. (1994) Voluntary ethanol consumption in rats: the importance of the exposure paradigm in determining final intake outcome. *Behav Pharmacol*, 5, 502-512.

- Brodie, M.S. & Appel, S.B. (1998) The effects of ethanol on dopaminergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area studied with intracellular recording in brain slices. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 22, 236-244.
- Brodie, M.S. & Appel, S.B. (2000) Dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area of C57BL/6J and DBA/2J mice differ in sensitivity to ethanol excitation. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 24, 1120-1124.
- Brown, M.T., Tan, K.R., O'Connor, E.C., Nikonenko, I., Muller, D. & Luscher, C. (2012) Ventral tegmental area GABA projections pause accumbal cholinergic interneurons to enhance associative learning. *Nature*, **492**, 452-456.
- Brunell, S.C. & Spear, L.P. (2005) Effect of stress on the voluntary intake of a sweetened ethanol solution in pair-housed adolescent and adult rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **29**, 1641-1653.
- Brunzell, D.H., Chang, J.R., Schneider, B., Olausson, P., Taylor, J.R. & Picciotto, M.R. (2006) beta2-Subunit-containing nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are involved in nicotine-induced increases in conditioned reinforcement but not progressive ratio responding for food in C57BL/6 mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **184**, 328-338.
- Buchel, C., Peters, J., Banaschewski, T., Bokde, A.L., Bromberg, U., Conrod, P.J., Flor, H., Papadopoulos, D., Garavan, H., Gowland, P., Heinz, A., Walter, H., Ittermann, B., Mann, K., Martinot, J.L., Paillere-Martinot, M.L., Nees, F., Paus, T., Pausova, Z., Poustka, L., Rietschel, M., Robbins, T.W., Smolka, M.N., Gallinat, J., Schumann, G., Knutson, B. & consortium, I. (2017) Blunted ventral striatal responses to anticipated rewards foreshadow problematic drug use in novelty-seeking adolescents. *Nat Commun*, 8, 14140.
- Bullock, A.E., Clark, A.L., Grady, S.R., Robinson, S.F., Slobe, B.S., Marks, M.J. & Collins, A.C. (1997) Neurosteroids modulate nicotinic receptor function in mouse striatal and thalamic synaptosomes. J Neurochem, 68, 2412-2423.
- Butts, K.A., Weinberg, J., Young, A.H. & Phillips, A.G. (2011) Glucocorticoid receptors in the prefrontal cortex regulate stress-evoked dopamine efflux and aspects of executive function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **108**, 18459-18464.
- Cadepond, F., Ulmann, A. & Baulieu, E.E. (1997) RU486 (mifepristone): mechanisms of action and clinical uses. *Annu Rev Med*, **48**, 129-156.

- Caggiula, A.R., Donny, E.C., Epstein, L.H., Sved, A.F., Knopf, S., Rose, C., McAllister, C.G., Antelman, S.M. & Perkins, K.A. (1998) The role of corticosteroids in nicotine's physiological and behavioral effects. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, **23**, 143-159.
- Calabresi, P., Lacey, M.G. & North, R.A. (1989) Nicotinic excitation of rat ventral tegmental neurones in vitro studied by intracellular recording. *Br J Pharmacol*, **98**, 135-140.
- Cappell, H. & Herman, C.P. (1972) Alcohol and tension reduction. A review. *Q J Stud Alcohol*, **33**, 33-64.
- Cardoso, R.A., Brozowski, S.J., Chavez-Noriega, L.E., Harpold, M., Valenzuela, C.F. & Harris, R.A. (1999) Effects of ethanol on recombinant human neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **289**, 774-780.
- Carmody, T.P., Brischetto, C.S., Matarazzo, J.D., O'Donnell, R.P. & Connor, W.E. (1985) Cooccurrent use of cigarettes, alcohol, and coffee in healthy, community-living men and women. *Health Psychol*, **4**, 323-335.
- Carney, M.A., Armeli, S., Tennen, H., Affleck, G. & O'Neil, T.P. (2000) Positive and negative daily events, perceived stress, and alcohol use: a diary study. *J Consult Clin Psychol*, 68, 788-798.
- Carr, D.B. & Sesack, S.R. (2000) GABA-containing neurons in the rat ventral tegmental area project to the prefrontal cortex. *Synapse*, **38**, 114-123.
- Carrillo, J. & Gonzales, R.A. (2011) A single exposure to voluntary ethanol self-administration produces adaptations in ethanol consumption and accumbal dopamine signaling. *Alcohol*, **45**, 559-566.
- Casey, A. (1960) The effect of stress on the consumption of alcohol and reserpine. *Q J Stud Alcohol*, **21**, 208-216.
- Casey, B., Jones, R.M. & Somerville, L.H. (2011) Braking and Accelerating of the Adolescent Brain. J Res Adolesc, **21**, 21-33.
- Cavazos-Rehg, P.A., Krauss, M.J., Sowles, S.J. & Bierut, L.J. (2015) "Hey Everyone, I'm Drunk." An Evaluation of Drinking-Related Twitter Chatter. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*, **76**, 635-643.

- Chambers, R.A., Taylor, J.R. & Potenza, M.N. (2003) Developmental neurocircuitry of motivation in adolescence: a critical period of addiction vulnerability. *Am J Psychiatry*, **160**, 1041-1052.
- Chamma, I., Chevy, Q., Poncer, J.C. & Levi, S. (2012) Role of the neuronal K-Cl co-transporter KCC2 in inhibitory and excitatory neurotransmission. *Front Cell Neurosci*, **6**, 5.
- Chen, X., Unger, J.B., Palmer, P., Weiner, M.D., Johnson, C.A., Wong, M.M. & Austin, G. (2002) Prior cigarette smoking initiation predicting current alcohol use: evidence for a gateway drug effect among California adolescents from eleven ethnic groups. *Addict Behav*, 27, 799-817.
- Chergui, K., Suaud-Chagny, M.F. & Gonon, F. (1994) Nonlinear relationship between impulse flow, dopamine release and dopamine elimination in the rat brain in vivo. *Neuroscience*, 62, 641-645.
- Chester, J.A. & Cunningham, C.L. (2002) GABA(A) receptor modulation of the rewarding and aversive effects of ethanol. *Alcohol*, **26**, 131-143.
- Christensen, P.G.H., L; Roberts, D. F. (2000) Substance use in popular primetime television. *Washington, DC: Office of National Drug Control Policy*.
- Chung, L. (2012) Recent progress in GABAergic excitation from mature brain. *Arch Pharm Res*, **35**, 2035-2044.
- Cole, G., Tucker, L. & Friedman, G.M. (1990) Relationships among measures of alcohol drinking behavior, life-events and perceived stress. *Psychol Rep*, **67**, 587-591.
- Conger, J.J. (1956) Alcoholism: theory, problem and challenge. II. Reinforcement theory and the dynamics of alcoholism. *Q J Stud Alcohol*, **17**, 296-305.
- Cook, J.B., Werner, D.F., Maldonado-Devincci, A.M., Leonard, M.N., Fisher, K.R., O'Buckley, T.K., Porcu, P., McCown, T.J., Besheer, J., Hodge, C.W. & Morrow, A.L. (2014) Overexpression of the steroidogenic enzyme cytochrome P450 side chain cleavage in the ventral tegmental area increases 3alpha,5alpha-THP and reduces long-term operant ethanol self-administration. J Neurosci, 34, 5824-5834.

- Corrigall, W.A., Coen, K.M. & Adamson, K.L. (1994) Self-administered nicotine activates the mesolimbic dopamine system through the ventral tegmental area. *Brain Res*, 653, 278-284.
- Coull, J.A., Boudreau, D., Bachand, K., Prescott, S.A., Nault, F., Sik, A., De Koninck, P. & De Koninck, Y. (2003) Trans-synaptic shift in anion gradient in spinal lamina I neurons as a mechanism of neuropathic pain. *Nature*, **424**, 938-942.
- Counotte, D.S., Spijker, S., Van de Burgwal, L.H., Hogenboom, F., Schoffelmeer, A.N., De Vries, T.J., Smit, A.B. & Pattij, T. (2009) Long-lasting cognitive deficits resulting from adolescent nicotine exposure in rats. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **34**, 299-306.
- Covernton, P.J. & Connolly, J.G. (1997) Differential modulation of rat neuronal nicotinic receptor subtypes by acute application of ethanol. *Br J Pharmacol*, **122**, 1661-1668.
- Crews, F., He, J. & Hodge, C. (2007) Adolescent cortical development: a critical period of vulnerability for addiction. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **86**, 189-199.
- Critchlow, B. (1986) The powers of John Barleycorn. Beliefs about the effects of alcohol on social behavior. *Am Psychol*, **41**, 751-764.
- Cross, S.J., Lotfipour, S. & Leslie, F.M. (2017) Mechanisms and genetic factors underlying co-use of nicotine and alcohol or other drugs of abuse. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*, **43**, 171-185.
- Czachowski, C.L., Chappell, A.M. & Samson, H.H. (2001) Effects of raclopride in the nucleus accumbens on ethanol seeking and consumption. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **25**, 1431-1440.
- Dani, J.A. & Bertrand, D. (2007) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors and nicotinic cholinergic mechanisms of the central nervous system. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, **47**, 699-729.
- Dani, J.A. & Harris, R.A. (2005) Nicotine addiction and comorbidity with alcohol abuse and mental illness. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 1465-1470.
- Dao, J.M., McQuown, S.C., Loughlin, S.E., Belluzzi, J.D. & Leslie, F.M. (2011) Nicotine alters limbic function in adolescent rat by a 5-HT1A receptor mechanism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **36**, 1319-1331.

- Dawson, D.A., Grant, B.F. & Ruan, W.J. (2005) The association between stress and drinking: modifying effects of gender and vulnerability. *Alcohol Alcohol*, **40**, 453-460.
- De Biasi, M. & Dani, J.A. (2011) Reward, addiction, withdrawal to nicotine. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, **34**, 105-130.
- De Koninck, Y. (2007) Altered chloride homeostasis in neurological disorders: a new target. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, **7**, 93-99.
- Degenhardt, L., Dierker, L., Chiu, W.T., Medina-Mora, M.E., Neumark, Y., Sampson, N., Alonso, J., Angermeyer, M., Anthony, J.C., Bruffaerts, R., de Girolamo, G., de Graaf, R., Gureje, O., Karam, A.N., Kostyuchenko, S., Lee, S., Lepine, J.P., Levinson, D., Nakamura, Y., Posada-Villa, J., Stein, D., Wells, J.E. & Kessler, R.C. (2010) Evaluating the drug use "gateway" theory using cross-national data: consistency and associations of the order of initiation of drug use among participants in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, **108**, 84-97.
- DeTurck, K.H. & Vogel, W.H. (1982) Effects of acute ethanol on plasma and brain catecholamine levels in stressed and unstressed rats: evidence for an ethanol-stress interaction. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 223, 348-354.
- Di Chiara, G. (2000) Role of dopamine in the behavioural actions of nicotine related to addiction. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **393**, 295-314.
- Di Chiara, G. & Imperato, A. (1988) Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **85**, 5274-5278.
- DiFranza, J.R. & Guerrera, M.P. (1990) Alcoholism and smoking. J Stud Alcohol, 51, 130-135.
- Dobi, A., Margolis, E.B., Wang, H.L., Harvey, B.K. & Morales, M. (2010) Glutamatergic and nonglutamatergic neurons of the ventral tegmental area establish local synaptic contacts with dopaminergic and nondopaminergic neurons. *J Neurosci*, **30**, 218-229.
- Dong, Y., Zhang, T., Li, W., Doyon, W.M. & Dani, J.A. (2010) Route of nicotine administration influences in vivo dopamine neuron activity: habituation, needle injection, and cannula infusion. J Mol Neurosci, 40, 164-171.

- Donoghue, K., Rose, A., Coulton, S., Milward, J., Reed, K., Drummond, C. & Little, H. (2016) Double-blind, 12 month follow-up, placebo-controlled trial of mifepristone on cognition in alcoholics: the MIFCOG trial protocol. *BMC Psychiatry*, **16**, 40.
- Donovan, D., Mattson, M.E., Cisler, R.A., Longabaugh, R. & Zweben, A. (2005) Quality of life as an outcome measure in alcoholism treatment research. J Stud Alcohol Suppl, 119-139; discussion 192-113.
- Dopico, A.M. & Lovinger, D.M. (2009) Acute alcohol action and desensitization of ligand-gated ion channels. *Pharmacol Rev*, **61**, 98-114.
- Doremus-Fitzwater, T.L., Varlinskaya, E.I. & Spear, L.P. (2010) Motivational systems in adolescence: possible implications for age differences in substance abuse and other risk-taking behaviors. *Brain Cogn*, **72**, 114-123.
- Doura, M.B., Luu, T.V., Lee, N.H. & Perry, D.C. (2010) Persistent gene expression changes in ventral tegmental area of adolescent but not adult rats in response to chronic nicotine. *Neuroscience*, **170**, 503-513.
- Doyon, N., Vinay, L., Prescott, S.A. & De Koninck, Y. (2016) Chloride Regulation: A Dynamic Equilibrium Crucial for Synaptic Inhibition. *Neuron*, **89**, 1157-1172.
- Doyon, W.M., Anders, S.K., Ramachandra, V.S., Czachowski, C.L. & Gonzales, R.A. (2005) Effect of operant self-administration of 10% ethanol plus 10% sucrose on dopamine and ethanol concentrations in the nucleus accumbens. *J Neurochem*, **93**, 1469-1481.
- Doyon, W.M., Dong, Y., Ostroumov, A., Thomas, A.M., Zhang, T.A. & Dani, J.A. (2013a) Nicotine decreases ethanol-induced dopamine signaling and increases self-administration via stress hormones. *Neuron*, **79**, 530-540.
- Doyon, W.M., Thomas, A.M., Ostroumov, A., Dong, Y. & Dani, J.A. (2013b) Potential substrates for nicotine and alcohol interactions: a focus on the mesocorticolimbic dopamine system. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **86**, 1181-1193.
- Dyr, W., Koros, E., Bienkowski, P. & Kostowski, W. (1999) Involvement of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the regulation of alcohol drinking in Wistar rats. *Alcohol Alcohol*, **34**, 43-47.

- Edwards, S., Baynes, B.B., Carmichael, C.Y., Zamora-Martinez, E.R., Barrus, M., Koob, G.F. & Gilpin, N.W. (2013) Traumatic stress reactivity promotes excessive alcohol drinking and alters the balance of prefrontal cortex-amygdala activity. *Transl Psychiatry*, **3**, e296.
- Egan, K.G. & Moreno, M.A. (2011) Alcohol references on undergraduate males' Facebook profiles. *Am J Mens Health*, **5**, 413-420.
- Ehlinger, D.G., Bergstrom, H.C., Burke, J.C., Fernandez, G.M., McDonald, C.G. & Smith, R.F. (2016) Adolescent nicotine-induced dendrite remodeling in the nucleus accumbens is rapid, persistent, and D1-dopamine receptor dependent. *Brain Struct Funct*, **221**, 133-145.
- Ellis, F.W. (1966) Effect of ethanol on plasma corticosterone levels. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **153**, 121-127.
- Enrico, P., Sirca, D., Mereu, M., Peana, A.T., Mercante, B. & Diana, M. (2013) Acute restraint stress prevents nicotine-induced mesolimbic dopaminergic activation via a corticosterone-mediated mechanism: a microdialysis study in the rat. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, **127**, 8-14.
- Ericson, M., Blomqvist, O., Engel, J.A. & Soderpalm, B. (1998) Voluntary ethanol intake in the rat and the associated accumbal dopamine overflow are blocked by ventral tegmental mecamylamine. *Eur J Pharmacol*, **358**, 189-196.
- Ericson, M., Lof, E., Stomberg, R. & Soderpalm, B. (2009) The smoking cessation medication varenicline attenuates alcohol and nicotine interactions in the rat mesolimbic dopamine system. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **329**, 225-230.
- Evanson, N.K., Herman, J.P., Sakai, R.R. & Krause, E.G. (2010) Nongenomic actions of adrenal steroids in the central nervous system. *J Neuroendocrinol*, **22**, 846-861.
- Everitt, B.J. & Robbins, T.W. (2005) Neural systems of reinforcement for drug addiction: from actions to habits to compulsion. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 1481-1489.
- Fahlke, C., Engel, J.A., Eriksson, C.J., Hard, E. & Soderpalm, B. (1994) Involvement of corticosterone in the modulation of ethanol consumption in the rat. *Alcohol*, **11**, 195-202.

- Fahlke, C. & Hansen, S. (1999) Effect of local intracerebral corticosterone implants on alcohol intake in the rat. *Alcohol Alcohol*, **34**, 851-861.
- Fanous, S., Hammer, R.P., Jr. & Nikulina, E.M. (2010) Short- and long-term effects of intermittent social defeat stress on brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression in mesocorticolimbic brain regions. *Neuroscience*, **167**, 598-607.
- Fernandez, C., Nieto, O., Fontenla, J.A., Rivas, E., de Ceballos, M.L. & Fernandez-Mayoralas, A. (2003) Synthesis of glycosyl derivatives as dopamine prodrugs: interaction with glucose carrier GLUT-1. Org Biomol Chem, 1, 767-771.
- Fernandez, C., Nieto, O., Rivas, E., Montenegro, G., Fontenla, J.A. & Fernandez-Mayoralas, A. (2000) Synthesis and biological studies of glycosyl dopamine derivatives as potential antiparkinsonian agents. *Carbohydr Res*, **327**, 353-365.
- Fiumelli, H., Cancedda, L. & Poo, M.M. (2005) Modulation of GABAergic transmission by activity via postsynaptic Ca2+-dependent regulation of KCC2 function. *Neuron*, **48**, 773-786.
- Fleming, R., Leventhal, H., Glynn, K. & Ershler, J. (1989) The role of cigarettes in the initiation and progression of early substance use. *Addict Behav*, **14**, 261-272.
- Floresco, S.B., West, A.R., Ash, B., Moore, H. & Grace, A.A. (2003) Afferent modulation of dopamine neuron firing differentially regulates tonic and phasic dopamine transmission. *Nat Neurosci*, **6**, 968-973.
- Foddai, M., Dosia, G., Spiga, S. & Diana, M. (2004) Acetaldehyde increases dopaminergic neuronal activity in the VTA. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **29**, 530-536.
- Follesa, P., Biggio, F., Talani, G., Murru, L., Serra, M., Sanna, E. & Biggio, G. (2006) Neurosteroids, GABAA receptors, and ethanol dependence. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **186**, 267-280.
- Fox, H.C., Bergquist, K.L., Hong, K.I. & Sinha, R. (2007) Stress-induced and alcohol cue-induced craving in recently abstinent alcohol-dependent individuals. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **31**, 395-403.
- Fu, Y., Matta, S.G., Valentine, J.D. & Sharp, B.M. (1997) Adrenocorticotropin response and nicotine-induced norepinephrine secretion in the rat paraventricular nucleus are mediated through brainstem receptors. *Endocrinology*, **138**, 1935-1943.
- Funk, D., Coen, K. & Le, A.D. (2014) The role of kappa opioid receptors in stress-induced reinstatement of alcohol seeking in rats. *Brain Behav*, **4**, 356-367.
- Funk, D., Marinelli, P.W. & Le, A.D. (2006) Biological processes underlying co-use of alcohol and nicotine: neuronal mechanisms, cross-tolerance, and genetic factors. *Alcohol Res Health*, 29, 186-192.
- Gagnon, M., Bergeron, M.J., Lavertu, G., Castonguay, A., Tripathy, S., Bonin, R.P., Perez-Sanchez, J., Boudreau, D., Wang, B., Dumas, L., Valade, I., Bachand, K., Jacob-Wagner, M., Tardif, C., Kianicka, I., Isenring, P., Attardo, G., Coull, J.A. & De Koninck, Y. (2013) Chloride extrusion enhancers as novel therapeutics for neurological diseases. *Nat Med*, **19**, 1524-1528.
- Gallegos, R.A., Lee, R.S., Criado, J.R., Henriksen, S.J. & Steffensen, S.C. (1999) Adaptive responses of gamma-aminobutyric acid neurons in the ventral tegmental area to chronic ethanol. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **291**, 1045-1053.
- Gao, M., Jin, Y., Yang, K., Zhang, D., Lukas, R.J. & Wu, J. (2010) Mechanisms involved in systemic nicotine-induced glutamatergic synaptic plasticity on dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area. J Neurosci, 30, 13814-13825.
- Gatto, G.J., McBride, W.J., Murphy, J.M., Lumeng, L. & Li, T.K. (1994) Ethanol self-infusion into the ventral tegmental area by alcohol-preferring rats. *Alcohol*, **11**, 557-564.
- Geisler, S. & Zahm, D.S. (2005) Afferents of the ventral tegmental area in the rat-anatomical substratum for integrative functions. *J Comp Neurol*, **490**, 270-294.
- Glykys, J., Peng, Z., Chandra, D., Homanics, G.E., Houser, C.R. & Mody, I. (2007) A new naturally occurring GABA(A) receptor subunit partnership with high sensitivity to ethanol. *Nat Neurosci*, **10**, 40-48.
- Golden, S.A., Covington, H.E., 3rd, Berton, O. & Russo, S.J. (2011) A standardized protocol for repeated social defeat stress in mice. *Nat Protoc*, **6**, 1183-1191.
- Gonon, F.G. (1988) Nonlinear relationship between impulse flow and dopamine released by rat midbrain dopaminergic neurons as studied by in vivo electrochemistry. *Neuroscience*, 24, 19-28.

- Gonzales, R.A., Job, M.O. & Doyon, W.M. (2004) The role of mesolimbic dopamine in the development and maintenance of ethanol reinforcement. *Pharmacol Ther*, **103**, 121-146.
- Grace, A.A. (2000) The tonic/phasic model of dopamine system regulation and its implications for understanding alcohol and psychostimulant craving. *Addiction*, **95 Suppl 2**, S119-128.
- Grace, A.A. & Bunney, B.S. (1984) The control of firing pattern in nigral dopamine neurons: single spike firing. *J Neurosci*, **4**, 2866-2876.
- Grace, A.A., Floresco, S.B., Goto, Y. & Lodge, D.J. (2007) Regulation of firing of dopaminergic neurons and control of goal-directed behaviors. *Trends Neurosci*, **30**, 220-227.
- Grace, A.A. & Onn, S.P. (1989) Morphology and electrophysiological properties of immunocytochemically identified rat dopamine neurons recorded in vitro. J Neurosci, 9, 3463-3481.
- Graf, E.N., Wheeler, R.A., Baker, D.A., Ebben, A.L., Hill, J.E., McReynolds, J.R., Robble, M.A., Vranjkovic, O., Wheeler, D.S., Mantsch, J.R. & Gasser, P.J. (2013) Corticosterone acts in the nucleus accumbens to enhance dopamine signaling and potentiate reinstatement of cocaine seeking. J Neurosci, 33, 11800-11810.
- Grant, B.F. (1998) Age at smoking onset and its association with alcohol consumption and DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: results from the National Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey. J Subst Abuse, **10**, 59-73.
- Grant, B.F., Dawson, D.A., Stinson, F.S., Chou, S.P., Dufour, M.C. & Pickering, R.P. (2004) The 12month prevalence and trends in DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: United States, 1991-1992 and 2001-2002. Drug Alcohol Depend, 74, 223-234.
- Grant, B.F., Goldstein, R.B., Saha, T.D., Chou, S.P., Jung, J., Zhang, H., Pickering, R.P., Ruan, W.J., Smith, S.M., Huang, B. & Hasin, D.S. (2015) Epidemiology of DSM-5 Alcohol Use Disorder: Results From the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions III. JAMA Psychiatry, 72, 757-766.
- Grant, K.A. (1999) Strategies for understanding the pharmacological effects of ethanol with drug discrimination procedures. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **64**, 261-267.

- Grucza, R.A. & Bierut, L.J. (2006) Cigarette smoking and the risk for alcohol use disorders among adolescent drinkers. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **30**, 2046-2054.
- Gulacsi, A., Lee, C.R., Sik, A., Viitanen, T., Kaila, K., Tepper, J.M. & Freund, T.F. (2003) Cell typespecific differences in chloride-regulatory mechanisms and GABA(A) receptor-mediated inhibition in rat substantia nigra. *J Neurosci*, **23**, 8237-8246.
- Haller, J., Mikics, E. & Makara, G.B. (2008) The effects of non-genomic glucocorticoid mechanisms on bodily functions and the central neural system. A critical evaluation of findings. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, **29**, 273-291.
- Harris, R.A. (1999) Ethanol actions on multiple ion channels: which are important? *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **23**, 1563-1570.
- Harrison, E.L. & McKee, S.A. (2008) Young adult non-daily smokers: patterns of alcohol and cigarette use. *Addict Behav*, **33**, 668-674.
- Heikinheimo, O. & Kekkonen, R. (1993) Dose-response relationships of RU 486. Ann Med, 25, 71-76.
- Herman, J.P. & Cullinan, W.E. (1997) Neurocircuitry of stress: central control of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical axis. *Trends Neurosci*, **20**, 78-84.
- Herring, B.E., Mayfield, R.D., Camp, M.C. & Alcantara, A.A. (2004) Ethanol-induced fos immunoreactivity in the extended amygdala and hypothalamus of the rat brain: Focus on cholinergic interneurons of the nucleus accumbens. *Alcoholism-Clinical and Experimental Research*, 28, 588-597.
- Herve, D., Pickel, V.M., Joh, T.H. & Beaudet, A. (1987) Serotonin axon terminals in the ventral tegmental area of the rat: fine structure and synaptic input to dopaminergic neurons. *Brain Res*, **435**, 71-83.
- Hewitt, S.A., Wamsteeker, J.I., Kurz, E.U. & Bains, J.S. (2009) Altered chloride homeostasis removes synaptic inhibitory constraint of the stress axis. *Nat Neurosci*, **12**, 438-443.

- Hnasko, T.S., Chuhma, N., Zhang, H., Goh, G.Y., Sulzer, D., Palmiter, R.D., Rayport, S. & Edwards, R.H. (2010) Vesicular glutamate transport promotes dopamine storage and glutamate corelease in vivo. *Neuron*, **65**, 643-656.
- Hodge, C.W., Samson, H.H. & Chappelle, A.M. (1997) Alcohol self-administration: further examination of the role of dopamine receptors in the nucleus accumbens. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **21**, 1083-1091.
- Holmes, R.S., Cox, L.A. & Vandeberg, J.L. (2009) A new class of mammalian carboxylesterase CES6. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part D Genomics Proteomics*, **4**, 209-217.
- Howard, C.D., Keefe, K.A., Garris, P.A. & Daberkow, D.P. (2011) Methamphetamine neurotoxicity decreases phasic, but not tonic, dopaminergic signaling in the rat striatum. *J Neurochem*, **118**, 668-676.
- Howard, E.C., Schier, C.J., Wetzel, J.S., Duvauchelle, C.L. & Gonzales, R.A. (2008) The shell of the nucleus accumbens has a higher dopamine response compared with the core after non-contingent intravenous ethanol administration. *Neuroscience*, **154**, 1042-1053.
- Howard, E.C., Schier, C.J., Wetzel, J.S. & Gonzales, R.A. (2009) The dopamine response in the nucleus accumbens core-shell border differs from that in the core and shell during operant ethanol self-administration. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **33**, 1355-1365.
- Hwa, L.S., Holly, E.N., DeBold, J.F. & Miczek, K.A. (2016) Social stress-escalated intermittent alcohol drinking: modulation by CRF-R1 in the ventral tegmental area and accumbal dopamine in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **233**, 681-690.
- Hyland, B.I., Reynolds, J.N., Hay, J., Perk, C.G. & Miller, R. (2002) Firing modes of midbrain dopamine cells in the freely moving rat. *Neuroscience*, **114**, 475-492.
- Ikemoto, S., McBride, W.J., Murphy, J.M., Lumeng, L. & Li, T.K. (1997) 6-OHDA-lesions of the nucleus accumbens disrupt the acquisition but not the maintenance of ethanol consumption in the alcohol-preferring P line of rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **21**, 1042-1046.
- Imperato, A., Angelucci, L., Casolini, P., Zocchi, A. & Puglisi-Allegra, S. (1992) Repeated stressful experiences differently affect limbic dopamine release during and following stress. *Brain Res*, 577, 194-199.

- Imperato, A. & Di Chiara, G. (1986) Preferential stimulation of dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens of freely moving rats by ethanol. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, **239**, 219-228.
- Imperato, A., Puglisi-Allegra, S., Casolini, P. & Angelucci, L. (1991) Changes in brain dopamine and acetylcholine release during and following stress are independent of the pituitaryadrenocortical axis. *Brain Res*, **538**, 111-117.
- Iyaniwura, T.T., Wright, A.E. & Balfour, D.J. (2001) Evidence that mesoaccumbens dopamine and locomotor responses to nicotine in the rat are influenced by pretreatment dose and strain. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **158**, 73-79.
- Jacquot, C., Croft, A.P., Prendergast, M.A., Mulholland, P., Shaw, S.G. & Little, H.J. (2008) Effects of the glucocorticoid antagonist, mifepristone, on the consequences of withdrawal from long term alcohol consumption. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **32**, 2107-2116.
- Jerlhag, E., Grotli, M., Luthman, K., Svensson, L. & Engel, J.A. (2006) Role of the subunit composition of central nicotinic acetylcholine receptors for the stimulatory and dopamine-enhancing effects of ethanol. *Alcohol Alcohol*, **41**, 486-493.
- Jhou, T.C., Fields, H.L., Baxter, M.G., Saper, C.B. & Holland, P.C. (2009) The rostromedial tegmental nucleus (RMTg), a GABAergic afferent to midbrain dopamine neurons, encodes aversive stimuli and inhibits motor responses. *Neuron*, **61**, 786-800.
- Joels, M. & Baram, T.Z. (2009) The neuro-symphony of stress. Nat Rev Neurosci, 10, 459-466.
- Jones, R.D., Taylor, A.M., Tong, E.Y. & Repa, J.J. (2013) Carboxylesterases are uniquely expressed among tissues and regulated by nuclear hormone receptors in the mouse. *Drug Metab Dispos*, **41**, 40-49.
- Jones, S. & Yakel, J.L. (1997) Functional nicotinic ACh receptors on interneurones in the rat hippocampus. *J Physiol*, **504 (Pt 3)**, 603-610.
- June, H.L., Foster, K.L., McKay, P.F., Seyoum, R., Woods, J.E., Harvey, S.C., Eiler, W.J., Grey, C., Carroll, M.R., McCane, S., Jones, C.M., Yin, W., Mason, D., Cummings, R., Garcia, M., Ma, C., Sarma, P.V., Cook, J.M. & Skolnick, P. (2003) The reinforcing properties of alcohol are mediated by GABA(A1) receptors in the ventral pallidum. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 28, 2124-2137.

- Kaczmarek, H.J. & Kiefer, S.W. (2000) Microinjections of dopaminergic agents in the nucleus accumbens affect ethanol consumption but not palatability. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, 66, 307-312.
- Kahle, K.T., Deeb, T.Z., Puskarjov, M., Silayeva, L., Liang, B., Kaila, K. & Moss, S.J. (2013)
 Modulation of neuronal activity by phosphorylation of the K-Cl cotransporter KCC2.
 Trends Neurosci, 36, 726-737.
- Kaila, K., Price, T.J., Payne, J.A., Puskarjov, M. & Voipio, J. (2014) Cation-chloride cotransporters in neuronal development, plasticity and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **15**, 637-654.
- Kamens, H.M., Andersen, J. & Picciotto, M.R. (2010) Modulation of ethanol consumption by genetic and pharmacological manipulation of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in mice. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **208**, 613-626.
- Kandel, D. & Kandel, E. (2015) The Gateway Hypothesis of substance abuse: developmental, biological and societal perspectives. *Acta Paediatr*, **104**, 130-137.
- Karadsheh, M.F. & Delpire, E. (2001) Neuronal restrictive silencing element is found in the KCC2 gene: molecular basis for KCC2-specific expression in neurons. J Neurophysiol, 85, 995-997.
- Ke, L. & Lukas, R.J. (1996) Effects of steroid exposure on ligand binding and functional activities of diverse nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes. J Neurochem, 67, 1100-1112.
- Kemppainen, H., Hyytia, P. & Kiianmaa, K. (2009) Behavioral consequences of repeated nicotine during adolescence in alcohol-preferring AA and alcohol-avoiding ANA rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **33**, 340-349.
- Keyes, K.M., Hatzenbuehler, M.L., Grant, B.F. & Hasin, D.S. (2012) Stress and alcohol: epidemiologic evidence. *Alcohol Res*, **34**, 391-400.
- Keyes, K.M., Hatzenbuehler, M.L. & Hasin, D.S. (2011) Stressful life experiences, alcohol consumption, and alcohol use disorders: the epidemiologic evidence for four main types of stressors. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **218**, 1-17.

- Kilpatrick, D.G., Acierno, R., Resnick, H.S., Saunders, B.E. & Best, C.L. (1997) A 2-year longitudinal analysis of the relationships between violent assault and substance use in women. J Consult Clin Psychol, 65, 834-847.
- King, A.C., Bernardy, N.C. & Hauner, K. (2003) Stressful events, personality, and mood disturbance: gender differences in alcoholics and problem drinkers. *Addict Behav*, 28, 171-187.
- Kitamura, A., Ishibashi, H., Watanabe, M., Takatsuru, Y., Brodwick, M. & Nabekura, J. (2008) Sustained depolarizing shift of the GABA reversal potential by glutamate receptor activation in hippocampal neurons. *Neurosci Res*, 62, 270-277.
- Klink, R., de Kerchove d'Exaerde, A., Zoli, M. & Changeux, J.P. (2001) Molecular and physiological diversity of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors in the midbrain dopaminergic nuclei. J Neurosci, 21, 1452-1463.
- Koob, G. & Kreek, M.J. (2007) Stress, dysregulation of drug reward pathways, and the transition to drug dependence. *Am J Psychiatry*, **164**, 1149-1159.
- Koob, G.F., Buck, C.L., Cohen, A., Edwards, S., Park, P.E., Schlosburg, J.E., Schmeichel, B., Vendruscolo, L.F., Wade, C.L., Whitfield, T.W., Jr. & George, O. (2014) Addiction as a stress surfeit disorder. *Neuropharmacology*, **76 Pt B**, 370-382.
- Koob, G.F. & Le Moal, M. (1997) Drug abuse: hedonic homeostatic dysregulation. Science, 278, 52-58.
- Koob, G.F. & Le Moal, M. (2001) Drug addiction, dysregulation of reward, and allostasis. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 24, 97-129.
- Koob, G.F. & Le Moal, M. (2005) Plasticity of reward neurocircuitry and the 'dark side' of drug addiction. *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 1442-1444.
- Korotkova, T.M., Brown, R.E., Sergeeva, O.A., Ponomarenko, A.A. & Haas, H.L. (2006) Effects of arousal- and feeding-related neuropeptides on dopaminergic and GABAergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area of the rat. *Eur J Neurosci*, **23**, 2677-2685.
- Kostowski, W. & Bienkowski, P. (1999) Discriminative stimulus effects of ethanol: neuropharmacological characterization. *Alcohol*, **17**, 63-80.

- Kozlowski, L.T. & Ferrence, R.G. (1990) Statistical control in research on alcohol and tobacco: an example from research on alcohol and mortality. *Br J Addict*, **85**, 271-278.
- Krishnan, V., Han, M.H., Graham, D.L., Berton, O., Renthal, W., Russo, S.J., Laplant, Q., Graham, A., Lutter, M., Lagace, D.C., Ghose, S., Reister, R., Tannous, P., Green, T.A., Neve, R.L., Chakravarty, S., Kumar, A., Eisch, A.J., Self, D.W., Lee, F.S., Tamminga, C.A., Cooper, D.C., Gershenfeld, H.K. & Nestler, E.J. (2007) Molecular adaptations underlying susceptibility and resistance to social defeat in brain reward regions. *Cell*, **131**, 391-404.
- Krugers, H.J., Hoogenraad, C.C. & Groc, L. (2010) Stress hormones and AMPA receptor trafficking in synaptic plasticity and memory. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **11**, 675-681.
- Kuczewski, N., Porcher, C., Lessmann, V., Medina, I. & Gaiarsa, J.L. (2009) Activity-dependent dendritic release of BDNF and biological consequences. *Mol Neurobiol*, **39**, 37-49.
- Kuzmin, A., Jerlhag, E., Liljequist, S. & Engel, J. (2009) Effects of subunit selective nACh receptors on operant ethanol self-administration and relapse-like ethanol-drinking behavior. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **203**, 99-108.
- Lai, S., Lai, H., Page, J.B. & McCoy, C.B. (2000) The association between cigarette smoking and drug abuse in the United States. *J Addict Dis*, **19**, 11-24.
- Larraga, A., Belluzzi, J.D. & Leslie, F.M. (2017) Nicotine Increases Alcohol Intake in Adolescent Male Rats. *Front Behav Neurosci*, **11**, 25.
- Larsson, A., Edstrom, L., Svensson, L., Soderpalm, B. & Engel, J.A. (2005) Voluntary ethanol intake increases extracellular acetylcholine levels in the ventral tegmental area in the rat. *Alcohol Alcoholism*, **40**, 349-358.
- Larsson, A. & Engel, J.A. (2004) Neurochemical and behavioral studies on ethanol and nicotine interactions. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **27**, 713-720.
- Larsson, A., Jerlhag, E., Svensson, L., Soderpalm, B. & Engel, J.A. (2004) Is an alpha-conotoxin MII-sensitive mechanism involved in the neurochemical, stimulatory, and rewarding effects of ethanol? *Alcohol*, **34**, 239-250.

- Laviolette, S.R., Gallegos, R.A., Henriksen, S.J. & van der Kooy, D. (2004) Opiate state controls bidirectional reward signaling via GABAA receptors in the ventral tegmental area. *Nat Neurosci*, 7, 160-169.
- Laviolette, S.R. & van der Kooy, D. (2001) GABA(A) receptors in the ventral tegmental area control bidirectional reward signalling between dopaminergic and non-dopaminergic neural motivational systems. *Eur J Neurosci*, **13**, 1009-1015.
- Laviolette, S.R. & van der Kooy, D. (2004a) GABAA receptors signal bidirectional reward transmission from the ventral tegmental area to the tegmental pedunculopontine nucleus as a function of opiate state. *Eur J Neurosci*, **20**, 2179-2187.
- Laviolette, S.R. & van der Kooy, D. (2004b) The neurobiology of nicotine addiction: bridging the gap from molecules to behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, **5**, 55-65.
- Le, A.D. (2002) Effects of nicotine on alcohol consumption. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 26, 1915-1916.
- Le, A.D., Corrigall, W.A., Harding, J.W., Juzytsch, W. & Li, T.K. (2000a) Involvement of nicotinic receptors in alcohol self-administration. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **24**, 155-163.
- Le, A.D., Harding, S., Juzytsch, W., Watchus, J., Shalev, U. & Shaham, Y. (2000b) The role of corticotrophin-releasing factor in stress-induced relapse to alcohol-seeking behavior in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **150**, 317-324.
- Le, A.D., Wang, A., Harding, S., Juzytsch, W. & Shaham, Y. (2003) Nicotine increases alcohol selfadministration and reinstates alcohol seeking in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **168**, 216-221.
- Leao, R.M., Cruz, F.C., Vendruscolo, L.F., de Guglielmo, G., Logrip, M.L., Planeta, C.S., Hope, B.T., Koob, G.F. & George, O. (2015) Chronic nicotine activates stress/reward-related brain regions and facilitates the transition to compulsive alcohol drinking. *J Neurosci*, **35**, 6241-6253.
- Lee, H.H., Deeb, T.Z., Walker, J.A., Davies, P.A. & Moss, S.J. (2011) NMDA receptor activity downregulates KCC2 resulting in depolarizing GABAA receptor-mediated currents. *Nat Neurosci*, **14**, 736-743.

- Levine, A., Huang, Y., Drisaldi, B., Griffin, E.A., Jr., Pollak, D.D., Xu, S., Yin, D., Schaffran, C., Kandel, D.B. & Kandel, E.R. (2011) Molecular mechanism for a gateway drug: epigenetic changes initiated by nicotine prime gene expression by cocaine. *Sci Transl Med*, **3**, 107ra109.
- Lewohl, J.M., Wilson, W.R., Mayfield, R.D., Brozowski, S.J., Morrisett, R.A. & Harris, R.A. (1999) G-protein-coupled inwardly rectifying potassium channels are targets of alcohol action. *Nat Neurosci*, 2, 1084-1090.
- Li, W., Doyon, W.M. & Dani, J.A. (2011) Acute in vivo nicotine administration enhances synchrony among dopamine neurons. *Biochem Pharmacol*, **82**, 977-983.
- Lin, C.R., Cheng, J.K., Wu, C.H., Chen, K.H. & Liu, C.K. (2017) Epigenetic suppression of potassium-chloride co-transporter 2 expression in inflammatory pain induced by complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA). *Eur J Pain*, **21**, 309-321.
- Liu, L., Hendrickson, L.M., Guildford, M.J., Zhao-Shea, R., Gardner, P.D. & Tapper, A.R. (2013) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors containing the alpha4 subunit modulate alcohol reward. *Biol Psychiatry*, **73**, 738-746.
- Lopez-Moreno, J.A., Scherma, M., Rodriguez de Fonseca, F., Gonzalez-Cuevas, G., Fratta, W. & Navarro, M. (2008) Changed accumbal responsiveness to alcohol in rats pre-treated with nicotine or the cannabinoid receptor agonist WIN 55,212-2. *Neurosci Lett*, **433**, 1-5.
- Luo, A.H., Georges, F.E. & Aston-Jones, G.S. (2008) Novel neurons in ventral tegmental area fire selectively during the active phase of the diurnal cycle. *Eur J Neurosci*, **27**, 408-422.
- Luscher, C. & Malenka, R.C. (2011) Drug-evoked synaptic plasticity in addiction: from molecular changes to circuit remodeling. *Neuron*, **69**, 650-663.
- Luscher, C. & Ungless, M.A. (2006) The mechanistic classification of addictive drugs. *PLoS Med*, **3**, e437.
- Lutfy, K., Aimiuwu, O., Mangubat, M., Shin, C.S., Nerio, N., Gomez, R., Liu, Y. & Friedman, T.C. (2012) Nicotine stimulates secretion of corticosterone via both CRH and AVP receptors. J Neurochem, 120, 1108-1116.

Maguire, J. (2014) Stress-induced plasticity of GABAergic inhibition. Front Cell Neurosci, 8, 157.

- Majewska, M.D., Mienville, J.M. & Vicini, S. (1988) Neurosteroid pregnenolone sulfate antagonizes electrophysiological responses to GABA in neurons. *Neurosci Lett*, **90**, 279-284.
- Mansvelder, H.D., Keath, J.R. & McGehee, D.S. (2002) Synaptic mechanisms underlie nicotineinduced excitability of brain reward areas. *Neuron*, **33**, 905-919.
- Mao, D., Gallagher, K. & McGehee, D.S. (2011) Nicotine potentiation of excitatory inputs to ventral tegmental area dopamine neurons. *J Neurosci*, **31**, 6710-6720.
- Margolis, E.B., Lock, H., Hjelmstad, G.O. & Fields, H.L. (2006) The ventral tegmental area revisited: is there an electrophysiological marker for dopaminergic neurons? *J Physiol*, 577, 907-924.
- Martinez, D., Gil, R., Slifstein, M., Hwang, D.R., Huang, Y., Perez, A., Kegeles, L., Talbot, P., Evans, S., Krystal, J., Laruelle, M. & Abi-Dargham, A. (2005) Alcohol dependence is associated with blunted dopamine transmission in the ventral striatum. *Biol Psychiatry*, 58, 779-786.
- Massi, L., Elezgarai, I., Puente, N., Reguero, L., Grandes, P., Manzoni, O.J. & Georges, F. (2008) Cannabinoid receptors in the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis control cortical excitation of midbrain dopamine cells in vivo. *J Neurosci*, **28**, 10496-10508.
- Matta, S.G., Balfour, D.J., Benowitz, N.L., Boyd, R.T., Buccafusco, J.J., Caggiula, A.R., Craig, C.R., Collins, A.C., Damaj, M.I., Donny, E.C., Gardiner, P.S., Grady, S.R., Heberlein, U., Leonard, S.S., Levin, E.D., Lukas, R.J., Markou, A., Marks, M.J., McCallum, S.E., Parameswaran, N., Perkins, K.A., Picciotto, M.R., Quik, M., Rose, J.E., Rothenfluh, A., Schafer, W.R., Stolerman, I.P., Tyndale, R.F., Wehner, J.M. & Zirger, J.M. (2007) Guidelines on nicotine dose selection for in vivo research. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **190**, 269-319.
- McCabe, S.E., Bostwick, W.B., Hughes, T.L., West, B.T. & Boyd, C.J. (2010) The relationship between discrimination and substance use disorders among lesbian, gay, and bisexual adults in the United States. *Am J Public Health*, **100**, 1946-1952.
- McEwen, B.S. (2012) The ever-changing brain: cellular and molecular mechanisms for the effects of stressful experiences. *Dev Neurobiol*, **72**, 878-890.

- McGough, N.N., He, D.Y., Logrip, M.L., Jeanblanc, J., Phamluong, K., Luong, K., Kharazia, V., Janak, P.H. & Ron, D. (2004) RACK1 and brain-derived neurotrophic factor: a homeostatic pathway that regulates alcohol addiction. J Neurosci, 24, 10542-10552.
- McGovern, P.E. (2009) Uncorking the Past: The Quest for Wine, Beer, and Other Alcoholic Beverages. University of California Press, Berkeley, California.
- McKee, S.A., Falba, T., O'Malley, S.S., Sindelar, J. & O'Connor, P.G. (2007) Smoking status as a clinical indicator for alcohol misuse in US adults. *Arch Intern Med*, **167**, 716-721.
- McKee, S.A., Harrison, E.L., O'Malley, S.S., Krishnan-Sarin, S., Shi, J., Tetrault, J.M., Picciotto, M.R., Petrakis, I.L., Estevez, N. & Balchunas, E. (2009) Varenicline reduces alcohol selfadministration in heavy-drinking smokers. *Biol Psychiatry*, 66, 185-190.
- McLaughlin, K.A., Hatzenbuehler, M.L. & Keyes, K.M. (2010) Responses to discrimination and psychiatric disorders among Black, Hispanic, female, and lesbian, gay, and bisexual individuals. *Am J Public Health*, **100**, 1477-1484.
- McQuown, S.C., Belluzzi, J.D. & Leslie, F.M. (2007) Low dose nicotine treatment during early adolescence increases subsequent cocaine reward. *Neurotoxicol Teratol*, **29**, 66-73.
- Medina, I., Friedel, P., Rivera, C., Kahle, K.T., Kourdougli, N., Uvarov, P. & Pellegrino, C. (2014) Current view on the functional regulation of the neuronal K(+)-Cl(-) cotransporter KCC2. *Front Cell Neurosci*, **8**, 27.
- Melendez, R.I., Rodd-Henricks, Z.A., Engleman, E.A., Li, T.K., McBride, W.J. & Murphy, J.M.
 (2002) Microdialysis of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens of alcohol-preferring (P) rats during anticipation and operant self-administration of ethanol. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 26, 318-325.
- Melis, M., Camarini, R., Ungless, M.A. & Bonci, A. (2002) Long-lasting potentiation of GABAergic synapses in dopamine neurons after a single in vivo ethanol exposure. *J Neurosci*, **22**, 2074-2082.
- Melis, M., Spiga, S. & Diana, M. (2005) The dopamine hypothesis of drug addiction: hypodopaminergic state. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, **63**, 101-154.

- Mereu, G., Fadda, F. & Gessa, G.L. (1984) Ethanol stimulates the firing rate of nigral dopaminergic neurons in unanesthetized rats. *Brain Res*, **292**, 63-69.
- Miller, N.S. & Gold, M.S. (1998) Comorbid cigarette and alcohol addiction: epidemiology and treatment. *J Addict Dis*, **17**, 55-66.
- Mills, K.C. & Bean, J.W. (1978) The caloric and intoxicating properties of fluid intake as components of stress-induced ethanol consumption in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, 57, 27-31.
- Mills, K.C., Bean, J.W. & Hutcheson, J.S. (1977) Shock induced ethanol consumption in rats. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **6**, 107-115.
- Moos, R.H., Schutte, K.K., Brennan, P.L. & Moos, B.S. (2010) Late-life and life history predictors of older adults' high-risk alcohol consumption and drinking problems. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, **108**, 13-20.
- Morrow, A.L., Biggio, G., Serra, M., Becker, H.C., Lopez, M.F., Porcu, P., Alward, S.E. & O'Buckley, T.K. (2009) The role of neuroactive steroids in ethanol/stress interactions: proceedings of symposium VII at the Volterra conference on alcohol and stress, May 2008. *Alcohol*, 43, 521-530.
- Mulholland, P.J., Becker, H.C., Woodward, J.J. & Chandler, L.J. (2011) Small conductance calcium-activated potassium type 2 channels regulate alcohol-associated plasticity of glutamatergic synapses. *Biol Psychiatry*, **69**, 625-632.
- Myers, R.D. & Cicero, T.J. (1969) Effects of serotonin depletion on the volitional alcohol intake of rats during a condition of psychological stress. *Psychopharmacologia*, **15**, 373-381.
- Myers, R.D. & Robinson, D.E. (1999) Mmu and D2 receptor antisense oligonucleotides injected in nucleus accumbens suppress high alcohol intake in genetic drinking HEP rats. *Alcohol*, 18, 225-233.
- Nadal, R. & Samson, H.H. (1999) Operant ethanol self-administration after nicotine treatment and withdrawal. *Alcohol*, **17**, 139-147.

- Nagata, K., Aistrup, G.L., Huang, C.S., Marszalec, W., Song, J.H., Yeh, J.Z. & Narahashi, T. (1996) Potent modulation of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor-channel by ethanol. *Neurosci Lett*, **217**, 189-193.
- Nair-Roberts, R.G., Chatelain-Badie, S.D., Benson, E., White-Cooper, H., Bolam, J.P. & Ungless, M.A. (2008) Stereological estimates of dopaminergic, GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra and retrorubral field in the rat. *Neuroscience*, **152**, 1024-1031.
- Narahashi, T., Aistrup, G.L., Marszalec, W. & Nagata, K. (1999) Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: a new target site of ethanol. *Neurochem Int*, **35**, 131-141.
- Nestler, E.J. (2005) Is there a common molecular pathway for addiction? *Nat Neurosci*, **8**, 1445-1449.
- NIAAA (2010) Rethinking Drinking: Alcohol and Your Health. *Bethesda, MD: National Institutes of Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS).*
- Nie, H., Rewal, M., Gill, T.M., Ron, D. & Janak, P.H. (2011) Extrasynaptic delta-containing GABAA receptors in the nucleus accumbens dorsomedial shell contribute to alcohol intake. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **108**, 4459-4464.
- Nie, Z., Schweitzer, P., Roberts, A.J., Madamba, S.G., Moore, S.D. & Siggins, G.R. (2004) Ethanol augments GABAergic transmission in the central amygdala via CRF1 receptors. *Science*, **303**, 1512-1514.
- Niehaus, J.L., Murali, M. & Kauer, J.A. (2010) Drugs of abuse and stress impair LTP at inhibitory synapses in the ventral tegmental area. *Eur J Neurosci*, **32**, 108-117.
- Noori, H.R., Helinski, S. & Spanagel, R. (2014) Cluster and meta-analyses on factors influencing stress-induced alcohol drinking and relapse in rodents. *Addict Biol*, **19**, 225-232.
- Nowak, K.L., McBride, W.J., Lumeng, L., Li, T.K. & Murphy, J.M. (1998) Blocking GABA(A) receptors in the anterior ventral tegmental area attenuates ethanol intake of the alcohol-preferring P rat. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **139**, 108-116.

- Okamoto, T., Harnett, M.T. & Morikawa, H. (2006) Hyperpolarization-activated cation current (Ih) is an ethanol target in midbrain dopamine neurons of mice. *J Neurophysiol*, **95**, 619-626.
- Omelchenko, N. & Sesack, S.R. (2005) Laterodorsal tegmental projections to identified cell populations in the rat ventral tegmental area. *J Comp Neurol*, **483**, 217-235.
- Ostroumov, A., Thomas, A.M., Kimmey, B.A., Karsch, J.S., Doyon, W.M. & Dani, J.A. (2016) Stress Increases Ethanol Self-Administration via a Shift toward Excitatory GABA Signaling in the Ventral Tegmental Area. *Neuron*, **92**, 493-504.
- Panlilio, L.V. & Goldberg, S.R. (2007) Self-administration of drugs in animals and humans as a model and an investigative tool. Addiction, 102, 1863-1870.
- Parra-Medina, D.M., Talavera, G., Elder, J.P. & Woodruff, S.I. (1995) Role of cigarette smoking as a gateway drug to alcohol use in Hispanic junior high school students. *J Natl Cancer Inst Monogr*, 83-86.
- Paxinos, G.a.W., C. (2007) *The Rat Brain Stereotaxis Coordinates*. Academic Press, Burlington, MA.
- Payne, J.A. (1997) Functional characterization of the neuronal-specific K-Cl cotransporter: implications for [K+]o regulation. *Am J Physiol*, **273**, C1516-1525.
- Payne, J.A., Stevenson, T.J. & Donaldson, L.F. (1996) Molecular characterization of a putative K-Cl cotransporter in rat brain. A neuronal-specific isoform. *J Biol Chem*, **271**, 16245-16252.
- Pfau, M.L. & Russo, S.J. (2015) Peripheral and Central Mechanisms of Stress Resilience. *Neurobiol Stress*, **1**, 66-79.
- Piazza, P.V., Deroche, V., Deminiere, J.M., Maccari, S., Le Moal, M. & Simon, H. (1993) Corticosterone in the range of stress-induced levels possesses reinforcing properties: implications for sensation-seeking behaviors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **90**, 11738-11742.
- Picciotto, M.R. (2003) Nicotine as a modulator of behavior: beyond the inverted U. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **24**, 493-499.

- Picciotto, M.R., Zoli, M., Rimondini, R., Lena, C., Marubio, L.M., Pich, E.M., Fuxe, K. & Changeux, J.P. (1998) Acetylcholine receptors containing the beta2 subunit are involved in the reinforcing properties of nicotine. *Nature*, **391**, 173-177.
- Pidoplichko, V.I., DeBiasi, M., Williams, J.T. & Dani, J.A. (1997) Nicotine activates and desensitizes midbrain dopamine neurons. *Nature*, **390**, 401-404.
- Pidoplichko, V.I., Noguchi, J., Areola, O.O., Liang, Y., Peterson, J., Zhang, T. & Dani, J.A. (2004) Nicotinic cholinergic synaptic mechanisms in the ventral tegmental area contribute to nicotine addiction. *Learn Mem*, **11**, 60-69.
- Pitman, D.L., Ottenweller, J.E. & Natelson, B.H. (1988) Plasma corticosterone levels during repeated presentation of two intensities of restraint stress: chronic stress and habituation. *Physiol Behav*, **43**, 47-55.
- Pondugula, S.R., Kampalli, S.B., Wu, T., De Lisle, R.C., Raveendran, N.N., Harbidge, D.G. & Marcus, D.C. (2013) cAMP-stimulated CI- secretion is increased by glucocorticoids and inhibited by bumetanide in semicircular canal duct epithelium. *BMC Physiol*, **13**, 6.
- Porcu, P., Sogliano, C., Cinus, M., Purdy, R.H., Biggio, G. & Concas, A. (2003) Nicotine-induced changes in cerebrocortical neuroactive steroids and plasma corticosterone concentrations in the rat. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **74**, 683-690.
- Raimondo, J.V.R., B. A.; Woodin, M. A. (2017) Neuronal chloride and excitability the big impact of small changes. *Current Opinion Neurobiology*, **43**, 34-42.
- Ramachandra, V., Phuc, S., Franco, A.C. & Gonzales, R.A. (2007) Ethanol preference is inversely correlated with ethanol-induced dopamine release in 2 substrains of C57BL/6 mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **31**, 1669-1676.
- Rassnick, S., Pulvirenti, L. & Koob, G.F. (1992) Oral ethanol self-administration in rats is reduced by the administration of dopamine and glutamate receptor antagonists into the nucleus accumbens. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **109**, 92-98.
- Rassnick, S., Stinus, L. & Koob, G.F. (1993) The effects of 6-hydroxydopamine lesions of the nucleus accumbens and the mesolimbic dopamine system on oral self-administration of ethanol in the rat. *Brain Res*, **623**, 16-24.

- Reuter, J., Raedler, T., Rose, M., Hand, I., Glascher, J. & Buchel, C. (2005) Pathological gambling is linked to reduced activation of the mesolimbic reward system. *Nat Neurosci*, 8, 147-148.
- Rezvani, A.H., Slade, S., Wells, C., Petro, A., Lumeng, L., Li, T.K., Xiao, Y., Brown, M.L., Paige, M.A., McDowell, B.E., Rose, J.E., Kellar, K.J. & Levin, E.D. (2010) Effects of sazetidine-A, a selective alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor desensitizing agent on alcohol and nicotine self-administration in selectively bred alcohol-preferring (P) rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **211**, 161-174.
- Riala, K., Hakko, H., Isohanni, M., Jarvelin, M.R. & Rasanen, P. (2004) Teenage smoking and substance use as predictors of severe alcohol problems in late adolescence and in young adulthood. J Adolesc Health, 35, 245-254.
- Richardson, H.N., Lee, S.Y., O'Dell, L.E., Koob, G.F. & Rivier, C.L. (2008) Alcohol selfadministration acutely stimulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, but alcohol dependence leads to a dampened neuroendocrine state. *Eur J Neurosci*, **28**, 1641-1653.
- Richter, L., Pugh, B.S., Smith, P.H. & Ball, S.A. (2017) The co-occurrence of nicotine and other substance use and addiction among youth and adults in the United States: implications for research, practice, and policy. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*, **43**, 132-145.
- Rivera, C., Li, H., Thomas-Crusells, J., Lahtinen, H., Viitanen, T., Nanobashvili, A., Kokaia, Z., Airaksinen, M.S., Voipio, J., Kaila, K. & Saarma, M. (2002) BDNF-induced TrkB activation down-regulates the K+-Cl- cotransporter KCC2 and impairs neuronal Cl- extrusion. *J Cell Biol*, **159**, 747-752.
- Rivera, C., Voipio, J., Thomas-Crusells, J., Li, H., Emri, Z., Sipila, S., Payne, J.A., Minichiello, L., Saarma, M. & Kaila, K. (2004) Mechanism of activity-dependent downregulation of the neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter KCC2. J Neurosci, 24, 4683-4691.
- Rivier, C., Bruhn, T. & Vale, W. (1984) Effect of ethanol on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the rat: role of corticotropin-releasing factor (CRF). J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 229, 127-131.
- Roberts, D.F.H., L; Christensen P. G. (1999) Substance use in popular movies and music. *Washington, DC: Office of National Drug Control Policy*.

- Robinson, D.L., Howard, E.C., McConnell, S., Gonzales, R.A. & Wightman, R.M. (2009) Disparity between tonic and phasic ethanol-induced dopamine increases in the nucleus accumbens of rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **33**, 1187-1196.
- Rodd-Henricks, Z.A., McKinzie, D.L., Crile, R.S., Murphy, J.M. & McBride, W.J. (2000) Regional heterogeneity for the intracranial self-administration of ethanol within the ventral tegmental area of female Wistar rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **149**, 217-224.
- Rotter, A., Biermann, T., Amato, D., Schumann, G., Desrivieres, S., Kornhuber, J. & Muller, C.P. Glucocorticoid receptor antagonism blocks ethanol-induced place preference learning in mice and attenuates dopamine D2 receptor adaptation in the frontal cortex. *Brain Res Bull*, 88, 519-524.
- Saal, D., Dong, Y., Bonci, A. & Malenka, R.C. (2003) Drugs of abuse and stress trigger a common synaptic adaptation in dopamine neurons. *Neuron*, **37**, 577-582.
- Sacks, J.J., Gonzales, K.R., Bouchery, E.E., Tomedi, L.E. & Brewer, R.D. (2015) 2010 National and State Costs of Excessive Alcohol Consumption. *Am J Prev Med*, **49**, e73-79.
- SAMHSA, S.A.a.M.H.S.A. (2015) Behavioral health trends in the United States: Results from the 2014 National Survey on Drug Use and Health
- Samson, H.H. (1986) Initiation of ethanol reinforcement using a sucrose-substitution procedure in food- and water-sated rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **10**, 436-442.
- Samson, H.H. & Chappell, A. (2003) Dopaminergic involvement in medial prefrontal cortex and core of the nucleus accumbens in the regulation of ethanol self-administration: a dualsite microinjection study in the rat. *Physiol Behav*, **79**, 581-590.
- Samson, H.H., Hodge, C.W., Tolliver, G.A. & Haraguchi, M. (1993) Effect of dopamine agonists and antagonists on ethanol-reinforced behavior: the involvement of the nucleus accumbens. *Brain Res Bull*, **30**, 133-141.
- San Jose, B., van de Mheen, H., van Oers, J.A., Mackenbach, J.P. & Garretsen, H.F. (2000)
 Adverse working conditions and alcohol use in men and women. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 24, 1207-1213.

- Sanchis-Segura, C. & Spanagel, R. (2006) Behavioural assessment of drug reinforcement and addictive features in rodents: an overview. *Addict Biol*, **11**, 2-38.
- Saraga, F., Balena, T., Wolansky, T., Dickson, C.T. & Woodin, M.A. (2008) Inhibitory synaptic plasticity regulates pyramidal neuron spiking in the rodent hippocampus. *Neuroscience*, **155**, 64-75.
- Sarkar, J., Wakefield, S., MacKenzie, G., Moss, S.J. & Maguire, J. (2011) Neurosteroidogenesis is required for the physiological response to stress: role of neurosteroid-sensitive GABAA receptors. *J Neurosci*, **31**, 18198-18210.
- Satoh, E. & Shimeki, S. (2010) Acute restraint stress enhances calcium mobilization and glutamate exocytosis in cerebrocortical synaptosomes from mice. *Neurochem Res*, **35**, 693-701.
- Schlaepfer, I.R., Hoft, N.R. & Ehringer, M.A. (2008) The genetic components of alcohol and nicotine co-addiction: from genes to behavior. *Curr Drug Abuse Rev*, **1**, 124-134.
- Schorling, J.B., Gutgesell, M., Klas, P., Smith, D. & Keller, A. (1994) Tobacco, alcohol and other drug use among college students. *J Subst Abuse*, **6**, 105-115.
- Schultz, W. (1998) Predictive reward signal of dopamine neurons. J Neurophysiol, 80, 1-27.
- Schultz, W. (2007) Multiple dopamine functions at different time courses. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, **30**, 259-288.
- Segev, A., Ramot, A. & Akirav, I. (2012) Stress hormones receptors in the amygdala mediate the effects of stress on the consolidation, but not the retrieval, of a non aversive spatial task. *PLoS One*, **7**, e29988.
- Selye, H. (1950) Stress and the general adaptation syndrome. Br Med J, 1, 1383-1392.
- Sharpe, A.L. & Samson, H.H. (2002) Repeated nicotine injections decrease operant ethanol selfadministration. Alcohol, 28, 1-7.
- Shepard, J.D., Barron, K.W. & Myers, D.A. (2000) Corticosterone delivery to the amygdala increases corticotropin-releasing factor mRNA in the central amygdaloid nucleus and anxiety-like behavior. *Brain Res*, 861, 288-295.

- Sher, K.J., Gotham, H.J., Erickson, D.J. & Wood, P.K. (1996) A prospective, high-risk study of the relationship between tobacco dependence and alcohol use disorders. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 20, 485-492.
- Shoaib, M. & Shippenberg, T.S. (1996) Adrenalectomy attenuates nicotine-induced dopamine release and locomotor activity in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*, **128**, 343-350.
- Simms, J.A., Haass-Koffler, C.L., Bito-Onon, J., Li, R. & Bartlett, S.E. (2012) Mifepristone in the central nucleus of the amygdala reduces yohimbine stress-induced reinstatement of ethanol-seeking. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **37**, 906-918.
- Sinha, R. (2001) How does stress increase risk of drug abuse and relapse? *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*), **158**, 343-359.
- Sinha, R. (2008) Chronic stress, drug use, and vulnerability to addiction. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, **1141**, 105-130.
- Sinha, R., Fox, H.C., Hong, K.A., Bergquist, K., Bhagwagar, Z. & Siedlarz, K.M. (2009) Enhanced negative emotion and alcohol craving, and altered physiological responses following stress and cue exposure in alcohol dependent individuals. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34, 1198-1208.
- Skaff, M.M., Finney, J.W. & Moos, R.H. (1999) Gender differences in problem drinking and depression: different "vulnerabilities?". *Am J Community Psychol*, **27**, 25-54.
- Smith, A.M., Kelly, R.B. & Chen, W.J. (2002) Chronic continuous nicotine exposure during periadolescence does not increase ethanol intake during adulthood in rats. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **26**, 976-979.
- Smith, B.R., Horan, J.T., Gaskin, S. & Amit, Z. (1999) Exposure to nicotine enhances acquisition of ethanol drinking by laboratory rats in a limited access paradigm. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*), **142**, 408-412.
- Smith, M.J., Abbey, A. & Scott, R.O. (1993) Reasons for drinking alcohol: their relationship to psychosocial variables and alcohol consumption. *Int J Addict*, **28**, 881-908.

- Spanagel, R., Noori, H.R. & Heilig, M. (2014) Stress and alcohol interactions: animal studies and clinical significance. *Trends Neurosci*, **37**, 219-227.
- Spear, L.P. (2016) Consequences of adolescent use of alcohol and other drugs: Studies using rodent models. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev*, **70**, 228-243.
- Stahn, C. & Buttgereit, F. (2008) Genomic and nongenomic effects of glucocorticoids. *Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol*, **4**, 525-533.
- Staley, K.J., Soldo, B.L. & Proctor, W.R. (1995) Ionic mechanisms of neuronal excitation by inhibitory GABAA receptors. *Science*, 269, 977-981.
- Steensland, P., Simms, J.A., Holgate, J., Richards, J.K. & Bartlett, S.E. (2007) Varenicline, an alpha4beta2 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, selectively decreases ethanol consumption and seeking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **104**, 12518-12523.
- Steffensen, S.C., Svingos, A.L., Pickel, V.M. & Henriksen, S.J. (1998) Electrophysiological characterization of GABAergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area. *J Neurosci*, **18**, 8003-8015.
- Steffensen, S.C., Walton, C.H., Hansen, D.M., Yorgason, J.T., Gallegos, R.A. & Criado, J.R. (2009) Contingent and non-contingent effects of low-dose ethanol on GABA neuron activity in the ventral tegmental area. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*, **92**, 68-75.
- Steinberg, E.E., Keiflin, R., Boivin, J.R., Witten, I.B., Deisseroth, K. & Janak, P.H. (2013) A causal link between prediction errors, dopamine neurons and learning. *Nat Neurosci*, **16**, 966-973.
- Stuber, G.D., Britt, J.P. & Bonci, A. (2012) Optogenetic modulation of neural circuits that underlie reward seeking. *Biol Psychiatry*, **71**, 1061-1067.
- Stuber, G.D., Hnasko, T.S., Britt, J.P., Edwards, R.H. & Bonci, A. (2010) Dopaminergic terminals in the nucleus accumbens but not the dorsal striatum corelease glutamate. J Neurosci, 30, 8229-8233.
- Swanson, L.W. (1982) The projections of the ventral tegmental area and adjacent regions: a combined fluorescent retrograde tracer and immunofluorescence study in the rat. *Brain Res Bull*, **9**, 321-353.

- Tabakoff, B., Jafee, R.C. & Ritzmann, R.F. (1978) Corticosterone concentrations in mice during ethanol drinking and withdrawal. *J Pharm Pharmacol*, **30**, 371-374.
- Takita, M. & Muramatsu, I. (1995) Alteration of brain nicotinic receptors induced by immobilization stress and nicotine in rats. *Brain Res*, **681**, 190-192.
- Tamers, S.L., Okechukwu, C., Bohl, A.A., Gueguen, A., Goldberg, M. & Zins, M. (2014) The impact of stressful life events on excessive alcohol consumption in the French population: findings from the GAZEL cohort study. *PLoS One*, **9**, e87653.
- Tanchuck, M.A., Cozzoli, D.K., He, I., Kaufman, K.R., Snelling, C., Crabbe, J.C., Mark, G.P. & Finn, D.A. (2013) Local changes in neurosteroid levels in the substantia nigra reticulata and the ventral tegmental area alter chronic ethanol withdrawal severity in male withdrawal seizure-prone mice. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **37**, 784-793.
- Taylor, A.M., Castonguay, A., Ghogha, A., Vayssiere, P., Pradhan, A.A., Xue, L., Mehrabani, S., Wu, J., Levitt, P., Olmstead, M.C., De Koninck, Y., Evans, C.J. & Cahill, C.M. (2015)
 Neuroimmune Regulation of GABAergic Neurons Within the Ventral Tegmental Area During Withdrawal from Chronic Morphine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*.
- Taylor, A.M., Castonguay, A., Ghogha, A., Vayssiere, P., Pradhan, A.A., Xue, L., Mehrabani, S., Wu, J., Levitt, P., Olmstead, M.C., De Koninck, Y., Evans, C.J. & Cahill, C.M. (2016)
 Neuroimmune Regulation of GABAergic Neurons Within the Ventral Tegmental Area During Withdrawal from Chronic Morphine. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, **41**, 949-959.
- Teng, Z., Zhang, M., Zhao, M. & Zhang, W. (2013) Glucocorticoid exerts its non-genomic effect on IPSC by activation of a phospholipase C-dependent pathway in prefrontal cortex of rats. J Physiol, 591, 3341-3353.
- Theile, J.W., Morikawa, H., Gonzales, R.A. & Morrisett, R.A. (2008) Ethanol enhances GABAergic transmission onto dopamine neurons in the ventral tegmental area of the rat. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **32**, 1040-1048.
- Thomas, S.E., Bacon, A.K., Randall, P.K., Brady, K.T. & See, R.E. (2011) An acute psychosocial stressor increases drinking in non-treatment-seeking alcoholics. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*), **218**, 19-28.

- Ting, A.K.R., Vargas-Perez, H., Bufalino, M.R., Bahi, A., Dreyer, J.L., Tyndale, R.F. & van der Kooy,
 D. (2013a) Infusion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor into the ventral tegmental area switches the substrates mediating ethanol motivation. *Eur J Neurosci*, **37**, 996-1003.
- Ting, A.K.R., Vargas-Perez, H., Mabey, J.K., Shin, S.I., Steffensen, S.C. & van der Kooy, D. (2013b) Ventral tegmental area GABA neurons and opiate motivation. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*), **227**, 697-709.
- Torabi, M.R., Bailey, W.J. & Majd-Jabbari, M. (1993) Cigarette smoking as a predictor of alcohol and other drug use by children and adolescents: evidence of the "gateway drug effect". J Sch Health, **63**, 302-306.
- Tsigos, C. & Chrousos, G.P. (2002) Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, neuroendocrine factors and stress. *J Psychosom Res*, **53**, 865-871.
- Turner, D.M. (1975) Influence of route of administration on metabolism of [14C]nicotine in four species. *Xenobiotica*, **5**, 553-561.
- Uhart, M. & Wand, G.S. (2009) Stress, alcohol and drug interaction: an update of human research. *Addict Biol*, **14**, 43-64.
- Ungless, M.A., Singh, V., Crowder, T.L., Yaka, R., Ron, D. & Bonci, A. (2003) Corticotropinreleasing factor requires CRF binding protein to potentiate NMDA receptors via CRF receptor 2 in dopamine neurons. *Neuron*, **39**, 401-407.
- Van Bockstaele, E.J. & Pickel, V.M. (1995) GABA-containing neurons in the ventral tegmental area project to the nucleus accumbens in rat brain. *Brain Res*, **682**, 215-221.
- van Zessen, R., Phillips, J.L., Budygin, E.A. & Stuber, G.D. (2012) Activation of VTA GABA neurons disrupts reward consumption. *Neuron*, **73**, 1184-1194.
- Vendruscolo, L.F., Barbier, E., Schlosburg, J.E., Misra, K.K., Whitfield, T.W., Jr., Logrip, M.L., Rivier, C., Repunte-Canonigo, V., Zorrilla, E.P., Sanna, P.P., Heilig, M. & Koob, G.F. (2012) Corticosteroid-dependent plasticity mediates compulsive alcohol drinking in rats. J Neurosci, 32, 7563-7571.
- Vendruscolo, L.F., Estey, D., Goodell, V., Macshane, L.G., Logrip, M.L., Schlosburg, J.E., McGinn, M.A., Zamora-Martinez, E.R., Belanoff, J.K., Hunt, H.J., Sanna, P.P., George, O., Koob,

G.F., Edwards, S. & Mason, B.J. (2015) Glucocorticoid receptor antagonism decreases alcohol seeking in alcohol-dependent individuals. *J Clin Invest*, **125**, 3193-3197.

- Volkow, N.D., Wang, G.J., Fowler, J.S., Logan, J., Gatley, S.J., Hitzemann, R., Chen, A.D., Dewey, S.L. & Pappas, N. (1997) Decreased striatal dopaminergic responsiveness in detoxified cocaine-dependent subjects. *Nature*, **386**, 830-833.
- Volkow, N.D., Wang, G.J., Fowler, J.S., Logan, J., Hitzemann, R., Ding, Y.S., Pappas, N., Shea, C. & Piscani, K. (1996) Decreases in dopamine receptors but not in dopamine transporters in alcoholics. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **20**, 1594-1598.
- Volkow, N.D., Wang, G.J., Telang, F., Fowler, J.S., Logan, J., Jayne, M., Ma, Y., Pradhan, K. & Wong, C. (2007) Profound decreases in dopamine release in striatum in detoxified alcoholics: possible orbitofrontal involvement. *J Neurosci*, **27**, 12700-12706.
- Wake, H., Watanabe, M., Moorhouse, A.J., Kanematsu, T., Horibe, S., Matsukawa, N., Asai, K., Ojika, K., Hirata, M. & Nabekura, J. (2007) Early changes in KCC2 phosphorylation in response to neuronal stress result in functional downregulation. *J Neurosci*, **27**, 1642-1650.
- Walsh, J.J., Friedman, A.K., Sun, H., Heller, E.A., Ku, S.M., Juarez, B., Burnham, V.L., Mazei-Robison, M.S., Ferguson, D., Golden, S.A., Koo, J.W., Chaudhury, D., Christoffel, D.J., Pomeranz, L., Friedman, J.M., Russo, S.J., Nestler, E.J. & Han, M.H. (2014) Stress and CRF gate neural activation of BDNF in the mesolimbic reward pathway. *Nat Neurosci*, **17**, 27-29.
- Wang, W., Gong, N. & Xu, T.L. (2006) Downregulation of KCC2 following LTP contributes to EPSPspike potentiation in rat hippocampus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **343**, 1209-1215.
- Watabe-Uchida, M., Zhu, L., Ogawa, S.K., Vamanrao, A. & Uchida, N. (2012) Whole-brain mapping of direct inputs to midbrain dopamine neurons. *Neuron*, **74**, 858-873.
- Weiss, F., Lorang, M.T., Bloom, F.E. & Koob, G.F. (1993) Oral alcohol self-administration stimulates dopamine release in the rat nucleus accumbens: genetic and motivational determinants. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 267, 250-258.
- Weiss, F. & Porrino, L.J. (2002) Behavioral neurobiology of alcohol addiction: recent advances and challenges. *J Neurosci*, **22**, 3332-3337.

- Weitzman, E.R. & Chen, Y.Y. (2005) The co-occurrence of smoking and drinking among young adults in college: national survey results from the United States. *Drug Alcohol Depend*, 80, 377-386.
- Weitzman, E.R., Chen, Y.Y. & Subramanian, S.V. (2005) Youth smoking risk and community patterns of alcohol availability and control: a national multilevel study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, **59**, 1065-1071.
- WHO (2014) World Health Organization Global Status Report on Alcohol and Health. p. 2.
- Williams, J.R., Sharp, J.W., Kumari, V.G., Wilson, M. & Payne, J.A. (1999) The neuron-specific K-Cl cotransporter, KCC2. Antibody development and initial characterization of the protein. J Biol Chem, 274, 12656-12664.
- Wirth, M.M. (2011) Beyond the HPA Axis: Progesterone-Derived Neuroactive Steroids in Human Stress and Emotion. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, **2**, 19.
- Woodin, M.A., Ganguly, K. & Poo, M.M. (2003) Coincident pre- and postsynaptic activity modifies GABAergic synapses by postsynaptic changes in Cl- transporter activity. *Neuron*, **39**, 807-820.
- Wooltorton, J.R., Pidoplichko, V.I., Broide, R.S. & Dani, J.A. (2003) Differential desensitization and distribution of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes in midbrain dopamine areas. *J Neurosci*, **23**, 3176-3185.
- Wu, F.S., Gibbs, T.T. & Farb, D.H. (1991) Pregnenolone sulfate: a positive allosteric modulator at the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor. *Mol Pharmacol*, **40**, 333-336.
- Xia, Y., Driscoll, J.R., Wilbrecht, L., Margolis, E.B., Fields, H.L. & Hjelmstad, G.O. (2011) Nucleus accumbens medium spiny neurons target non-dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area. *J Neurosci*, **31**, 7811-7816.
- Yamada, T., Hosokawa, M., Satoh, T., Moroo, I., Takahashi, M., Akatsu, H. & Yamamoto, T. (1994) Immunohistochemistry with an antibody to human liver carboxylesterase in human brain tissues. *Brain Res*, 658, 163-167.

- Yamada, T., Kawaguchi, N., Hosokawa, M. & Satoh, T. (1995) Localization of an isoform of carboxylesterase in rat brain differs from that in human brain. *Brain Res*, 674, 175-179.
- Yamaguchi, T., Wang, H.L., Li, X., Ng, T.H. & Morales, M. (2011) Mesocorticolimbic glutamatergic pathway. *J Neurosci*, **31**, 8476-8490.
- Yim, H.J., Robinson, D.L., White, M.L., Jaworski, J.N., Randall, P.K., Lancaster, F.E. & Gonzales, R.A. (2000) Dissociation between the time course of ethanol and extracellular dopamine concentrations in the nucleus accumbens after a single intraperitoneal injection. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, **24**, 781-788.
- Yoo, H.C., Gee, G.C., Lowthrop, C.K. & Robertson, J. (2010) Self-reported racial discrimination and substance use among Asian Americans in Arizona. *J Immigr Minor Health*, **12**, 683-690.
- Yoshida, K., Engel, J. & Liljequist, S. (1982) The effect of chronic ethanol administration of high affinity 3H-nicotinic binding in rat brain. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*, **321**, 74-76.
- Yoshimoto, K., McBride, W.J., Lumeng, L. & Li, T.K. (1992) Alcohol stimulates the release of dopamine and serotonin in the nucleus accumbens. *Alcohol*, **9**, 17-22.
- Yuan, M., Cross, S.J., Loughlin, S.E. & Leslie, F.M. (2015) Nicotine and the adolescent brain. J Physiol, **593**, 3397-3412.
- Yuen, E.Y., Liu, W., Karatsoreos, I.N., Feng, J., McEwen, B.S. & Yan, Z. (2009) Acute stress enhances glutamatergic transmission in prefrontal cortex and facilitates working memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **106**, 14075-14079.
- Zhang, L., Doyon, W.M., Clark, J.J., Phillips, P.E. & Dani, J.A. (2009) Controls of tonic and phasic dopamine transmission in the dorsal and ventral striatum. *Mol Pharmacol*, **76**, 396-404.
- Zuo, Y., Nagata, K., Yeh, J.Z. & Narahashi, T. (2004) Single-channel analyses of ethanol modulation of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res*, 28, 688-696.